PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy

Mental Health Is a Global Public Health Issue

About the Cover: The green ribbon represents the commitment to raising mental health awareness and ending stigma and discrimination.



U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Introduction

Mental, emotional, and psychological health have garnered increased attention as a major public health issue. Mental health includes not only the traditional focus on individual therapy interactions but also emerging frameworks designed to address mental health at the population health level. Health is shaped by a plethora of determinants (eg, genetics, gender, socioeconomic status, education, physical environment, social support networks, access to health services) that operate at the individual, family, community, health systems, and societal levels. Because these determinants of health affect not only physical health but also psychological health, it's imperative in public health to gain a better understanding of the many pathways through which determinants of health impact the psychological well-being of large groups of individuals.

Over the past 5 years, Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) has received an increase in submissions addressing aspects of mental health and chronic disease. PCD is pleased to release this collection, Mental Health Is a Global Public Health Issue, which consists of 10 articles that examine relationships between family history, self-care practices, sleep, obesity, educational attainment, and depression. This collection also includes 2 articles from our previously published **COVID-19 special supplement:** one that addresses the critical need for a population approach to improve the nation's behavioral health during the COVID-19 pandemic, and one that offers recommendations on keeping parks and green spaces accessible to promote mental and physical health. We hope this collection contributes to ongoing efforts to provide reliable, peer-reviewed research and proven practices to improve health outcomes worldwide in mental health and chronic disease. The topics featured below represent areas in which future submissions would be of great interest to the journal, and PCD will continue to release timely peer-reviewed articles on mental health issues in chronic disease as new information comes available.

Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc

Editor in Chief, Preventing Chronic Disease

About the Journal

Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) is a peer-reviewed public health journal sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and authored by experts worldwide. PCD was established in 2004 by the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion with a mission to promote dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and policy makers worldwide on the integration and application of research findings and practical experience to improve population health.

PCD's vision is to serve as an influential journal in the dissemination of proven and promising public health findings, innovations, and practices with editorial content respected for its integrity and relevance to chronic disease prevention.

PCD Staff

Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc Editor in Chief

Lesli Mitchell, MA Managing Editor

Brandi Baker, MBA Production Coordinator Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Kim Bright, PMP Information Technology Project Manager Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Kate Harris, BA Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Ivory Jones Editorial Assistant Contractor, Idoneous Consulting **Shawn Jones** Software Engineer Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Camille Martin, RD, LD Senior Technical Editor

Susan McKeen, BA Senior Software Engineer Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Melissa Newton, BS, CCPH Marketing/Communications Specialist Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Rosemarie Perrin Technical Writer-Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting Sasha Ruiz, BBA Health Communications Specialist

Robin Sloan Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Martin Steib Multimedia Specialist Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Ellen Taratus, MS Senior Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Caran Wilbanks, BA Lead Technical Writer-Editor

Associate Editors

Arsham Alamian, PhD, MSc, FACE	Bian Liu , PhD, MS
Ronny A. Bell, PhD, MS	Kevin Matthews, PhD, MS
Erin Bouldin, PhD, MPH	Katerina Maximova, PhD
Tammy Calise, DrPH	Jane A. McElroy, PhD
Vinay Cheruvu, PhD	Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS
Pyone Cho, MD, MPH	Sarah Patrick, PhD, MPH
Patricia Da Rosa, DDS, MPH, MSc	James M. Peacock, PhD, MPH
Julia Dilley, PhD, MES	Austin Porter III, DrPH, MPH
Paul Estabrooks, PhD	Terrinieka Williams Powell, PhD
Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH	Daniel Sarpong, PhD
Linda D. Highfield, PhD, MS	Deborah Salvo, PhD
Elizabeth Winter Holt, PhD, MPH	Charlotte D. Smith, PhD
Brittney Keller-Hamilton, MPH	Mark A. Strand, PhD, MS

Mikiko Terashima, PhD, MSc Tung-Sung Tseng, PhD, MPH Camille Vaughan, MD, MS Trang VoPham, PhD, MS, MPH Korede Yusuf, MBBS, MPH, PhD Janice C. Zgibor, RPh, PhD, CPH, FACE

Table of Contents

- 01. The Critical Need for a Population Health Approach: Addressing the Nation's Behavioral Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond Arthur C. Evans, PhD¹; Lynn F. Bufka, PhD¹.
- 02. The joint effect of physical and mental multimorbidity among adult population Marie Ishida, MPH¹; Emily SG Hulse, MPH²; Robert K Mahar, PhD², ³, ⁴; Jane Gunn, PhD⁵; Rifat Atun, MBBS, MBA⁶,⁷; Barbara McPake, PhD¹; Naveen Tenneti, MPH¹; Kanya Anindya, MPH¹; Gregory Armstrong, PhD¹; Patrick Mulcahy, MPH¹; Will Carman, MPH¹; John Tayu Lee, PhD^{1,8}
- 03. Recommendations for keeping parks and green space accessible for mental and physical health during COVID-19 and other pandemics

Sandy J. Slater, PhD, MS^{1,2}; Richard W. Christiana, PhD^{2,3}; Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH^{2,4}

- 04. Association of Adult Depression With Educational Attainment, Aspirations, and Expectations Alison K. Cohen, PhD, MPH¹; Juliet Nussbaum, MPH²; Miranda L. Ritterman Weintraub, PhD, MPH³; Chloe R. Nichols, MPA¹; Irene H. Yen, PhD, MPH⁴
- 05. Comorbid depression and obesity: Correlates and synergistic association with noncommunicable diseases among Australian men Tilahun Nigatu Haregu, PhD¹; John Tayu Lee, PhD¹; Brian Oldenburg, PhD¹; Gregory Armstrong, PhD¹
- 06. Trouble Sleeping and Depression Among US Women Aged 20 to 30 Years Rifath Ara Alam Barsha, MBBS, MPH¹; Mian B. Hossain, PhD, MHS, MS¹
- 07. Time-Varying Effects of Parental Alcoholism on Depression Sunita Thapa, MPH¹; Arielle S. Selya, PhD²; Yvonne Jonk, PhD²
- 08. Differences by Sex in Association of Mental Health With Video Gaming or Other Nonacademic **Computer Use Amona US Adolescents** Hogan H. Lee¹; Jung Hye Sung, Sc.D.²; Ji-Young Lee, MSPH³; Jae Eun Lee, DPH²
- 09. Correlation Between Personal Health History and Depression Self-Care Practices and Depression Screening Among African Americans With Chronic Conditions Priscilla A. Barnes, MPH, PhD¹; Tilicia L. Mayo-Gamble, PhD, MA, MPH²; Doshia Harris, MBA³; David Townsend, MSW³
- 10. Using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System to Assess Mental Health, Travis County, Texas. 2011–2016 Haruna Miyakado-Steger, MS¹; Sarah Seidel, DrPH¹

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY PUBLIC AUGUST 2020

Volume 17. E79

COMMENTARY

The Critical Need for a Population Health Approach: Addressing the Nation's Behavioral Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond

Arthur C. Evans, PhD¹; Lynn F. Bufka, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20 0261.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Evans AC, Bufka LF. The Critical Need for a Population Health Approach: Addressing the Nation's Behavioral Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200261. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.5888/pcd17.200261.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is known about this topic?

Behavioral health needs in the United States are not being met by the current health care system, and the COVID-19 pandemic will likely dramatically increase the need for psychological services.

What is added by this report?

Adopting a population health approach provides opportunities to target interventions to those populations and communities most in need of psychological health care services, with the potential of preventing development of disorders.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Implementing and evaluating population health strategies to promote overall well-being requires system change that translates to policy decisions and programs to meet the needs of local communities.

Abstract

The COVID-19 global pandemic highlights the necessity for a population health approach to identify and implement strategies across systems to improve behavioral health. Adopting a population health approach helps to address the needs of the total population, including at-risk subgroups, through multiple levels of intervention and to promote the public's behavioral health and psychological well-being.

Introduction

Calls to bring a population health framework to the nation's health care system have been increasing. Although this approach had been steadily gaining traction for physical health (1), using this approach with respect to behavioral health (ie, mental health and substance use conditions) has only recently been considered (2,3). However, the need for this approach has never been so apparent as it is during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Individuals and communities are grappling with the spread of the virus, the struggle to effectively treat all infected individuals, and the challenges of physical distancing and quarantine, all while attempting to reopen the economy. These challenges, along with the economic impact of prolonged school and business closures and high levels of stress and uncertainty, exact a tremendous psychological toll on many people in the United States (4). The existing capacity of the US health care system to address the resulting behavioral health needs is severely limited (5). A population health approach is needed to address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the inadequacies of the nation's current approach to behavioral health needs, which have been magnified during the pandemic (6).

The current approach to behavioral health care in the United States is primarily a one-on-one approach that focuses on individuals who have a clinical diagnosis (7). This approach drastically limits the number of people for whom the appropriate level of care is available, let alone addressing the needs of those whose level of psychological distress does not reach the diagnostic threshold. As a result, many people with high levels of stress and uncertainty are left without appropriate psychological support and miss the opportunity for prevention and early intervention.

The Definition and Application of **Behavioral Health**

Behavioral health encompasses traditional mental health and substance use disorders, as well as overall psychological well-being



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

> 1 www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0261.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

(8). Behavioral health can be understood as the behaviors that affect physical and mental health, and good behavioral health results in a "state of mind characterized by emotional well-being, good behavioral adjustment, relative freedom from anxiety and disabling symptoms, and a capacity to establish constructive relationships and cope with the ordinary demands and stresses of life" (9). Obtaining and maintaining behavioral health requires flexibility, the ability to understand and manage emotions, engaging in behaviors that are healthy for the body and the mind, awareness of one's relationship to others and recognition of one's responses, and effectively employing strategies to deal with the demands of living.

The manifestation of behavioral health varies over the lifespan and across cultures. Similarly, the large number of factors that influence behavioral health must also be acknowledged: genetics, family environment, discrimination, socioeconomic status, traumatic experiences, physical health, loneliness, culture, and a host of others (10). Supporting behavioral health often means addressing social determinants of health through an array of social and community factors (11). For instance, when individuals and communities lack economic stability, physical survival alone can be a challenge. The focus is on getting what is needed to live, which will not necessarily include what is needed to thrive. Integrating behavioral health with community access to job training programs is one example of increasing access to behavioral health services and to psychological skill development to help individuals navigate the challenges of seeking employment.

We need to be as concerned about a population's psychological well-being as we are about its physical well-being. Psychological well-being is neither a categorical nor a permanent state. That is, people are not either mentally healthy or unhealthy (eg, meeting diagnostic criteria for a psychological disorder, such as depression or schizophrenia; developing a substance use problem). A person's or population's overall psychological well-being falls on a continuum and changes over time. To truly recognize and support degrees of mental wellness on that continuum requires changing how we identify and meet the behavioral health needs of the population.

Specialist Health Care Framework Is Insufficient

How behavioral health is addressed within our health care system must change. Currently, one must typically have a diagnosis to have care covered by insurance; therefore, early intervention and prevention is difficult, and in many places in the United States, access to services is limited (12). Furthermore, specialist behavioral health care professionals, such as psychologists and psychiatrists, work in settings distinct from where most of individuals live, work, play, and worship, creating both physical and psychological barriers to access.

Although more integration of professionals who specialize in behavioral health care into primary care and other settings has occurred, the trend is not universal and it does not go far enough in reaching people in other settings. In instances in which this integration has occurred, the behavioral health expert has the capacity to immediately meet with individuals who have identified behavioral health needs, triage the concerns, and determine appropriate next steps, thereby reducing the number of individuals who are "lost" in the transition to specialty care. Also, the psychologist or other behavioral health care professional frequently provides consultation and support to nonbehavioral health care professionals, helping to educate them as well as reduce the stigma often associated with patients who have behavioral health care needs (13). Integrated care improves on our current approach by providing a range of interventions and reaching people "where they are" (13). This approach, similar to a population health approach, emphasizes addressing behavioral health needs - regardless of whether the person has a diagnosis - and building the capacity of the setting to address behavioral health needs along a continuum.

Addressing behavioral health within the health care system alone is not sufficient. Many individuals do not have a regular primary care provider. Of those who do, the behavioral health needs being addressed are those further along the continuum toward distress, impairment, and disorder. Because only 50% of individuals with behavioral health concerns actually enter any form of treatment (14), we must develop new strategies to reach people wherever they are — at work, in school, and in the community. Furthermore, we must engage the communities themselves, which have the wisdom to address many of these problems but may need the resources and expertise of mental health professionals to do so.

Scope of Needs During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Behavioral health needs have long been insufficiently met in the United States, and the population is now facing increasing psychological stress and significant growing needs as the pandemic unfolds (15). According to a survey conducted by the American Psychological Association (APA), the average stress level reported by US adults in May 2020 was significantly higher than that reported in the 2019 survey (data collected in August), and it is the first significant increase in average reported stress since APA first started surveying American households about stress more than a decade ago (16). Furthermore, some groups in the APA survey, such as

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

parents with children younger than 18 and Hispanic adults, reported even higher levels of stress. Stress that is not addressed can become chronic and result in physical and behavioral health problems such as cardiovascular disease, obesity, inflammation, and depression (17).

Analyses from previous pandemics (18,19), as well as studies about COVID-19 coming from China (20) and Italy (21), indicate that we should expect an increase in a variety of behavioral health symptoms, especially among front-line health care workers. Emerging data suggest that health care workers treating individuals with COVID-19 are reporting significant distress and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and insomnia (22). At a minimum, those on the front lines of addressing COVID-19 need onsite emotional support and the capacity to meet their own basic needs such as obtaining food, transportation, and personal protective equipment. Some of those on the front lines experiencing distress will want and benefit from more focused, brief psychological interventions intended to provide them with skills that enable them to cope with highly stressful work situations (eg, Psychological First Aid, Skills for Psychological Recovery) (23). Unfortunately, many hospitals are not set up to provide this kind of psychological support (24, 25).

Furthermore, a 2020 systematic review of the psychological impact of quarantine indicated that individuals experience an array of negative effects, including anger, confusion, and posttraumatic stress symptoms (26). These effects are heightened when quarantine is of a longer duration, people have fears of infection, receive inadequate or unclear information, and face financial loss. If the pandemic is similar to other community traumas (27), most individuals will adapt and demonstrate resilience, but a minority will develop a behavioral health condition that requires intervention.

The long-term population health needs resulting from the pandemic could be substantial. Although humans are remarkably resilient, some individuals benefit from psychological intervention. In addition to workers on the front lines (eg, health care professionals, essential workers) who may develop disorders such as depression or posttraumatic stress disorder as a result of their experiences treating individuals with COVID-19, many other segments of the US population (and worldwide) are also likely to need interventions in some form. In the current environment of quarantine and physical distancing, patients with COVID-19 are typically separated from their families and do not have the benefit of the close emotional support and physical help of their loved ones.

The families and friends of patients with COVID-19 experience high levels of stress, which is magnified in cases in which they are unable to be present when their loved ones die. Furthermore, because traditional funerals and other rituals are not possible in the current environment, survivors must create new ways to mourn. Individuals who survive COVID-19 may have major behavioral health needs that we are only beginning to understand. For instance, research makes clear that the experience of being on a ventilator and staying in an intensive care unit for an extended period of time can be traumatic (28,29). Some individuals may face cognitive challenges as they recover from the infection, which necessitates specialized behavioral health care (30).

In addition to the large numbers of individuals who have had direct experience with COVID-19, the US population has also experienced some degree of stress as a result of the nation's sweeping efforts to reduce transmission of the virus. Many individuals have struggled to cope with the uncertainty of stay-at-home orders, changes in work and financial status, facilitating their children's online schooling, virus-related discrimination, and major disruptions in routines and plans. Each of these factors poses the potential for the development of ongoing stress and its fallout. Of particular concern are people facing both significant financial distress and experiencing discrimination, as both of these stressors are linked to the development of future behavioral health problems (31,32).

Adopting a Population Health Framework

In the face of this kind of population distress, the importance of using public health strategies, rather than relegating behavioral health to treatment by specialist providers only, cannot be overstated. Promoting population behavioral health has the potential to increase overall resiliency and reduce the number of individuals who ultimately develop behavioral health problems, and improvements in behavioral health can also lead to improvements in physical health (33). This crisis, although difficult, can provide an opportunity to make this shift. Philadelphia (34) and New York City (35) have adopted a population health approach to behavioral health and provide models for how to begin. Key aspects of this work include the necessity of reimagining what a behavioral health system is and how one operates and to establish a broad, evidence-based vision of what that entails.

This change needs to happen both at the national and the local level. National leadership can highlight issues, advocate for resources, and encourage solutions, but implementation must take place at the local level to best meet community needs. Unfortunately, many local health governments are not actively engaged in systematic activities to promote behavioral health. Although local leaders often recognize the priority of doing so, they often do not control the behavioral health resources in their communities, which are often administered at the state or county level. Con-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

sequently, local leaders cite as barriers limited resources, knowledge, and data along with the challenges of communicating and collaborating with local behavioral health agencies (36). Increasing partnerships between these local governments and behavioral health funding agencies is essential for success.

The American Psychological Association (APA) is using a population health framework to tackle the emerging behavioral health issues associated with this pandemic. APA has identified several principles to guide this work (Box), conceptualized as taking place across 3 broad levels of the population: 1) those with behavioral health conditions requiring clinical intervention, 2) those who are experiencing subclinical psychological distress or who are at great risk for experiencing clinically significant behavioral health problems, and 3) those who are relatively healthy.

Box. Principles Guiding Population Health Framework for Behavioral Health at the American Psychological Association

- Use data and the best available science to inform policies, programs, and resources.
- Prevent when possible and otherwise intervene at the earliest moment.
- Strategize, analyze, and intervene at the community/population level (in addition to the individual).
- Reach broad and diverse audiences through partnerships and alliances.
- $\bullet\,$ Utilize a developmental approach (eg, change over time, age-appropriate interventions).
- $\bullet\,$ Consider the "whole person" and the structural/systemic factors impacting individual behavior.
- Be culturally sensitive while also thinking transculturally.
- Recognize that inherent in every community is the wisdom to solve its own problems.
- Champion equity by addressing systemic issues (eg, social determinants of health, access to treatment).

Strategies and interventions must be tailored to achieve the health goals at each of these levels. *Indicated* approaches to behavioral health target the first level. These approaches are often provided by specialists, such as psychologists, to individuals with clear problems or disorders and use evidence-based strategies to reduce symptoms and improve functioning. *Selective* approaches to behavioral health are designed to reduce risk or mitigate the impact of risk factors that lead to psychological distress, for example using targeted, scalable interventions designed to build people's ability to adapt and cope. *Universal* approaches are intended to promote general behavioral wellness, with a focus on messages to the public to destigmatize mental illness, promote psychoeducation about responses to stress, and focus attention on the foundation necessary to support and maintain psychological well-being.

A population health approach has, as its goal, optimal behavioral health and wellness across the continuum of need. This approach addresses the need to "get upstream" as it promotes intervention before individuals need clinical services. It also shifts the goal of practitioners to behavioral wellness and not just the absence of psychopathology. Because this is a significant paradigmatic shift for most behavioral health professionals and the systems in which they work, we will need to develop leaders and professionals who can work from this public health perspective. From a systems perspective, individual localities should determine their own needs and collaboratively work with local experts — members of the public, scientists, providers, policy makers, and others — to design and implement the programs that each community needs.

Implications for Public Health

The pandemic has elevated stress levels nationwide, with serious implications. Chronic stress is linked to greater risk for a range of adverse health outcomes, so adopting a rigorous, evidence-based approach to identifying needs and designing interventions is critical. In the United States, there have been some effective public education campaigns to encourage handwashing, physical distancing, and mask wearing to slow the spread of the coronavirus. Similarly, key messages can be developed and used to increase the public's capacity to handle stress, cope with the current uncertainty, and manage distress to slow the development of behavioral health problems. The opportunity to act is now, before a behavioral health pandemic develops and accelerates and too many lives are disrupted or lost.

Using a population approach to behavioral health holds much promise. It will allow us to address many long-standing issues that affect our current behavioral health system by placing a greater emphasis on prevention and early intervention and by reaching underserved subgroups. It will also enable us to simultaneously and effectively address the potential surge in need caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The challenge will be reorienting and training the workforce to adopt this perspective, develop new interventions, and build the service infrastructure to meet a broader range of behavioral health needs. Furthermore, we need to develop a fiscal and regulatory policy framework to support this work. Finally, evaluation of these changes can be essential to determine how future population health approaches can be effective at improving not only the psychological well-being of those impacted by COVID-19 but also the overall behavioral health of the US population. Although there are important examples of the successful implementation of a population mental health approach, these are rare exceptions. The behavioral health pandemic that is likely to emerge as a result of COVID-19 creates urgency and should spur immediate action. We have a window of opportunity where

the public and policy makers can see firsthand that behavioral health concerns are affecting a large proportion of the population and that we need an approach and the resources to address the full range of these concerns. Action must be taken for the health and well-being of our nation.

Acknowledgments

The authors wrote this commentary as part of their work at the American Psychological Association with no external financial support. No copyrighted materials, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Lynn F. Bufka, PhD, American Psychological Association, 750 First St, NE, Washington, DC 20002. Telephone: 202-336-5869. Email: lbufka@apa.org.

Author Affiliations: ¹American Psychological Association, Washington, District of Columbia.

References

- 1. Ohrnberger J, Fichera E, Sutton M. The relationship between physical and mental health: A mediation analysis. Soc Sci Med 2017;195:42–9.
- 2. Patel V. Global mental health: from science to action. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2012;20(1):6–12.
- 3. Fuhrer R, Keyes KM. Population mental health today: confronting the challenge. Am J Public Health 2019; 109(S3):S149.
- 4. American Psychological Association. Stress in America 2020. Stress in the time of COVID-19: volume two; 2020. https:// www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2020/stress-inamerica-covid-june.pdf. Accessed July 2, 2020.
- 5. Levine D. What's the answer to the shortage of mental health care providers? US News World Rep 2018;25(May). https:// health.usnews.com/health-care/patient-advice/articles/2018-05-25/whats-the-answer-to-the-shortage-of-mental-health-care-providers Accessed July 2, 2020
- 6. Torjesen I. Covid-19: Mental health services must be boosted to deal with "tsunami" of cases after lockdown. BMJ 2020; 369:m1994.
- 7. Lake J, Turner MS. Urgent need for improved mental health care and a more collaborative model of care. Perm J 2017; 21:17–024.
- 8. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Behavioral health; 2020. https://www.cms.gov/behavioral-health. Accessed July 2, 2020.

- 9. American Psychological Association. APA dictionary of psychology. https://dictionary.apa.org/mental-health. Accessed May 29, 2020.
- Einstein EH, Klepacz L. What influences mental illness? Discrepancies between medical education and conception. J Med Educ Curric Dev 2017;4:2382120517705123.
- 11. Alegría M, NeMoyer A, Falgàs Bagué I, Wang Y, Alvarez K. Social determinants of mental health: where we are and where we need to go. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2018;20(11):95.
- 12. Reardon T, Harvey K, Baranowska M, O'Brien D, Smith L, Creswell C. What do parents perceive are the barriers and facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2017;26(6):623–47.
- 13. Levey SM, Miller BF, Degruy FV 3d. Behavioral health integration: an essential element of population-based healthcare redesign. Transl Behav Med 2012;2(3):364–71.
- 14. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: results from the 2018National Survey on Drug Use and Health. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/cbhsq. Accessed May 29, 2020.
- 15. Hamel L, Kearney A, Kirzinger A, Lopes L, Muñana C, Brodie M. Health tracking poll – May 2020 - health and economic impacts. Henry Kaiser Family Foundation; 2020. https:// www.kff.org/report-section/kff-health-tracking-poll-may-2020-health-and-economic-impacts/. Accessed July 2, 2020.
- 16. American Psychological Association. Stress in America 2020. Stress in the time of COVID-19: volume one. https:// www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2020/report. Accessed May 29, 2020.
- 17. American Psychological Association. Stress effects on the body. https://www.apa.org/helpcenter/stress/index. Accessed May 29, 2020.
- 18. Douglas PK, Douglas DB, Harrigan DC, Douglas KM. Preparing for pandemic influenza and its aftermath: mental health issues considered. Int J Emerg Ment Health 2009; 11(3):137–44.
- 19. Greenberg N, Wessely S, Wykes T. Potential mental health consequences for workers in the Ebola regions of West Africa—a lesson for all challenging environments. J Ment Health 2015;24(1):1–3.
- 20. Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3(3):e203976.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

- 21. Rossi R, Socci V, Pacitti F, Di Lorenzo G, Di Marco A, Siracusano A, et al. Mental health outcomes among frontline and second-line health care workers during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in Italy. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3(5):e2010185.
- 22. Jun J, Tucker S, Melnyk BM. Clinician mental health and wellbeing during global healthcare crises: evidence learned from prior epidemics for COVID-19 pandemic. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2020;17(3):182–4.
- 23. The National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Psychological First Aid (PFA) and Skills for Psychological Recovery (SPR). https://learn.nctsn.org/course/index.php?categoryid=11. Accessed May 29, 2020.
- 24. Gispen F, Wu AW. Psychological first aid: CPR for mental health crises in healthcare. J Patient Safety Risk Manag 2018; 23(2):51–3.
- 25. Lissoni B, Del Negro S, Brioschi P, Casella G, Fontana I, Bruni C, et al. Promoting resilience in the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic: Psychological interventions for intensive care unit (ICU) clinicians and family members. Psychol Trauma 2020;12(S1):S105–S107.
- 26. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020;395(10227):912–20.
- 27. Lee JY, Kim SW, Kim JM. The impact of community disaster trauma: a focus on emerging research of PTSD and other mental health outcomes. Chonnam Med J 2020;56(2):99–107.
- 28. Choi J, Tate JA, Rogers MA, Donahoe MP, Hoffman LA. Depressive symptoms and anxiety in intensive care unit (ICU) survivors after ICU discharge. Heart Lung 2016;45(2):140–6.
- 29. Jubran A, Lawm G, Duffner LA, Collins EG, Lanuza DM, Hoffman LA, et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder after weaning from prolonged mechanical ventilation. Intensive Care Med 2010;36(12):2030–7.
- 30. Merbitz NH, Westie K, Dammeyer JA, Butt L, Schneider J. After critical care: Challenges in the transition to inpatient rehabilitation. Rehabil Psychol 2016;61(2):186–200.
- 31. Fitch C, Hamilton S, Bassett P, Davey R. The relationship between personal debt and mental health: a systematic review. Ment Health Rev (Brighton) 2011;16(4):153–66.
- 32. Vargas SM, Huey SJ Jr, Miranda J. A critical review of current evidence on multiple types of discrimination and mental health. Am J Orthopsychiatry 2020;90(3):374–90.
- 33. Johnson SR, Meyer H. Behavioral health: fixing a system in crisis. Modern Healthcare. https:// www.modernhealthcare.com/reports/behavioral-health/. Accessed July 2, 2020.

- 34. Powell BJ, Beidas RS, Rubin RM, Stewart RE, Wolk CB, Matlin SL, et al. Applying the policy ecology framework to Philadelphia's behavioral health transformation efforts. Adm Policy Ment Health 2016;43(6):909–26.
- 35. Belkin G, McCray C. ThriveNYC: Delivering on mental health. Am J Public Health 2019;109(S3):S156–63.
- 36. Purtle J, Peters R, Kolker J, Klassen AC. Factors perceived as influencing local health department involvement in mental health. Am J Prev Med 2017;52(1):64–73.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 17, E157

DECEMBER 2020

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

The Joint Effect of Physical Multimorbidity and Mental Health Conditions Among Adults in Australia

Marie Ishida, MPH¹; Emily SG Hulse, MPH²; Robert K Mahar, PhD^{2,3,4}; Jane Gunn, PhD⁵; Rifat Atun, MBBS, MBA^{6,7}; Barbara McPake, PhD¹; Naveen Tenneti, MPH¹; Kanya Anindya, MPH¹; Gregory Armstrong, PhD¹; Patrick Mulcahy, MPH¹; Will Carman, MPH¹; John Tayu Lee, PhD^{1,8}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0155.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Ishida M, Hulse ESG, Mahar RK, Gunn J, Atun R, McPake B, et al. The Joint Effect of Physical Multimorbidity and Mental Health Conditions Among Adults in Australia. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200155. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200155.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Empirical studies suggest that multiple physical health conditions (physical multimorbidity) coupled with a mental health condition are associated with a wide range of adverse health, economic, and social outcomes.

What is added by this report?

After adjusting for confounding factors, our study showed that physical multimorbidity accompanied by mental health conditions and low socioeconomic status increased the use of health care services while reducing work productivity and health-related quality of life.

What are the implications for public health practice?

The Australian health system should prioritize improving the management of people with multimorbidity by using a more patient-centered approach that fosters integration of treatments for physical and mental health conditions.

Abstract

Introduction

The prevalence of chronic physical and mental health conditions is rising globally. Little evidence exists on the joint effect of physical and mental health conditions on health care use, work productivity, and health-related quality of life in Australia.

Methods

We analyzed data from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey, waves 9 (2009), 13 (2013), and 17 (2017). Economic effects associated with multimorbidity were measured through health service use, work productivity loss, and health-related quality of life. We used generalized estimating equations to assess the effect of the association between physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions and economic outcomes.

Results

From 2009 through 2017 the prevalence of physical multimorbidity increased from 15.1% to 16.2%, and the prevalence of mental health conditions increased from 11.2% to 17.3%. The number of physical health conditions was associated with the number of health services used (general practitioner visits, incidence rate ratio = 1.41), work productivity loss (labor force participation, adjusted odds ratio = 0.71), and reduced health-related quality of life (SF-6D score: Coefficient = -0.03). These effects were exacerbated by the presence of mental health conditions and low socioeconomic status.

Conclusion

Having multiple physical health conditions (physical multimorbidity) creates substantial health and financial burdens on individuals, the health system, and society, including increased use of health services, loss of work productivity, and decreased health-related quality of life. The adverse effects of multimorbidity on health, quality of life, and economic well-being are exacerbated by the cooccurrence of mental health conditions and low socioeconomic status.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0155.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Introduction

Chronic health conditions account for most of the world's premature deaths and through their combined social, cultural, and economic effects are also major contributors to socioeconomic inequalities. The rise in morbidity and mortality associated with these conditions is influenced by population ageing and by socioeconomic, societal, and lifestyle changes (1), factors that also contribute to the increase in the prevalence of multimorbidity (defined as the presence of 2 or more health conditions) (2). In Australia, approximately half the population has at least 1 health condition, and 90% of deaths are due to them (3).

Multimorbidity is associated with a wide range of adverse health, economic, and social outcomes; people with multimorbidity have more complex health care needs (use multiple health services and treatments), poorer physical functioning, and increased disability and mortality (4,5). Multimorbidity is also associated with increased economic costs (both medical and nonmedical) and out-of-pocket spending for medical care (6–9). The effect of multimorbidity on financial status as a result of treatment costs has been well documented (10,11). Less is known about other social effects of multimorbidity, such as its effect on loss of work productivity.

Multimorbidity can involve combinations of both physical and mental health conditions, which often have complex and bidirectional interrelations (12). These combinations can exacerbate disease burdens and socioeconomic outcomes (13–15).

In our study, we used nationally representative survey data from Australia 1) to examine the distribution of physical multimorbidity in relation to the presence of mental health conditions by socioeconomic status and 2) to measure the economic burden of combined physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions on health-related quality of life (HRQoL), health service use, and loss of work productivity.

Methods

Sample and data

We used panel data from 3 waves of the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey conducted in 2009, 2013, and 2017 (16). Briefly, the HILDA Survey is a nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over. Commenced in 2001, the HILDA Survey collects data from the same households and individuals for each year of the survey. A detailed description of survey objectives and methods are provided elsewhere (16). Waves 9, 13, and 17 of the HILDA Survey comprised 13,301, 17,501, and 17,571 respondents, respectively. In our analysis, we included respondents aged 15 or older and excluded those who had missing values on independent variables and health conditions. This left a study sample of 13,284 respondents for wave 9, 17,459 for wave 13, and 17,527 for wave 17 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flowchart showing selection of respondents from HILDA Survey and measures used to evaluate health service use, loss of work productivity, and reduced health-related quality of life (HRQoL). To assess HRQoL we used the SF-6D, which consists of 11 questions in 6 domains (physical functioning, role limitation, social functioning, pain, mental health, and vitality) from the SF-36, the 36-item short form questionnaire for evaluating HRQoL (17).

Variables

Multimorbidity. We assessed whether respondents had both physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions. The list of physical health conditions included in the HILDA Survey were arthritis/osteoporosis, asthma, cancer, chronic bronchitis/emphysema, type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes, heart disease, high blood pressure/ hypertension, and any other serious circulatory condition. Mental health conditions included in the HILDA Survey were depression/ anxiety and "other mental illnesses." Respondents who answered affirmatively to the question "Have you been told by a doctor or nurse that you have any of these conditions?" were defined as reporting a health condition. We counted the number of selfreported physical health conditions, excluding mental health conditions, to quantify the number of physical health conditions and categorized people with more than 1 physical health condition as having physical multimorbidity (0 = no physical multimorbidity, 1 = physical multimorbidity). Because the HILDA Survey did not ask about type of mental health condition apart from depression and anxiety, we were not able to create a count variable for men-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

tal health conditions. Instead, we included the presence of any mental health condition as a separate binary variable (0 = no mental health condition1 = mental health condition).

Outcomes. We examined 3 types of costs associated with physical and mental multimorbidity, including 1) direct costs measured by health service use, 2) indirect costs measured by work productivity loss, and 3) intangible costs measured by health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Use of health services was measured by the number of visits to a general practice (GP) physician in the past 12 months, the number of overnight stays in a hospital in the past 12 months, and the number of reported prescription medications taken on a regular basis in the past 12 months (16). Respondents who reported 5 or more prescription medications were assigned polypharmacy status, and those who reported 10 or more prescription medications were assigned excessive polypharmacy status. Second, work productivity was measured by labor force participation status, retirement age, and mean number of days of sick leave taken per year. Labor force participation status was defined as the respondent's employment status (in labor force, not in labor force) at the time of the survey. Respondents were categorized in "labor force participation" if they were either currently working or were unemployed but actively looking for a job. Retirement age was defined as the age when the respondent retired. This question was asked only of respondents who were retired at the time of the survey. Absence from work was assessed on the basis of the number of paid sick leave days taken by respondents who were employed at the time of the survey. Finally, to assess HRQoL we used the SF-6D, which consists of 11 questions in 6 domains (physical functioning, role limitation, social functioning, pain, mental health, and vitality) from the SF-36, the 36-item short form questionnaire for evaluating HRQoL (17). The SF-6D provided a nondisease-specific measure of respondents' health status and experience and assigned a continuous value between 0 (worst health state) and 1 (best health state).

Covariates. Control variables included for the analysis were sex, age (age in years at wave 9), education level (low level, year 11 and below; middle level, year 12, certificate iii or iv, diploma, advanced diploma; high level, bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate); Indigenous status (non-Aboriginal, Aboriginal, and Torres Strait Islander); country of birth (Australia, other English-speaking countries [United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, United States, Ireland, or South Africa]; all others); marital status (married/cohabiting, other [single, separated, divorced, widowed]); Australian state (New South Wales, Victoria, Queensland, South Australia, Western Australia, Tasmania, Northern Territory, Australian Capital Territory); residential area (rural, urban); and wave number (coded as 0 in wave 9, 1 in wave 13, and 2 in wave 17). To create the so-

cioeconomic status (SES) quintile, we used Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA), a scale of 1 to 5 in which 1 is the lowest SES group and 5 is the highest. SEIFA is an index based on social and economic census data from 2011 that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage (18).

Statistical analysis

Because HILDA data included repeated measurements of individuals over time, we used generalized estimating equations (GEE) with an unstructured covariance matrix and robust standard errors to estimate the outcome-exposure relationship while accounting for within-person correlation. Different families of GEE were used depending on the outcome of interest. The negative binomial family with a logit link function was used for count-based outcomes (number of GP visits, number of nights in hospital, number of prescription medications, number of days of sick leave), and coefficients were interpreted as the increase in number for each unit increase of the associated variable. The binomial family with a logit link function was used to calculate binary outcomes (polypharmacy, excessive polypharmacy, labor force participation) and odd ratios. We used the Gaussian family with an identity link function for continuous outcomes (retirement age, SF-6D score of HRQoL) with coefficients interpreted as linear changes in the outcome. Each model included all covariates. We also examined the longitudinal association between the presence of a mental health condition (at baseline) and physical multimorbidity (over time), and also the association between physical multimorbidity (at baseline) and a mental health condition (over time). For the longitudinal analysis, we used binomial GEEs with a logit link and included time (measured in years from baseline) and the time-exposure interaction in the model.

Additionally, we conducted 2 sets of sensitivity analyses to test the robustness of our models. First, we re-analyzed each association by using balanced samples to compare the results analyzed by using unbalanced samples. Second, we compared the differential effect of mental health conditions by replacing the model's exposure variable "mental health condition," which encompassed all mental health conditions, with either 1) depression/anxiety or 2) other mental illnesses. All analyses were performed using Stata 15 (Stata Corp).

Results

Sample characteristics

Women accounted for approximately half of the samples. In all 3 waves, most respondents were aged younger than 50, had a middle education level, and were married/cohabiting. Respondents report-

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

ing mental health conditions represented 11.2% of the sample in 2009 and 17.3% in 2017. The proportion of respondents with physical multimorbidity was 13.3% in 2009 and 14.5% in 2017 amongst respondents who did not report mental health conditions and 29.5% in 2009 and 24.2% in 2017 amongst those reporting mental health conditions.

Physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions by SES. For both men and women, the prevalence of physical multimorbidity was higher among the lowest SES group than among the highest SES group in all waves (Figure 2). For example, 19.1% of male respondents with the lowest SES had physical multimorbidity in 2013 compared with 10.8% among those with the highest SES. We also observed this trend for the prevalence of mental health conditions. The prevalence of mental health conditions among women with the lowest SES (21.5%) was almost double that of respondents with the highest SES (11.5%) in 2013. It is worth noting that the increase in the prevalence of these conditions as well as the number of physical health conditions by waves reflects the ageing effect of the sample.



Figure 2. Prevalence of physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions and the mean number of physical health conditions across 3 waves of the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey, 2009, 2013, and 2017, by sex and socioeconomic status. Socioeconomic status is measured on the SEIFA (Socio Economic Indexes for Areas) scale and ranges from 1 to 5, with 5 being the highest status (18).

Longitudinal association between physical multimorbidity and mental health condition. We saw a clear association between physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions (Table 1). The presence of a mental health condition was associated with an increased risk of physical multimorbidity (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 3.44; 95% CI, 3.00–3.95). Physical multimorbidity was associated with an increased risk of a mental health condition (AOR = 3.10; 95% CI, 2.73-3.53). Adjusting for baseline age, with each year the risk of physical multimorbidity increased with time where there was no mental health condition at baseline (AOR = 1.08; 95% CI, 1.07–1.09). Where there was a mental health condition at baseline, the increased risk over time was negligible (AOR = 1.02; 95% CI, 1.00–1.04). Likewise, the risk of a mental health condition increased with time where there was no physical multimorbidity (AOR = 1.08; 95% CI, 1.07-1.09), and where the risk of physical multimorbidity was smaller (AOR = 1.02; 95% CI, 1.01-1.04).

Association between physical multimorbidity, mental health, and low socioeconomic status

Health service use. An increase in the number of physical health conditions was associated with a greater number of GP visits (incidence rate ratio [IRR] = 1.41; 95% CI, 1.39-1.43) and the number of nights in hospital (IRR = 1.77; 95% CI, 1.68-1.87) (Table 2). The presence of a mental health condition was also associated with an increasing number of GP visits (IRR = 2.11; 95% CI, 2.03-2.20) and the number of nights in hospital (IRR = 3.59; 95% CI, 2.93-4.41). Low SES was also associated with the number of GP visits (ie, respondents with the lowest SES had an increased number of GP visits [SEIFA1: IRR = 1.23; 95% CI, 1.19-1.29] compared with those with higher SES.

An increased number of physical health conditions was associated with an increase in the mean number of prescription medications used (IRR = 1.75; 95% CI, 1.72–1.78), the odds of polypharmacy (AOR = 2.77; 95% CI, 2.63–2.93), and excessive polypharmacy (AOR = 2.48; 95% CI, 2.25–2.73). The presence of mental health conditions was independently associated with the number of prescription medications (IRR = 3.08; 95% CI, 2.92–3.25) and the odds of polypharmacy (AOR = 4.61; 95% CI, 3.84–5.53). Low SES showed an inverse relationship with the number of prescription medications (SEIFA1: IRR = 1.33; 95% CI, 1.11–1.59). We observed significant interactions between physical and mental health conditions, but the absolute difference was small.

Work productivity. An increased number of physical health conditions coupled with the presence of mental health conditions and low SES were associated with decreased work productivity (Table 3). For example, the AOR of labor force participation decreased as the number of physical health conditions increased (AOR = 0.71; 95% CI, 0.69-0.74). An increasing number of physical conditions was associated with retirement at a younger age (Coeff = -0.16; 95% CI, -0.25 to -0.07). The mean number of sick leave days taken increased with an increase in the number of physical health conditions (IRR = 1.24; 95% CI, 0.18–1.30). Low SES was also associated with loss of work productivity according to the lower probability of labor force participation and the increasing number of sick leave days taken observed in the lowest SES group. Reporting a mental health condition had no significant association with retirement age but was associated with a low participation in the labor force (AOR = 0.62; 95% CI, 0.57-0.68) and an increasing number of sick leave days taken (IRR = 1.45; 95% CI, 1.27-1.64).

Health-related quality of life. For each increase in the number of physical health conditions, a substantial reduction in SF-6D scores (Coeff = -0.03; 95% CI, -0.03 to -0.03 of the total scale of 1) occurred (Table 4). Regardless of the number of physical health con-

ditions, reporting a mental health condition decreased HRQoL (Coeff = -0.1; 95% CI, -0.1 to -0.09). The association between SES and SF-6D score showed that the low SES group had low HRQoL (SEIFA1: Coeff = -0.02; 95% CI, -0.03 to -0.02).

Sensitivity analyses. Changing mental health condition to "depression/anxiety" did not substantially change the results; however, when the same exposure was changed to "other mental illnesses," the estimated coefficient was slightly larger in the models for the number of nights in hospital (IRR = 10.7; 95% CI, 7.27-15.7), polypharmacy (AOR = 6.95; 95% CI, 4.89-9.86), and labor force participation (AOR = 0.34; 95% CI, 0.28-0.41). In general, the results did not substantially change when we used balanced samples instead of unbalanced samples.

Discussion

Ours was the first study to use nationally representative data from Australia to examine how physical multimorbidity coupled with a mental health condition is associated with use of health services, work productivity, and HRQoL in relation to low socioeconomic status. Physical multimorbidity and mental health condition were shown to be positively associated at baseline, and also over time (adjusting for age). The reasons why the risk of developing physical multimorbidity is higher over time in the absence of a mental health condition at baseline (and vice versa) may be because people with either physical multimorbidity or a mental health condition are more engaged with health services than those without these conditions. However, we could not confirm this by the modelling approach we used.

We found that physical multimorbidity was associated with increased use of health services and prescription medications, reduced work productivity, and reduced HRQoL. Our study showed that the presence of mental health conditions and low socioeconomic status exacerbated these effects after adjusting for covariates. Collectively, our results suggest that people with the most physical health conditions and mental health conditions in the lowest SES group used the most health services, had the lowest work productivity, and had the lowest HRQoL.

Our study had limitations. The data we collected on physical and mental health conditions were based on self-reported medical history, which may not accurately reflect health status and was likely under-reported, particularly by people from low socioeconomic backgrounds (19,20). Self-reporting of health service use and sick leave days taken in the past 12 months was prone to recall error. The GP visits, overnight stays in hospital, and work productivity loss resulting from sickness that we assessed in our study were not specific to chronic physical health conditions or mental health conditions alone and could have included acute conditions. Pa-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

tients with severe illness may have been less likely to participate in the survey; therefore, the prevalence and outcomes reported in our study might be underestimated. We used a simple count of physical health conditions to determine multimorbidity and a dichotomous variable for the presence of a mental health condition; therefore, we were not able to account for disease severity. In addition, respondents were asked if they had "depression or anxiety" or "other mental illness" in the HILDA Survey; therefore, we were not able to analyze specific mental health conditions. Furthermore, we used SEIFA as an indicator of SES, which is an index for geographic areas, and might not be a true estimation of individual SES. Finally, we assessed the trajectory of a combined physical multimorbidity and a mental health condition over time, which accounted for a relevant health condition from baseline data (wave 9) but did not account for time-varying exposure after that. Also, our analysis excluded observations with missing data and only accounted for those with complete data.

Our study provides the first comprehensive analysis to consider all types of costs (ie, direct, indirect, and intangible costs) associated with physical and mental multimorbidity by using a large sample nationally representative of Australia. To our knowledge, only 3 studies — from Canada (21), Scotland (22), and France (23) — assessed the joint effect of physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions. Despite differences in the methodologies, our findings were consistent with those results in previous studies indicating that the presence of a mental health condition increased the association between physical multimorbidity and health service use and HRQoL.

Our study contributes to the growing evidence base that multimorbidity is associated with a greater social and financial burden on individuals, especially when they also have a mental health condition. Our findings are consistent with those of previous local studies in Australia and Europe that concluded that multimorbidity places a substantial burden on health service use (24-26). Current health care is based on single-disease-specific care rather than patient-centered care, which takes into account multimorbidity. As a result, clinical care becomes more complex for patients with multiple diseases, as our finding of greater use of health services and polypharmacy for people with multimorbidity illustrates. Therefore, updating clinical guidelines to reflect patient-centered care and multimorbidity, rather than the current single-disease focus, is warranted (27). Very little evidence exists in the literature on the impact of multimorbidity on loss of work productivity. Consistent with our findings, a US study based on a sample from employed nonelderly adults found that multimorbidity was associated with loss of work productivity (28). Our findings on work productivity indicate employees presenting with multimorbidity may have reduced employment prospects, because they are likely

to experience difficulties in staying at work or returning to work while using health services and maintaining their health conditions. The cumulative effect of multimorbidity poses further financial burdens on patients with multimorbidity, particularly for those with low SES, who are more likely to have both physical and mental multimorbidity. Furthermore, our study on HRQoL is consistent with a Southern Australian study that found multimorbidity was associated with a lower HRQoL (29).

Our study provides further evidence that suggests targeted policies and interventions should be considered to tackle the growing burden of physical and mental multimorbidity. Despite the growing prevalence of physical and mental multimorbidity, most clinical practice and preventive strategies throughout the world to date emphasize improving identification and management of a single chronic condition (30). Our findings suggest more focus should be placed on treating patients with multimorbidity with a more patient-centered approach that fosters integrated treatment of physical and mental health conditions. It is worth noting that in Australia, patients living in low SES areas tend to receive poorer quality of care than those living in more affluent areas (31). Decisive action is needed to improve the management of chronic conditions for people in low SES areas in order to mitigate socioeconomic inequalities in health and health care.

Our findings support the earlier finding of a negative association between work productivity and multimorbidity (28). Work management plans for employees with multimorbidity that allow flexible work time and workplace adaptation should be considered. Such plans will ensure that patients can get treatment while working and can return to work after long-term leave. Our findings of increased health service costs and lowered work productivity raise the need for health financing policies to alleviate financial burdens amongst people with multimorbidity. Initiatives such as reduced cost-sharing could also be considered. In Australia, this could be achieved by extending the criteria for receiving Australia's Health Care Card that provides access to reduced costs on medicines, or by considering increasing rebates via the personal income tax. Future research is needed to examine in more detail the impoverishing effect of physical and mental multimorbidity in order to develop suitable policies that protect the health and socioeconomic well-being of people with multimorbidity.

Acknowledgments

We thank Professor Stewart Mercer for comments that greatly improved the article. The development of research methodology and analysis were conducted by M.I., R.K.M., and J.L. E.H., R.K.M., N.T., K.A., P.M., and W.C. assisted in drafting the introduction, method, and discussion sections. E.H. and R.K.M. proofread all

sections. R.K.M., J.G., R.A., B.M., G.A., and J.L. provided critical input in revising the manuscript. All authors reviewed, edited, and commented on the manuscript. The authors have declared no competing interests. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Marie Ishida, MPH, Nossal Institute for Global Health, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, 333 Exhibition St, Melbourne VIC 3004, Australia. Telephone: (+61) 411323652. Email: marie.ishida@unimelb.edu.au.

Author Affiliations: ¹Nossal Institute for Global Health, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ²Centre for Health Policy, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ³Centre for Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ⁴Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ⁵Department of General Practice, Melbourne Medical School, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ⁶Department of Global Health and Social Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts. ⁷Department of Global Health and Population, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts. ⁸Department of Primary Care and Public Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, United Kingdom.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases. 2018. https://www.who.int/about/governance/world-health-assembly. Accessed August 10, 2020.
- 2. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. Lancet 2012;380(9836):37–43.
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Key indicators of progress for chronic disease and associated determinants: data report. Canberra (Au): Australian Institute for Health and Welfare; 2011.
- 4. Koné Pefoyo AJ, Bronskill SE, Gruneir A, Calzavara A, Thavorn K, Petrosyan Y, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multimorbidity. BMC Public Health 2015; 15(1):415.

- 5. Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of complex multimorbidity in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health 2016;40(3):239–44.
- 6. McRae I, Yen L, Jeon YH, Herath PM, Essue B. Multimorbidity is associated with higher out-of-pocket spending: a study of older Australians with multiple chronic conditions. Aust J Prim Health 2013;19(2):144–9.
- 7. Wang L, Si L, Cocker F, Palmer AJ, Sanderson K. A systematic review of cost-of-illness studies of multimorbidity. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2018;16(1):15–29.
- 8. Palladino R, Tayu Lee J, Ashworth M, Triassi M, Millett C. Associations between multimorbidity, healthcare utilisation and health status: evidence from 16 European countries. Age Ageing 2016;45(3):431–5.
- 9. Sum G, Hone T, Atun R, Millett C, Suhrcke M, Mahal A, et al. Multimorbidity and out-of-pocket expenditure on medicines: a systematic review. BMJ Glob Health 2018;3(1):e000505.
- 10. Temple JB, Williams R. Financial well-being of older Australians with multiple health conditions. Australas J Ageing 2018;37(2):127–34.
- 11. Zhao Y, Zhang L, Zhao S, Zhang L. Impact of multimorbidity on health service use and catastrophic health expenditure in China: an analysis of data from a nationwide longitudinal survey. Lancet 2019;394:S69.
- 12. Gunn JM, Ayton DR, Densley K, Pallant JF, Chondros P, Herrman HE, et al. The association between chronic illness, multimorbidity and depressive symptoms in an Australian primary care cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2012; 47(2):175–84.
- 13. Reilly S, Olier I, Planner C, Doran T, Reeves D, Ashcroft DM, et al. Inequalities in physical comorbidity: a longitudinal comparative cohort study of people with severe mental illness in the UK. BMJ Open 2015;5(12):e009010.
- 14. McLean G, Gunn J, Wyke S, Guthrie B, Watt GC, Blane DN, et al. The influence of socioeconomic deprivation on multimorbidity at different ages: a cross-sectional study. Br J Gen Pract 2014;64(624):e440–7.
- 15. Lawson KD, Mercer SW, Wyke S, Grieve E, Guthrie B, Watt GC, et al. Double trouble: the impact of multimorbidity and deprivation on preference-weighted health related quality of life a cross sectional analysis of the Scottish Health Survey. Int J Equity Health 2013;12(1):67.
- HILDA survey Melbourne. Melbourne Institute; 2019. https:// melbourneinstitute.unimelb.edu.au/hilda. Accessed August 10, 2020.
- 17. Brazier J, Roberts J, Deverill M. The estimation of a preference-based measure of health from the SF-36. J Health Econ 2002;21(2):271–92.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 18. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Socio-Economic indexes for areas. 2018. https://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/ censushome.nsf/home/seifa. Accessed August 10, 2020.
- 19. Raina P, Torrance-Rynard V, Wong M, Woodward C. Agreement between self-reported and routinely collected health-care utilization data among seniors. Health Serv Res 2002;37(3):751–74.
- 20. Fortin M, Stewart M, Poitras ME, Almirall J, Maddocks H. A systematic review of prevalence studies on multimorbidity: toward a more uniform methodology. Ann Fam Med 2012; 10(2):142–51.
- 21. Gaulin M, Simard M, Candas B, Lesage A, Sirois C. Combined impacts of multimorbidity and mental disorders on frequent emergency department visits: a retrospective cohort study in Quebec, Canada. CMAJ 2019;191(26):E724–32.
- 22. Payne RA, Abel GA, Guthrie B, Mercer SW. The effect of physical multimorbidity, mental health conditions and socioeconomic deprivation on unplanned admissions to hospital: a retrospective cohort study. CMAJ 2013; 185(5):E221-8.
- 23. Walker V, Perret-Guillaume C, Kesse-Guyot E, Agrinier N, Hercberg S, Galan P, et al. Effect of multimorbidity on healthrelated quality of life in adults aged 55 years or older: results from the SU.VI.MAX 2 cohort. PLoS One 2016; 11(12):e0169282.
- 24. Wang L, Palmer AJ, Otahal P, Cocker F, Sanderson K. Multimorbidity and health care service utilization in the Australian workforce: findings from the National Health Survey. J Occup Environ Med 2017;59(8):795–802.
- 25. Wiley JF, Chan Y-K, Ahamed Y, Ball J, Carrington MJ, Riegel B, et al. Multimorbidity and the risk of all-cause 30-day readmission in the setting of multidisciplinary management of chronic heart failure: a retrospective analysis of 830 hospitalized patients in Australia. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2018; 33(5):437–45.
- 26. Palladino R, Tayu Lee J, Ashworth M, Triassi M, Millett C. Associations between multimorbidity, healthcare utilisation and health status: evidence from 16 European countries. Age Ageing 2016;45(3):431–5.
- Molokhia M, Majeed A. Current and future perspectives on the management of polypharmacy. BMC Fam Pract 2017; 18(1):70.
- 28. Meraya AM, Sambamoorthi U. Chronic condition combinations and productivity loss among employed nonelderly adults (18 to 64 Years). J Occup Environ Med 2016;58(10):974-8.

- 29. González-Chica DA, Hill CL, Gill TK, Hay P, Haag D, Stocks N. Individual diseases or clustering of health conditions? Association between multiple chronic diseases and healthrelated quality of life in adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2017;15(1):244.
- 30. Sheikh A, Donaldson L, Dhingra-Kumar N, et al.Multimorbidity: technical series on safer primary care. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2016. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO2016.
- 31. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2018. Cat. no. AUS 221. Canberra (AU): Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2018.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Longitudinal Association Between Physical Multimorbidity and Mental Health Condition, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

	Physical Multimorbidity	Mental Health Condition
Characteristic	AOR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Mental health condition (at baseline)	3.44 (3.00-3.95)	NA
Physical multimorbidity (at baseline)	NA	3.10 (2.73-3.53)
Time (years from baseline)		
No mental health condition	1.08 (1.07-1.09)	NA
Mental health condition	1.02 (1.00-1.04)	NA
No physical multimorbidity	NA	1.08 (1.07-1.09)
Physical multimorbidity	NA	1.02 (1.01-1.04)
Socioeconomic indexes for areas ^b		
5		Reference
4	1.04 (0.93-1.17)	1.1 (0.99-1.21)
3	1.3 (1.16-1.47)	1.25 (1.13-1.38)
2	1.36 (1.21-1.53)	1.34 (1.22-1.48)
1	1.66 (1.47-1.86)	1.54 (1.39-1.69)
Sex		
Male		Reference
Female	1.11 (1.02-1.19)	1.7 (1.59-1.82)
Baseline age (in years)	1.09 (1.08-1.09)	0.99 (0.99-0.99)
Education level ^c		
Low		Reference
Middle	0.84 (0.77-0.92)	1.03 (0.96-1.10)
High	0.64 (0.58-0.72)	0.8 (0.73-0.88)
Indigenous status		
Non-Indigenous Australian		Reference
Indigenous Australian	1.73 (1.40-2.14)	1.38 (1.18-1.62)
Country of birth		
Australia		Reference
Other English-speaking country (United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, United States, Ireland, or South Africa)	0.93 (0.83-1.05)	1.0 (0.89-1.14)
Other	0.89 (0.80-1.00)	0.68 (0.61-0.77)
Marital status		

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA was created on the basis of 2011 social and economic census information (18).

^c Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Longitudinal Association Between Physical Multimorbidity and Mental Health Condition, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

	Physical Multimorbidity	Mental Health Condition
Characteristic	AOR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Married/de facto		Reference
Single, separated, divorced, widowed	0.99 (0.92-1.07)	1.28 (1.21-1.37)
State		
New South Wales		Reference
Victoria	0.88 (0.80-0.98)	1.13 (1.04-1.24)
Queensland	0.94 (0.85-1.05)	1.02 (0.93-1.11)
South Australia	1.09 (0.95-1.25)	1.14 (1.01-1.29)
Western Australia	0.91 (0.79-1.05)	1.14 (1.01-1.29)
Tasmania	1.16 (0.95-1.42)	1.2 (1.01-1.42)
Northern Territory	0.72 (0.43-1.20)	0.79 (0.55-1.13)
Australian Capital Territory	1.08 (0.80-1.46)	1.17 (0.93-1.47)
Area		
Urban		Reference
Rural	1.01 (0.92-1.11)	0.94 (0.86-1.02)

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA was created on the basis of 2011 social and economic census information (18).

^c Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

Table 2. Effect of the Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Health Service Use, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

Characteristic	Number of GP Visits, IRR (95% CI) ^b	Number of Nights at Hospital, IRR (95% Cl) ^b	Number of Prescription Medications, IRR (95% CI) ^b	Polypharmacy, AOR (95% Cl) ^c	Excessive Polypharmacy, AOR (95% CI) ^d
Physical multimorbidity	1.41 (1.39-1.43)	1.77 (1.68-1.87)	1.75 (1.72-1.78)	2.77 (2.63-2.93)	2.48 (2.25-2.73)
Mental health condition	2.11 (2.03-2.20)	3.59 (2.93-4.41)	3.08 (2.92-3.25)	4.61 (3.84-5.53)	3.69 (2.46-5.53)
Physical health conditions × mental health conditions ^e	0.86 (0.84-0.88)	0.71 (0.65-0.78)	0.73 (0.71-0.75)	0.8 (0.73-0.87)	0.86 (0.76-0.98)
Survey wave					
9, 2009, n = 13,284					Reference
13, 2013, n = 17 459	0.99 (0.97-1.02)	1.05 (0.92-1.19)			Reference
17, 2017, n = 17,527	0.99 (0.96-1.01)	1.08 (0.95-1.23)	1.06 (1.04-1.09)	1.14 (1.05-1.23)	1.06 (0.89, 1.26)
Socioeconomic indexes for areas ^f					
5					Reference
4	1.05 (1.01-1.09)	0.96 (0.81-1.14)	1 (0.94-1.05)	0.99 (0.82-1.19)	0.89 (0.58-1.37)
3	1.08 (1.04-1.13)	1.27 (1.06-1.52)	1.02 (0.97-1.08)	1.11 (0.92-1.33)	0.9 (0.60, 1.36)
2	1.18 (1.13-1.22)	1.14 (0.96-1.36)	1.11 (1.05-1.17)	1.32 (1.11-1.58)	1.3 (0.88-1.93)
1	1.23 (1.19-1.29)	1.37 (1.13-1.67)	1.12 (1.05-1.18)	1.33 (1.11-1.59)	1.37 (0.93-2.01)
Sex					
Male					Reference
Female	1.41 (1.38-1.45)	1.22 (1.08-1.37)	1.2 (1.16-1.24)	0.83 (0.74-0.92)	0.78 (0.62-0.97)
Age	1 (1.00-1.00)	1.02 (1.01-1.02)	1.03 (1.03-1.03)	1.06 (1.05-1.06)	1.04 (1.04-1.05)
Education ^g					
Low					Reference
Middle	1 (0.97-1.03)	0.95 (0.83-1.09)	0.98 (0.94-1.02)	0.84 (0.75-0.95)	0.87 (0.68-1.10)
High	0.88 (0.85-0.91)	0.91 (0.77-1.06)	0.95 (0.90-1.00)	0.66 (0.56-0.78)	0.68 (0.47-1.00)
Indigenous status					
Non-Indigenous Australian					Reference
Indigenous Australian	1.11 (1.02-1.20)	1.67 (1.19-2.34)	1.01 (0.91-1.11)	1.32 (0.97-1.79)	1.03 (0.56-1.90)
Country of birth	-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Australia					Reference

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; GP, general practitioner; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey; IRR, incidence rate ratio; NA, not applicable.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Number of GP visits, nights at hospital, and prescription medications calculated by using generalized estimating equations with negative binomial family.

^c Taking 5 or more prescription medications, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^d Taking 10 or more prescription medications, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^e Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical conditions and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^f Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative so-

cioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA was created on the basis of 2011 social and economic census information.

^g Low level (year11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 2. Effect of the Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Health Service Use, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

Characteristic	Number of GP Visits, IRR (95% CI) ^b	Number of Nights at Hospital, IRR (95% Cl) ^b	Number of Prescription Medications, IRR (95% CI) ^b	Polypharmacy, AOR (95% Cl) ^c	Excessive Polypharmacy, AOR (95% CI) ^d
Other English-speaking country (United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, United States, Ireland, or South Africa)	0.96 (0.91-1.00)	0.82 (0.68-0.98)	0.94 (0.89-0.99)	0.99 (0.84-1.16)	0.99 (0.72-1.36)
All others	1.06 (1.02-1.11)	0.82 (0.65-1.04)	0.82 (0.78-0.86)	0.83 (0.71-0.98)	0.7 (0.50-0.99)
Marital status					
Married/cohabiting					Reference
Single, separated, divorced, or widowed	1.0 (0.97-1.02)	1.24 (1.10-1.39)	1.03 (1.00-1.07)	1.07 (0.96-1.20)	1.34 (1.08-1.66)
State					
New South Wales					Reference
Victoria	1.03 (0.99-1.06)	0.97 (0.82-1.14)	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	1.07 (0.93-1.24)	1.2 (0.89-1.62)
Queensland	1.02 (0.98-1.05)	1.03 (0.88-1.20)	1.03 (0.98-1.08)	1.13 (0.97-1.31)	1.36 (1.01-1.83)
South Australia	1.0 (0.95-1.05)	0.95 (0.78-1.16)	1.08 (1.02-1.15)	1.24 (1.02-1.50)	1.47 (1.02-2.11)
Western Australia	0.95 (0.91-1.00)	0.99 (0.81-1.21)	1.06 (0.99-1.13)	1.18 (0.96-1.44)	1.27 (0.86-1.89)
Tasmania	0.96 (0.89-1.04)	0.77 (0.60-0.99)	1.05 (0.96-1.16)	0.92 (0.67-1.26)	0.85 (0.47-1.53)
Northern Territory	0.88 (0.76-1.01)	1.14 (0.74-1.76)	0.95 (0.73-1.23)	0.71 (0.27-1.90)	NA
Australian Capital Territory	0.96 (0.88-1.05)	1.03 (0.68-1.55)	0.96 (0.84-1.09)	0.97 (0.62-1.51)	1.67 (0.67-4.18)
Area					
Urban					Reference
Rural	0.95 (0.91-0.99)	1.01 (0.86-1.18)	0.97 (0.93-1.02)	0.97 (0.84-1.13)	0.88 (0.64-1.22)

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; GP, general practitioner; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey; IRR, incidence rate ratio; NA, not applicable.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Number of GP visits, nights at hospital, and prescription medications calculated by using generalized estimating equations with negative binomial family.

^c Taking 5 or more prescription medications, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^d Taking 10 or more prescription medications, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^e Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical conditions and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^f Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative so-

cioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA was created on the basis of 2011 social and economic census information.

^g Low level (year11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

Table 3. Effect of the Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Work Productivity, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

Characteristic	Labor Force Participation, AOR (95% CI) ⁶	Retirement Age, Coeff (95% Cl) [°]	Number of Sick Leave Days Taken, IRR (95%CI) ^d
Physical multimorbidity	0.71 (0.69 to 0.74)	-0.16 (-0.25 to 0.07)	1.24 (1.18 to 1.30)
Mental health condition	0.62 (0.57 to 0.68)	-0.35 (-0.85 to 0.14)	1.45 (1.27 to 1.64)
Physical health conditions × mental health conditions ^e	0.93 (0.87 to 0.99)	0.05 (-0.20 to 0.30)	0.86 (0.75 to 0.98)
Survey wave no.			
9, 2009, n = 13, 284			Reference
13, 2013, n = 17, 459	0.85 (0.80 to 0.89)	0.87 (0.55 to 1.20)	0.96 (0.90 to 1.02)
17, 2017, n = 17,527	0.88 (0.83 to 0.93)	1.2 (0.86 to 1.54)	1 (0.94 to 1.07)
Socioeconomic indexes for areas ^f			
5			Reference
4	1.22 (1.11 to 1.34)	-0.03 (-0.55 to 0.49)	1.05 (0.96 to 1.14)
3	1.07 (0.98 to 1.18)	0.02 (-0.49 to 0.53)	1.07 (0.98 to 1.16)
2	0.94 (0.86 to 1.03)	-0.33 (-0.84 to 0.17)	1.13 (1.04 to 1.23)
1	0.76 (0.69 to 0.83)	-0.1 (-0.61 to 0.41)	1.17 (1.07 to 1.28)
Sex			
Male			Reference
Female	0.53 (0.49 to 0.56)	-4.77 (-5.43 to -4.12)	1.17 (1.11 to 1.23)
Age	0.99 (0.98 to 0.99)	0.1 (0.07 to 0.14)	1.01 (1.00 to 1.01)
Education ^g			
Low education			Reference
Middle education	2.65 (2.48 to 2.84)	2.83 (2.09 to 3.57)	1.42 (1.31 to 1.53)
High education	4.23 (3.85 to 4.65)	5.72 (4.85 to 6.59)	1.61 (1.47 to 1.77)
Indigenous status			
Non-Indigenous Australian			Reference
Indigenous Australian	0.57 (0.49 to 0.66)	-1.28 (-4.85 to 2.29)	1.24 (1.07 to 1.44)
Country of birth			
Australia			Reference
Other English-speaking country (United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, United States, Ireland, or South Africa)	0.97 (0.86 to 1.09)	1.07 (0.23 to 1.90)	0.94 (0.83 to 1.07)
All others	0.59 (0.53 to 0.65)	-0.36 (-1.24 to 0.51)	0.83 (0.76 to 0.91)

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey; IRR, incidence rate ratio; NA, not applicable.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Respondents aged \leq 65 who participated in the labor force, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^c Respondents aged ≥65 who were retired from the labor force, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family.

^d Calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family.

^e Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical conditions and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^f Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA)is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA is based on 2011 social and economic census information (18).

^g Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Effect of the Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Work Productivity, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

Characteristic	Labor Force Participation, AOR (95% Cl) ⁵	Retirement Age, Coeff (95% Cl) [°]	Number of Sick Leave Days Taken, IRR (95%CI) ^d
Marital status			
Married/living together			Reference
Single, separated, divorced, or widowed	0.71 (0.67 to 0.75)	-0.33 (-0.71 to 0.05)	0.8 (0.76 to 0.86)
State			
New South Wales			Reference
Victoria	1.08 (1.00 to 1.17)	0.27 (-0.50 to 1.03)	1.04 (0.97 to 1.13)
Queensland	1.13 (1.04 to 1.23)	-0.08 (-0.81 to 0.66)	0.98 (0.91 to 1.06)
South Australia	1.07 (0.95 to 1.19)	-0.17 (-1.21 to 0.87)	1.03 (0.91 to 1.17)
Western Australia	1.12 (0.99 to 1.26)	0.93 (-0.13 to 1.99)	0.99 (0.89 to 1.11)
Tasmania	1.28 (1.07 to 1.52)	-0.03 (-1.47 to 1.41)	1.03 (0.88 to 1.21)
Northern Territory	2.74 (1.67 to 4.47)	-4.2 (-13.99 to 5.58)	1.44 (1.13 to 1.84)
Australian Capital Territory	1.23 (0.96 to 1.57)	NA	1.51 (1.30 to 1.76)
Area			
Urban			Reference
Rural	0.87 (0.80 to 0.95)	0.54 (0.03 to 1.06)	0.8 (0.71 to 0.90)

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey; IRR, incidence rate ratio; NA, not applicable.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b Respondents aged <65 who participated in the labor force, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with binomial family.

^c Respondents aged ≥65 who were retired from the labor force, calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family.

^d Calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family.

^e Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical conditions and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^f Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA)is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA is based on 2011 social and economic census information (18).

^g Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certi-

ficate, post graduate).

Table 4. Effects of Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Health-Related Quality of Life, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

	SF-6D ^b
Characteristic	Coefficient (95% CI) ^c
Physical multimorbidity	-0.03 (-0.03 to -0.03)
Mental health condition	-0.1 (-0.10 to-0.09)
Physical health conditions × mental health conditions ^d	0 (0.00 to 0.01)
Survey wave no.	
9, 2009, N = 13,284	Reference
13, 2013, N = 17,459	-0.01 (-0.01 to -0.00)
17, 2017, N = 17,527	-0.01 (-0.01 to -0.01)
Socioeconomic indexes for areas ^e	·
5	Reference
4	-0.01 (-0.01 to -0.00)
3	-0.01 (-0.01 to -0.01)
2	-0.02 (-0.02 to -0.01)
1	-0.02 (-0.03 to -0.02)
Sex	
Male	Reference
Female	-0.01 (-0.02 to -0.01)
Age	0 (-0.00 to -0.00)
Education ^f	
Low education	Reference
Middle education	0.01 ((0.00 to 0.01)
High education	0.02 ((0.01 to 0.02)
Indigenous status	
Non-Indigenous Australian	Reference
Indigenous Australian	-0.02 (-0.03 to -0.01)
Country of birth	
Australia	Reference
Other English-speaking countries (United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, United States, Ireland, or South Africa)	0 (-0.00 to 0.01)

Abbreviation: HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b SF-6D is 11 questions from the SF-36 (the short form of the Health Status Questionnaire) used to define the 6 domains of health-related quality of life (physical functioning, role limitation, social functioning, pain, mental health, and vitality) (17). Calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family. ^c Coefficient was calculated from multivariable linear regression model.

^d Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical condition and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^e Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA is based on 2011 social and economic census information (18).

[†] Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 4. Effects of Association Between Physical Multimorbidity, Mental Health Conditions, and Socioeconomic Status on Health-Related Quality of Life, HILDA Survey^a, Australia, 2009, 2013, 2017

	SF-6D ^b
Characteristic	Coefficient (95% CI) ^c
All others	-0.02 (-0.02 to -0.01)
Marital status	
Married/cohabiting	Reference
Single, separated, divorced, or widowed	-0.01 (-0.02 to -0.01)
State	
New South Wales	Reference
Victoria	0 (-0.00 to 0.00)
Queensland	0 (-0.01 to -0.00)
South Australia	-0.01 (-0.01 to -0.00)
Western Australia	0 (-0.01 to 0.00)
Tasmania	0.01 (-0.00 to 0.01)
Northern Territory	0 (-0.02 to 0.01)
Australian Capital Territory	-0.01 (-0.01 to 0.00)
Area	
Urban	Reference
Rural	0 (-0.00 to 0.00)

Abbreviation: HILDA, Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey.

^a A nationally representative longitudinal survey that collects key information on economic and personal well-being, labor market dynamics, and family life in Australian households among individuals aged 15 years or over (16).

^b SF-6D is 11 questions from the SF-36 (the short form of the Health Status Questionnaire) used to define the 6 domains of health-related quality of life (physical functioning, role limitation, social functioning, pain, mental health, and vitality) (17). Calculated by using generalized estimating equations with Gaussian family.

^c Coefficient was calculated from multivariable linear regression model.

^d Physical and mental condition interaction: number of physical condition and the presence of mental health conditions (binary).

^e Scale of 1 to 5 with 5 the highest. Socio Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an index that ranks geographic areas across Australia according to relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage. SEIFA is based on 2011 social and economic census information (18).

^f Low level (year 11 and below), middle level (year 12, certificate or , diploma, advanced diploma), high level (bachelor or honors, graduate diploma, graduate certificate, post graduate).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 17, E59

JULY 2020

COMMENTARY

Recommendations for Keeping Parks and Green Space Accessible for Mental and Physical Health During COVID-19 and Other Pandemics

Sandy J. Slater, PhD, MS^{1,2}; Richard W. Christiana, PhD^{2,3}; Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH^{2,4}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0204.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Slater SJ, Christiana RW, Gustat J. Recommendations for Keeping Parks and Green Space Accessible for Mental and Physical Health During COVID-19 and Other Pandemics. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200204. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200204.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Engaging in regular physical activity and having access to nature or green space are beneficial for physical and mental health.

What is added by this report?

Shelter-in-place and safer-at-home orders limit access to parks and green space for many people. We propose some short- and long-term solutions that can provide access to green space, while allowing for physical distancing.

What are the implications for public health practice?

These solutions may be useful and informative for cities, states, and countries around the globe as they implement policies to address the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic, which can lead to healthier communities and populations.

Abstract

The importance of engaging in any type of physical activity regularly, for both physical and mental health, is well established, and may be particularly beneficial in protecting the body and limiting the damage caused by the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Exposure to nature or green space also has positive physical and mental health benefits. Closures of parks and green spaces during the COVID-19 pandemic has limited the options for physical activity and may affect vulnerable populations more than others. We provide both short-term and long-term recommendations to encourage access to green space for people while allowing for physical distancing.

Introduction

The importance of engaging in any type of physical activity regularly, including exercising for both physical and mental health, is well established and, more important, may be particularly beneficial in protecting the body and limiting the damage caused by the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (1). Engaging in regular physical activity is also protective against poor cardiovascular health, obesity, hypertension, and diabetes, which are shown as risk factors for COVID-19 (1). Exposure to nature or green space also has positive physical and mental health benefits, including lower rates of heart disease, stroke, obesity, stress, and depression (2). In fact, exposure to green space, even in a limited setting (eg, residential city streets in urban areas), is just as beneficial for health as that of visiting a natural setting or large public park (3).

In March 2020, the majority of United States governors issued shelter-in-place orders (4). Collectively, these orders severely restricted movements of individuals across the nation (4). These orders resulted in the closure of primary, secondary, and postsecondary schools; local fitness, physical activity, and recreational facilities; sports clubs; and non-essential businesses. Yet public health entities, such as the American Public Health Association and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, have stressed the importance of staying physically active while sheltering in place during COVID-19, which includes visiting parks and green space (5). With the closure of schools, fitness facilities, and other community places for recreation, local streets, parks, trails, and open green spaces are the only places available for physical activity outside of the home environment (6). However, many public parks and green spaces were also closed because of concerns about social distancing, and most state and local shelter-in-place orders allow only limited use of parks and green space (6). For example, people may access parks and green space near their homes, but playgrounds and equipment, sports courts, and trails are likely closed to the public. These restrictions might contribute to increased adverse physical and mental health outcomes for a substantial portion of the population, particularly those in urban set-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0204.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

tings, which, in turn, may be negatively associated with how well people can fight COVID-19 (1,7). The latest research shows that people must have sustained contact of 10 minutes or more (7) and be less than 6 feet (8) from others to be most susceptible to contracting COVID-19. If park, trail, and playground patrons remain appropriately physically distant, do not engage in lengthy conversations with nonhousehold members, and wear a protective face mask, their risk of contracting COVID-19 by exercising outdoors is low, making parks and green spaces safe places to be physically active during a pandemic (9). Being quarantined is associated with poor mental health outcomes (10), but maintaining access to parks and green space could counteract these negative effects.

Shelter-in-place orders limit physical activity options for everyone but have a greater effect on vulnerable populations (6). For example, racial minorities, such as African Americans, contract COVID-19 at higher rates than non-Hispanic whites and are disproportionately dying from the disease (11,12). These same populations tend to live in dense urban areas (13,14) with limited green space, and often in multiunit housing (11,12). Urban areas also have a greater likelihood of park deserts (ie, a defined geographic area that does not have a park present and accessible for use), or only small parks with limited features (15). These small parks are more likely to be restricted from public use during statewide shelter-in-place orders because of their size and might be dominated by play structures and banned from use (16). Communities lacking parks might need to explore alternative solutions for physical activity in outdoor public spaces. Urban and minority populations might also be reliant on public transit, which has been restricted to use for work or other essential needs (eg, purchasing groceries). Use of public transit for leisure activities (eg, visiting parks or other green spaces) is not recommended in many areas. Shelter-in-place orders might exacerbate inequities for people to access parks or green spaces if they do not live near them. Although the recommendations we provide can apply to a wide variety of populations in urban, suburban, and rural settings, they may be particularly relevant for minority populations in urban settings.

Recommended Strategies to Address Parks and Green Space Accessibility

A recent article highlights ways to be physically active in the home, but these recommendations lack suggestions regarding access to green space (17). Exercising at home might be adequate and feasible for certain segments of the population, but many people live in homes with limited space or other factors that negatively affect health. The relationship between housing conditions and health is well established (18). Although most states are partially or fully lifting shelter-in-place orders, maintaining some physical distancing (19) is recommended until a vaccine is developed or until adequate immunity is realized within the population. Reintroduction of shelter-in-place orders might be necessary in response to an increase in COVID-19 cases or for future communicable disease outbreaks.

In this commentary, we propose some solutions that can be implemented, now or in the future, to provide access to green space while allowing physical distancing. Our recommendations are not necessarily new or novel ideas. Several of the strategies and policy recommendations proposed here have been advocated for various public health sectors for more than a decade (20-24). The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted these long-known deficiencies in walking, biking, and recreational infrastructure (25,26) that contribute to health disparities. We hope that some of the solutions we offer can be useful and informative for cities, states, and countries around the globe as they implement their own policies to address the COVID-19 pandemic. Ours is not a comprehensive list nor a list that can or should be implemented in all places; it is meant to be a starting point for a conversation between national, state, and local governments, parks and recreation departments, other nonprofit organizations (eg, National Recreation and Park Association, Trust for Public Land, sports leagues, philanthropic park partners), and researchers.

Short-Term Recommendations

Keep parks open

For both urban and rural areas, state and local parks with trails and open green space should remain open. Modifications in scheduling might be needed to help control the number of visitors at one time and allow for appropriate physical distancing.

- This could include structured schedules, time slots, or sign-up sheets either in person or online for smaller parks, or monitoring by park staff in larger parks.
- Staff from other departments may be needed to help ensure physical distancing guidance and that other rules are followed.
- Park visits and access to other green spaces could be proactively prioritized and formally organized for vulnerable populations.
- For parks with fees, fees could be adjusted on the basis of need. People who receive SNAP (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program) or Medicaid could have a reduced fee. Caution should be taken in terms of waiving fees for everyone as this might lead to a large increase in park visitation and crowding, as was seen in some parks early during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Evaluate policies that change schedules and modify fees, to determine best practices in balancing expanded access with strategies to control the number of visitors.

Modify policies on the use of public transit

During shelter-in-place orders, maintain transit routes to parks and green

space. Allow riders to use transit to access parks and green space. Require public transit users to wear masks or face coverings and maintain physical distance. Public transit access to essential businesses and services (eg, healthcare facilities, grocery stores, and child care centers) must be balanced with access to parks and green space.

Adopt Open Streets or Slow Streets initiatives

Particularly in urban areas, such initiatives will allow closure of certain streets to vehicle traffic during specific days and times so that pedestrians and cyclists have more space to move. Some cities that have permanently adopted these initiatives could be evaluated to determine the impact of these initiatives (27). Streets with greenery, plants, or other natural features can be prioritized for these initiatives, given the positive association between public green space and mental health (28–30). To increase access to parks and green spaces, streets surrounding or connecting them could be designated as Open or Slow Streets.

Adopt consistent messaging

Consult communication resources for use of parks, such as the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/daily-life-coping/visitors.html) (5) and the National Recreation and Park Association (https://www.nrpa.org/our-work/Three-Pillars/healthwellness/coronavirus-disease-2019/).

- Messages should be targeted to the specific population, especially vulnerable and marginalized populations. Consider messages in multiple languages and the use of pictograms or diagrams.
- Consideration should be given to the appropriate messengers and format for delivery.
- Emphasis should be placed on maintaining appropriate physical distancing, not social isolation (19).

Long-Term Recommendations

Create built environments for all users

Infrastructure plans should include policies and plans for creating healthy environments, such as Complete Streets, Safe Routes to Parks, Safe Routes to Schools, and mixed-use policies (20,24). Plans should also intentionally include green space and public spaces for leisure and recreation.

- Ensure that including green space is prioritized on streets in neighborhoods that lack them. Municipalities should review local design guidelines and zoning codes to ensure they include provisions for greenscapes, green streets, sidewalk planters, or other greening strategies.
- Consider access for all users through various approaches. Install protected bicycle lanes (ie, provide physical barriers between cars and bicyclists) or pedestrian connections to local trails, paths, parks, and green spaces. Increase parking for bicycles at parks and green spaces. Ensure public spaces comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act regulations. Engage with community members to explore availability, accessibility, and quality issues that are important to the community.

 Plan for maintenance and regular improvements of green spaces and parks.

Consider where to locate parks and green spaces

Ensure that quality parks and green spaces are located in close proximity to people, regardless of where they live.

Conduct ongoing monitoring and evaluation

To ensure that any strategies implemented work in the expected ways, plan for ongoing monitoring and evaluation. This should include examining any unintended consequences, such as decreased sanitary conditions, litter, substandard bathroom facilities, and increased crime.

- Evaluation should include the impact of strategies on mental and physical health.
- Create a national open platform for policy makers and researchers to share evidence-based strategies. Learning from the successes and mistakes of implementing these strategies is vital during this unprecedented situation.

These recommendations can apply to all settings, including rural main streets and suburban areas, but they might be particularly important for urban areas. We have highlighted several advantages to keeping parks open during a pandemic. Careful consideration of potential disadvantages is also essential. For example, with most public settings inaccessible, keeping parks and green space open could lead to overcrowding, making it difficult to maintain physical distance and resulting in increasing the spread of disease. Significant increases in park visitors could also add strains to local budgets and staff members (ie, maintenance and cleaning responsibilities might increase). Strains might also increase risk of illness or other unintended consequences to staff. Local communities might not have access to the resources needed to appropriately staff and maintain parks during a pandemic. Finally, less is known about how COVD-19 spreads in outdoor settings. The virus might be susceptible to sunlight (31). If COVID-19 transmission risk is lower outdoors, the efficacy of adhering to physical distancing guidelines (8) and avoiding prolonged close proximity to other people (7) might be increased. More studies are needed to evaluate the likelihood of contracting the disease while exercising outdoors.

Implications for Public Health

The COVID-19 pandemic has illuminated underlying disparities in access to parks and green space for underserved and vulnerable populations. Building a stronger infrastructure of neighborhood parks and green space throughout the country will help limit the impact of future public health disasters. Before and during a pandemic, national, state, and local policy makers, urban planners, and governments should thoughtfully consider what is appropriate

and important for overall population health and how best to implement some of the recommendations proposed while maintaining appropriate physical distancing in public spaces. Access to parks and green space is vitally important for the health and well-being of individuals, and it will lead to healthier populations.

Acknowledgments

All authors are co-chairs of the Physical Activity Policy Research and Evaluation Network (PAPREN) Parks and Green Space Work Group. The PAPREN is a thematic research network of the Prevention Research Centers program of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The PAPREN is an applied research and evaluation network focused on identification and implementation of local, state, and national policy approaches that influence opportunities for physical activity and built environment strategies. All authors of this article declare that there are no financial conflicts of interest to disclose. No borrowed materials, copyrighted surveys, instruments, or tools were used for this article. The findings and conclusions in this commentary are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Sandy J. Slater, PhD, MS, Associate Professor, Concordia University Wisconsin School of Pharmacy, 12800 N. Lake Shore Drive, Mequon, WI 53097. Telephone: 262-243-2744. Email: Sandra.Slater@cuw.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Administration, Concordia University, Mequon, Wisconsin. ²Physical Activity Policy Research and Evaluation Network, Parks and Green Space Work Group, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia. ³Department of Health and Exercise Science, Appalachian State University, Boone, North Carolina. ⁴School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, Louisiana.

References

- 1. Sallis JF, Pratt M. Physical activity can be helpful in the Coronavirus pandemic. https://americawalks.org/physicalactivity-can-be-helpful-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/. Accessed May 5, 2020.
- 2. American Public Health Association. Improving health and wellness through access to nature. 2013 https://www.apha.org/ policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policydatabase/2014/07/08/09/18/improving-health-and-wellnessthrough-access-to-nature. Accessed April 25, 2020.

- 3. Neale C, Aspinall P, Roe J, Tilley S, Mavros P, Cinderby S, et al. The impact of walking in different urban environments on brain activity in older people. Cities & Health 2020;4:94–106.
- 4. Gostin LO, Wiley LF. Governmental public health powers during the COVID-19 pandemic: stay-at-home orders, business closures, and travel restrictions. JAMA 2020;323(21):2137–8.
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Visiting parks and recreational facilities. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/visitors.html. Accessed June 10, 2020.
- 6. Hasson R, Sallis J, Coleman N, Kaushal N, Novera V, Keith N. The missing mandate: promoting physical activity to reduce disparities during COVID-19 and beyond. American College of Sports Medicine Blog. https://www.acsm.org/home/ featured-blogs---homepage/acsm-blog/2020/06/03/promotingphysical-activity-reduce-disparities-during-covid-19. Accessed June 10, 2020.
- 7. Burke RM, Midgley CM, Dratch A, Fenstersheib M, Haupt T, Holshue M, et al. Active monitoring of persons exposed to patients with confirmed COVID-19 — United States, January–February 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(9):245–6.
- 8. Chu DK, Akl EA, Duda S, Solo K, Yaacoub S, Schünemann HJ; COVID-19 Systematic Urgent Review Group Effort (SURGE) study authors. Physical distancing, face masks, and eye protection to prevent person-to-person transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2020;(20):31142–9.
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People who need to take extra precautions. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/index.html. Accessed June 10, 2020.
- 10. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020;395(10227):912–20.
- 11. Centers Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2020. COVID-19 in racial and ethnic minority groups. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/neede x t r a - p r e c a u t i o n s / r a c i a 1 - e t h n i c minorities.html?deliveryName=USCDC_277-DM26455. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 12. Yancy CW. COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA 2020; 323(19):1891.
- Vlahov D, Freudenberg N, Proietti F, Ompad D, Quinn A, Nandi V, et al. Urban as a determinant of health. J Urban Health 2007;84(3 Suppl):i16–26.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 14. United Nations Children's Fund (Unicef). Chapter 1: Children in an increasingly urban world. In: The State of the World's Children 2012. New York (NY); United Nations Children's Fund.
- 15. Cohen DA, Hunter G, Williamson S, Dubowitz T. Are food deserts also play deserts? J Urban Health 2016;93(2):235–43.
- 16. Freeman S, Eykelbosh A. COVID-19 and outdoor safety: considerations for use of outdoor recreational spaces. National Collaborating Centre for Environmental Health. https:// n c c e h . c a / s i t e s / d e f a u l t / f i l e s / C O V I D -19%20Outdoor%20Safety%20-%20April%2016%202020.pdf. Accessed April 12, 2020.
- 17. Chen P, Mao L, Nassis GP, Harmer P, Ainsworth BE, Li F. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): The need to maintain regular physical activity while taking precautions. J Sport Health Sci 2020;9(2):103–4.
- 18. Ige J, Pilkington P, Orme J, Williams B, Prestwood E, Black D, et al. The relationship between buildings and health: a systematic review. J Public Health (Oxf) 2019;41(2):e121–32.
- Allen HLB, Burton W. Stop using the term 'social distancing' – Start talking about 'physical distancing, social connection.' Health Affairs Blog. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/ hblog20200424.213070/full/. Accessed April 27, 2020.
- 20. National Physical Activity Plan Alliance. US National Physical Activity Plan. Columbia, SC; 2016. https:// www.physicalactivityplan.org/index.html. Accessed June 16, 2020.
- 21. Dannenberg AL, Frumkin H, Jackson RJ, editors. Making healthy places: designing and building for health, well-being, and sustainability. Washington (DC): Island Press; 2011.
- 22. US Department of Health and Human Services. Step It Up! The Surgeon General's Call to Action to promote walking and walkable communities. Washington (DC): US Dept of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General; 2015.
- 23. Farley TA, Cohen DA. Prescription for a healthy nation: a new approach to improving our lives by fixing our everyday world. Boston (MA): Beacon Press; 2005.
- 24. Guide to Community Preventive Services. Physical activity: built environment approaches combining transportation system interventions with land use and environmental design. https:// www.thecommunityguide.org/findings/physical-activity-builtenvironment-approaches. Accessed June 11, 2020.
- 25. Wolch JR, Byrne J, Newell JP. Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: the challenge of making cities 'just green enough'. Landsc Urban Plan 2014; 125(May):234-44.
- 26. Rigolon A. A complex landscape of inequity in access to urban parks: a literature review. Landsc Urban Plan 2016; 153(June):160–9.

- 27. Seattle Department of Transportation. 2020 bike investments to accelerate, including 20 miles of Stay Healthy Streets to become permanent in Seattle. https://sdotblog.seattle.gov/2020/ 05/07/2020-bike-investments-to-accelerate-including-20miles-of-stay-healthy-streets-to-become-permanent-in-seattle/. May 7, 2020. Accessed June 9, 2020.
- 28. Wood L, Hooper P, Foster S, Bull F. Public green spaces and positive mental health investigating the relationship between access, quantity and types of parks and mental wellbeing. Health Place 2017;48:63–71.
- 29. Houlden V, Weich S, Porto de Albuquerque J, Jarvis S, Rees K. The relationship between greenspace and the mental wellbeing of adults: a systematic review. PLoS One 2018; 13(9):e0203000.
- 30. Weimann H, Rylander L, Albin M, Skärbäck E, Grahn P, Östergren P-O, et al. Effects of changing exposure to neighbourhood greenness on general and mental health: a longitudinal study. Health Place 2015;33:48–56.
- 31. Ratnesar-Shumate S, Williams G, Green B, Krause M, Holland B, Wood S, et al. Simulated sunlight rapidly inactivates SARS-CoV-2 on surfaces. J Infect Dis 2020;jiaa274.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 17, E94

AUGUST 2020

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Association of Adult Depression With Educational Attainment, Aspirations, and Expectations

Alison K. Cohen, PhD, MPH¹; Juliet Nussbaum, MPH²; Miranda L. Ritterman Weintraub, PhD, MPH³; Chloe R. Nichols, MPA¹; Irene H. Yen, PhD, MPH⁴

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0098.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Cohen AK, Nussbaum J, Weintraub MLR, Nichols CR, Yen IH. Association of Adult Depression With Educational Attainment, Aspirations, and Expectations. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200098. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200098.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Educational attainment is associated with depressive symptoms and may affect depression through various socioeconomic pathways. Education may offer opportunities for developing interventions to reduce the disease burden of depression.

What is added by this report?

We examined key factors in early childhood and adolescence often omitted as confounders of the relationship between adolescent educational aspirations and expectations and mental health outcomes in adulthood. We also looked at differences by sex and race/ethnicity.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Our findings suggest that the social forces that constrain education may also affect health. Additionally, our findings support other research that encourages health and education practitioners to acknowledge educational interventions as public health interventions.

Abstract

Introduction

Social factors across one's lifespan may contribute to the relationship between low educational attainment and depression, but this relationship has been understudied. Previous studies assessing the association between educational attainment and depression did not fully account for prior common determinants across the life course and possible interactions by sex or race/ethnicity. It is also unclear whether the link between educational attainment and depression is independent of the role of aspired educational attainment or expected educational attainment.

Methods

We used generalized linear log link models to examine the association between educational attainment at age 25 and depression at age 40 in the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 cohort, adjusting for confounders and mediators from childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.

Results

Members of each educational attainment group were less likely to be depressed at age 40 than those with less education. After adjusting for educational aspirations and educational expectations, the risk ratios became closer to the null. Neither sex nor race/ethnicity interacted with educational attainment. Additionally, low educational expectations in adolescence, but not low educational aspirations, was associated with a higher risk of depression at age 40.

Conclusion

Our study provides a nuanced understanding of the role of education, educational expectations, and educational aspirations as part of education's effect on risk of depression after controlling for a thorough set of confounders and mediators. Our findings may help advance the study of social determinants of depression.

Introduction

Depression, defined as a persistent feeling of sadness, is a leading cause of disability worldwide (1). Studying social determinant risk factors for depression can help identify effective interventions and reduce disease burden; education, in particular, offers many opportunities for intervention (2). Lower educational attainment is associated with increased risk of depressive symptoms (3,4). For monozygotic twins, having a college degree was associated with fewer depressive symptoms, suggesting this association may persist independent of other social and genetic factors (5).

Education may affect depression through various socioeconomic pathways. First, people with less schooling may have fewer eco-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0098.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

nomic and social resources to address depressive episodes (6). Second, education affects socioeconomic position and people who ranked themselves lower in the social milieu, based in part on educational attainment, had higher odds of depression than those with higher social ranks (7). Third, education increases access to employment opportunities that are more creative, mentally stimulating, and involve higher autonomy, which also may affect mental well-being (8). These and other benefits of education for health and well-being can accumulate over one's life (8).

Our study sought to address some remaining key gaps in research on education and depression. We proposed a theoretical framework, weaving together the research literature with our hypotheses (Figure). First, existing research often omits key factors in early childhood and adolescence that could confound the association between education and depression, including parents' education, geographic location, and immigration (9,10). Additionally, socioeconomic factors during adulthood (eg, income, wealth, family size, marital status) likely mediate this association (8). Researchers must account for these factors to better understand the direct effect of education on depression and the indirect effects arising from adult socioeconomic position.



Figure. Theoretical framework consisting of hypothesized relationships between educational attainment, educational aspirations and expectations, depression in adulthood, and potential confounding and mediating variables.

Second, many studies do not assess potential effect measure modification. The theory of resource substitution posits that education is protective against disease for people with disadvantaged backgrounds (11). An inverse association between educational attainment and depression may be stronger in women than men, but few studies have assessed this association (12). Additionally, racial/ ethnic variations are poorly understood. Some evidence suggests that education is inversely associated with depression for both white and black Americans (10). In another study, race/ethnicity and sex modified the association between educational attainment and mental health (13). Given this paucity of evidence, we investigated whether or not education–depression associations varied by sex or by race/ethnicity. Third, most existing research fails to tease apart the dimensions of education that are dictated by individual determination versus external forces beyond individual control (14). These 2 different dimensions of education, operationalized as educational aspirations (individual determination) and educational expectations (external forces beyond one's control) could affect health differently (15). Educational aspirations, or the level of education a person wants to attain, reflect a mixture of traits (eg, personal motivation, selfesteem) that may propel a person to educational achievement. Educational expectations, the level of education a person anticipates attaining, represent underlying structural factors that influence achievement (eg, childhood socioeconomic position, parental support) (14). Adolescents with increased educational expectations have more capacity for seeking out economic and social resources essential to better physical and mental health (16), whereas those with unfulfilled expectations may have increased depressive symptoms (17) (although this may be fully explained by lower educational attainment [18]). However, little is known about how adolescent educational aspirations and expectations are associated with health outcomes during adulthood, particularly mental health.

The National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79) Cohort (19) provides an opportunity to test 3 related hypotheses. First, previous studies of the association between educational attainment and depression may not have adjusted for all important social factors that were confounders. We hypothesized that educational attainment will be inversely associated with depression and that this association will be attenuated when we adjust for confounders and mediators from across the life course. Second, the association between educational attainment and depression is independent of any relationship between depression and educational aspirations and expectations. We hypothesized that the association between educational attainment and depression would be attenuated and possibly disappear after adjusting for educational aspirations and expectations. Third, past studies suggest that sex and race/ethnicity may modify the effect of the adjusted association between educational attainment and depression. We hypothesized that the association between educational attainment and depression may be stronger among women and may vary by race/ethnicity.

Methods

We used NLSY79 data, a cohort of people followed by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics and weighted to be nationally representative of Americans aged 14 to 21 in 1979. Participants in this age group were followed beginning in 1979 and completed surveys every 1 to 2 years thereafter. We used data through 2008; more sample details exist elsewhere (19). Briefly, we used a multistage stratified probability sampling approach to create a representative

sample of noninstitutionalized civilians aged 14 to 21 in 1979 and to oversample youth from underrepresented groups (Hispanic/ Latino, black, economically disadvantaged whites). NLSY79 also developed weights to allow for nationally representative estimates (19). We restricted our sample to include youth with complete data for our variables of interest, leaving a final sample of 4,417. This sample consisted of 56.9% of NLSY79 participants who were followed through 2008 and 44.3% of the original sample, which is comparable to other longitudinal studies over a similar timespan (14). The study was deemed exempt by the University of California Berkeley Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects, because the data are publicly available and nonidentifiable.

Our outcome of interest was depressive symptoms at age 40, as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale Short Form, a 7-item scale measuring frequency of depressive symptoms in the prior week (<1, 1–2, 3–4, or 5–7 days/week). The 7-item scale is similarly reliable and precise as the original longer version, with improved internal consistency (20). The scores of these 7 items were summed; the total score could range from 0 to 21. If any item was missing, the total score was coded as missing. A cutoff total score of ≥ 8 was used to create a dichotomous variable from the scale (20).

Explanatory variables were educational attainment, aspirations, and expectations. Educational attainment was the number of years of education attained by age 25; the US Census assumes people complete education by age 25. Number of years of education attained was reported at each interview. Educational aspirations and expectations were assessed in 1979 as the number of years of education participants aged 14 to 21 aspired to or expected to attain. The 3 educational variables were categorical, classified as having or aspiring to or expecting to attain less than a high school education (<12 years of school), high school graduation (12–15 years of school), or college graduation (\geq 16 years of school). Maternal and paternal educational attainment and the highest parental education variables were coded in the same categorical manner.

Models adjusted for sex and race/ethnicity (black, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic white). Asians (n = 142) were excluded from the sample because of the small sample size and missing data. Childhood and adolescent confounders were maternal and paternal education, highest education level of either parent, speaking a foreign language as a child, being born outside of the United States, living in the South (Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, or West Virginia), and living in an urban area as a child. Each of these variables could be associated with access to educational opportunities. Participant age in 1979 was included to account for any potential birth cohort differences. We also tested for effect measure modification by sex and race/ethnicity.

Potential mediators from adulthood were included to estimate direct versus indirect effects of education on depression. Individual and total family wealth (wealth = assets – debts) and income were measured continuously in standardized year-2000 dollar increments and were log-transformed. We also included family size, number of dependents, marital status, living in the South as an adult, and living in an urban area as an adult, all as measured at age 40.

We used generalized linear modeling with the log linear link function to calculate adjusted risk ratios (RRs) (21) in Stata 14.1 (StataCorp). We specified a Poisson distribution with robust standard errors, which does not require accurately specifying the distribution to calculate accurate point estimates and standard errors and avoids nonconvergence issues (22). *P* values were 2-sided and unadjusted for multiple comparisons (23). We did sensitivity analyses by re-running all our models in a multiply imputed dataset by using Stata's multiple imputation package. Five imputations of all education variables and confounders were conducted; our outcome, depression, was not imputed.

Results

Approximately 16.2% of the 4,417 study participants had depression at age 40 (Table 1). By age 25, 66.5% were high school graduates, 24.2% graduated from college, and 9.3% did not complete high school. Among those excluded from the analyses, there was a similar proportion of high school graduates (66.1%), fewer college graduates (17.4%), more with less than a high school education (16.4%), and a higher prevalence of depression (20.8%)than among those included in the sample. The sample was evenly divided by sex (51.5% female) and most of the sample (84.9%) was white; for those excluded from the sample, a smaller proportion were women and a larger proportion were nonwhite. Compared with participants categorized as not depressed, the depressed group in the sample had a higher proportion of women, had parents who were less educated, were less educated themselves, had lower educational aspirations and expectations, and had less wealth, income, and total family income. Fewer of the depressed group were married.

We found no effect measure modification by race/ethnicity (Wald test P value = .50) or sex (Wald test P value = .88) for associations between levels of educational attainment at age 25 and depression at age 40 (Table 2). In our unadjusted model, higher educational attainment was associated with a lower risk of depression. The point estimate did not change substantially when we added

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

child and adolescent confounders, although the childhood covariates still meaningfully contributed to the model (Wald *P* value < .005). Adding the hypothesized mediators attenuated the risk ratios. College graduates and high school graduates still had a lower risk of depression (adjusted RR = 0.73; 95% CI, 0.56–0.96) than those with less than a high school diploma (adjusted RR, 0.75; 95% CI, 0.62–0.91).

We assessed associations between adolescent educational aspirations and expectations and depression. Although adolescent educational aspirations were not associated with adult depression, lower adolescent educational expectations were. People who expected to be college graduates had a lower risk of depression than those who expected to be high school graduates (adjusted RR = 0.82; 95% CI, 0.68–0.98) and those who expected to attain less than a high school diploma (adjusted RR = 0.59; 95% CI, 0.44-0.79). Those who expected to be high school graduates had a lower risk than those who did not expect to graduate from high school (adjusted RR = 0.72; 95% CI, 0.56–0.93). When we had educational attainment, aspirations, and expectations in the same model, those with a college degree had a lower risk of depression than those with less than a high school diploma (adjusted RR = 0.62; 95% CI, 0.44-0.88), but all of the other RRs between education variables and depression were no longer significant.

The analyses using the multiply imputed dataset (Table 3) largely confirmed findings of the complete case analyses (Table 2). All associations that were significant at the P = .05 level in the complete case analyses remained so in multiply imputed analyses. However, some additional associations emerged when using the multiply imputed dataset because of the larger sample size. In particular, significant associations between educational aspirations and depression emerged: those who aspired to a college level education were less likely to be depressed, compared with those who aspired to high school graduation or less than high school graduation. Additionally, in the models of educational attainment and depression where educational aspirations and expectations were included as covariates, all measures of association (ie, college graduation vs high school graduation, college graduation vs less than high school graduation, high school graduation vs less than high school graduation) were significant.

Discussion

After considering a comprehensive set of socioeconomic measures across the life course and exploring different dimensions of the educational experience in a nationally representative US longitudinal cohort, we concluded that higher educational attainment and educational expectations, but not educational aspirations, are associated with reduced risk of depression at age 40. Findings regarding educational expectations suggest that the social forces that constrain education may also affect health. In the NLSY79 cohort, the educational attainment–depression association did not vary by race/ethnicity or sex. Our findings add to the body of research on education and depression (24), and concur that "shooting for the stars" with educational expectations is not detrimental (18).

Adult socioeconomic position (ie, household income, wealth, family size, number of dependents) appears to partially mediate the association between educational attainment and depression, consistent with prior research on poverty and depression (24). Even after accounting for this mediation, an educational attainment–depression association remained, potentially via empowerment (25), social connections (26), stress (27), or a variety of other factors (eg, health behaviors, adult socioeconomic position, health literacy) (2,13).

Our study had limitations. First, these data were self-reported and observational and therefore susceptible to human error; we assume that any such error is nondifferential. Second, our primary analysis was a complete case analysis, which assumes that all missing data are missing completely at random. However, our sensitivity analyses using multiple imputation reached the same conclusions. Additionally, the excluded population was relatively similar to the study sample by a variety of childhood, adolescent, and adult characteristics. Our use of the NLSY79's custom sampling weights also helped to counteract this limitation. Third, our generalizability is limited: almost 85% of participants in the NLSY79 sample were white. Although this was reflective of the population of adolescents in the United States in 1979, it is not reflective of the current US population. Fourth, we used the Baron and Kenny (28) approach to assess mediation, but other approaches to assess mediation also exist. Finally, we did not have a baseline measure of depression during adolescence, so we could not ascertain the incidence of depression. Therefore, we could only assess depression prevalence in adulthood, and could not know what depression began in adolescence or early adulthood, perhaps influencing educational attainment, expectations, or aspirations (ie, reverse causality or a more complex etiology). However, a systematic review of high school dropouts and mental health disorders suggested that depression is likely to be a result of low educational attainment rather than a cause of it (3).

Our study had several strengths. Our nationally representative, longitudinal cohort with detailed data across the life course, including multiple measures of socioeconomic position, allowed us to answer new and more nuanced questions related to the education-depression association. In particular, we had information about childhood socioeconomic position, which many other studies of adult mental health lack, and information about educational aspirations and expectations in adolescence, which are often not

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.
included in other education-health studies focused on educational attainment. Additionally, including adult mediating factors in our final model, particularly various measurements of adult socioeconomic position, allowed us to parse out the direct effects of education from the indirect effects mediated by the adult socioeconomic consequences of education. We also used adjusted risk ratios, not odds ratios, to report our findings, because risk ratios are more intuitive to interpret, more conservative, and more appropriate for non-rare outcomes (21).

Future researchers should continue to assess the nuances of education as a health determinant (29), including the use of even more granular categories of educational attainment. Additionally, as Americans increasingly are involved in education throughout their lifespan, even after age 25, future investigations could track educational trajectories and examine if a different age cut-off may be more appropriate for completion of educational attainment or if education attained after age 25 has similar or different health benefits. Additionally, given how the racial/ethnic makeup of the US population has changed since this cohort was begun, we encourage future studies to replicate these analyses in more diverse populations and populations of color to help inform developing interventions to reduce depression risks in the current US population.

Our set of analyses builds on similar work focused on obesity (14), with relatively similar findings. We encourage future researchers to continue to explore the potential roles (or lack thereof) of educational aspirations, expectations, and attainment in relation to other health outcomes in adulthood. Given the likely importance of historical and societal contexts for the social patterning we observed (30), we also encourage researchers to explore whether these associations persist for other generations in the United States and in other countries. Our study focused on adolescent educational aspirations and educational expectations, because these are most immediately relevant for educational attainment in late adolescence and young adulthood (when we assume the majority of educational attainment occurs), but future researchers could also assess whether changes in educational aspirations and educational expectations over the life course could further nuance our understanding of these phenomena.

Our findings support other research indicating that health and education practitioners should acknowledge educational interventions as public health interventions, and work together (2,30). Future research could experimentally assess such educational interventions to explore how increasing educational attainment may affect mental health.

Higher educational attainment and expectations, even after adjusting for potential confounders and mediators from across the lifespan, are associated with reduced risk of depression in mid-life in a nationally representative sample of US adults. We encourage future researchers to further explore the nuances of the educational experience as they relate to health outcomes over the lifespan, and we encourage practitioners to identify educational interventions that could have mental health benefits in subsequent decades.

Acknowledgments

We thank Katrina Gosen and Phylicia Morgan for their helpful review of an earlier draft and Maureen Lahiff for consulting with us on this article. AKC and IHY were supported in part by NIH grant R01AG056360. No copyrighted materials was used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Alison K. Cohen, Department of Public and Nonprofit Administration, School of Management, University of San Francisco, 2130 Fulton Street, San Francisco, CA, 94117. Telephone: 415-422-6447. Email: akcohen@berkeley.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Public and Nonprofit Administration, School of Management, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, California. ²School of Public Health, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, California. ³Graduate Medical Education, Kaiser Permanente, Oakland, California. ⁴Department of Public Health, School of Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts, University of California, Merced, Merced, California.

References

- 1. Ferrari AJ, Charlson FJ, Norman RE, Patten SB, Freedman G, Christopher JL Murray, et al. Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. PLoS Med 2013;10(11):e1001547.
- 2. Cohen AK, Syme SL. Education: a missed opportunity for public health intervention. Am J Public Health 2013; 103(6):997–1001.
- 3. Esch P, Bocquet V, Pull C, Couffignal S, Lehnert T, Graas M, et al. The downward spiral of mental disorders and educational attainment: a systematic review on early school leaving. BMC Psychiatry 2014;14(1):237.
- 4. Nguyen TT, Tchetgen Tchetgen EJ, Kawachi I, Gilman SE, Walter S, Glymour MM. The role of literacy in the association between educational attainment and depressive symptoms. SSM Popul Health 2017;3:586–93.
- 5. McFarland MJ, Wagner BG. Does a college education reduce depressive symptoms in American young adults? Soc Sci Med 2015;146:75–84.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

- 6. Aartsen M, Veenstra M, Hansen T. Social pathways to health: On the mediating role of the social network in the relation between socio-economic position and health. SSM Popul Health 2017;3:419–26.
- 7. Scott KM, Al-Hamzawi AO, Andrade LH, Borges G, Caldasde-Almeida JM, Fiestas F, et al. Associations between subjective social status and DSM-IV mental disorders: results from the World Mental Health surveys. JAMA Psychiatry 2014;71(12):1400–8.
- 8. Mirowsky J. Education, Social Status, and Health. New York (NY): Routledge; 2017.
- 9. Hoffman K, Aschengrau A, Webster TF, Bartell SM, Vieira VM. Associations between residence at birth and mental health disorders: a spatial analysis of retrospective cohort data. BMC Public Health 2015;15(1):688.
- Hudson DL, Puterman E, Bibbins-Domingo K, Matthews KA, Adler NE. Race, life course socioeconomic position, racial discrimination, depressive symptoms and self-rated health. Soc Sci Med 2013;97:7–14.
- 11. Ross CE, Mirowsky J. Sex differences in the effect of education on depression: resource multiplication or resource substitution? Soc Sci Med 2006;63(5):1400–13.
- 12. Melchior M, Chastang J-F, Head J, Goldberg M, Zins M, Nabi H, et al. Socioeconomic position predicts long-term depression trajectory: a 13-year follow-up of the GAZEL cohort study. Mol Psychiatry 2013;18(1):112–21.
- 13. Vable AM, Cohen AK, Leonard SA, Glymour MM, Duarte CDP, Yen IH. Do the health benefits of education vary by sociodemographic subgroup? Differential returns to education and implications for health inequities. Ann Epidemiol 2018; 28(11):759–766.e5.
- 14. Cohen AK, Rehkopf DH, Deardorff J, Abrams B. Education and obesity at age 40 among American adults. Soc Sci Med 2013;78:34–41.
- 15. Liu SY, Buka SL, Kubzansky LD, Kawachi I, Gilman SE, Loucks EB. Sheepskin effects of education in the 10-year Framingham risk of coronary heart disease. Soc Sci Med 2013; 80:31–6.
- 16. Shankar J, Ip E, Khalema E, Couture J, Tan S, Zulla RT, et al. Education as a social determinant of health: issues facing indigenous and visible minority students in postsecondary education in Western Canada. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2013;10(9):3908–29.
- Mossakowski KN. Unfulfilled expectations and symptoms of depression among young adults. Soc Sci Med 2011; 73(5):729–36.
- Reynolds JR, Baird CL. Is there a downside to shooting for the stars? Unrealized educational expectations and symptoms of depression. Am Sociol Rev 2010;75(1):151–72.

- 19. Center for Human Resource Research. NLSY79 user's guide, 2008. https://www.nlsinfo.org/content/cohorts/nlsy79/intro-to-the-sample. Accessed June 9, 2020.
- 20. Levine SZ. Evaluating the seven-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies depression scale short-form: a longitudinal US community study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2013;48(9):1519–26.
- 21. Cohen AK. Using a log-linear model to calculate risk ratios for social epidemiology analysis. SAGE Research Methods Cases. http://methods.sagepub.com/case/log-linear-model-calculaterisk-ratios-for-social-epidemiology-analysis. Accessed June 9, 2020.
- 22. Zou G. A modified Poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159(7):702–6.
- 23. Rothman KJ. No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons. Epidemiology 1990;1(1):43–6.
- 24. Lorant V, Deliège D, Eaton W, Robert A, Philippot P, Ansseau M. Socioeconomic inequalities in depression: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157(2):98–112.
- 25. Marmot M. Achieving health equity: from root causes to fair outcomes. Lancet 2007;370(9593):1153–63.
- 26. Phelan JC, Link BG, Tehranifar P. Social conditions as fundamental causes of health inequalities: theory, evidence, and policy implications. J Health Soc Behav 2010; 51(Suppl):S28-40.
- 27. Marmot MG, Sapolsky R. Of baboons and men: social circumstances, biology, and the social gradient in health. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2014.
- Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986;51(6):1173-82.
- 29. Rehkopf DH, Glymour MM, Osypuk TL. The consistency assumption for causal inference in social epidemiology: when a rose is not a rose. Curr Epidemiol Rep 2016;3(1):63–71.
- 30. Sasson I. Trends in life expectancy and lifespan variation by educational attainment: United States, 1990-2010. Demography 2016;53(2):269-93.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Complete Case Analysis Sample (N = 4,417) by Depression Status at Age 40, National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort^a, United States, 1979–2008

Weighted Proportion of Sample	Total, N = 4,417 (100%)	Not Depressed, n = 3,590 (83.8%)	Depressed, n = 827 (16.2%)	<i>P</i> Value ^b	Excluded From Analytic Sample (No. Range, 2,117–8,269) ^c
		Demographic Charac	cteristics		
Age in 1979, y, mean (SD)	17.6 (2.32)	17.6 (2.27)	17.7 (2.54)	.58	17.9 (2.33)
Female, %	51.5	49.3	63.3	< .005	47.2
Race/ethnicity, %					
Non-Hispanic white	84.9	86.1	78.9	< .005	75.9
Black/African-American	10.8	9.9	15.3		16.0
Asian	0	0	0		2.0
Hispanic/Latino	4.3	4.0	5.8		6.1
		Early Life Characte	eristics		
Father's education, %					
Less than high school graduate	31.7	29.8	41.0	< .005	34.7
High school graduate	49.1	50.3	42.5		47.0
College graduate	19.3	19.8	16.6		18.3
Mother's education, %					
Less than high school graduate	28.5	26.4	39.4	< .005	35.0
High school graduate	60.3	62.2	50.3		56.1
College graduate	11.2	11.4	10.4		9.0
Highest education of either parent, %					
Less than high school graduate	19.1	17.4	27.7	< .005	27.5
High school graduate	58.3	59.5	52.2		66.7
College graduate	22.6	23.1	20.1		5.8
Spoke a foreign language as child, %	12.1	11.7	14.3	.06	16.1
Born outside the United States, %	3.5	3.4	4.0	.47	5.6
Lived in the South ^d as a child, %	29.7	29.1	29.3	.41	33.0
Lived in an urban (city or town) setting as a child, %	77.1	77.0	77.9	.65	78.4
Adolescent Characteristics					
Educational aspiration (mean, SD)	14.6 (2.18)	14.7 (2.13)	14.3 (2.39)	< .005	14.4 (2.31)
Educational expectation (mean, SD)	14.1 (2.25)	14.2 (2.20)	13.5 (2.40)	< .005	13.8 (2.42)
Lived in an urban area (city or town) as an adolescent, %	77.8	77.9	76.8	.56	79.4

Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.

^a National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort (19).

^b Calculated by *t* test or χ^2 test.

^c Range in sample size for the percentages calculated here, from the smallest amount of missingness for a variable, 2,117, to the largest, 8,269.

^d Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, or West Virginia.

^e Wealth = assets - debts.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Complete Case Analysis Sample (N = 4,417) by Depression Status at Age 40, National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort^a, United States, 1979–2008

Weighted Proportion of Sample	Total, N = 4,417 (100%)	Not Depressed, n = 3,590 (83.8%)	Depressed, n = 827 (16.2%)	<i>P</i> Value ^b	Excluded From Analytic Sample (No. Range, 2,117–8,269) ^c
Region of residence in 1979, %		1	1		1
Northeast	20.0	20.1	19.0	.49	22.6
North Central	34.3	34.7	32.1		26.2
South	29.7	29.3	31.6		34.2
West	16.1	15.9	17.2		17.0
		Adult Characteri	stics		
Educational attainment, %					
Did not graduate from high school by age 25	9.3	7.9	16.9	< .005	16.4
Graduated from high school by age 25	66.5	66.1	68.1		66.1
Graduated from college by age 25	24.2	26.0	15.0		17.4
Income status, mean (SD)					
Wealth ^e at age 40, \$	223,721.90 (428,327.20)	223,050.60 (439,821.70)	120,332.00 (319,637.00)	< .005	145,253.40 (316,659.20)
Natural log of wealth at age 40	10.4 (3.6)	10.7 (3.2)	8.9 (4.7)	< .005	9.1 (4.4)
Annual income at age 40, \$	43,849.38 (36,587.02)	45,895.20 (36,835.58)	33,289.73 (32,157.94)	< .005	32,619.15 (36,341.67)
Natural log of income at age 40	10.1 (2.0)	10.2 (1.9)	9.6 (2.6)	< .005	8.6 (3.7)
Total family annual income at age 40, \$	70,776.56 (65,277.95)	74,428.33 (66,033.19)	51,927.63 (55,130.89)	< .005	57,435.72 (57,686.93)
Natural log of total family income at age 40	10.7 (1.7)	10.8 (1.5)	10.1 (2.3)	< .005	10.2 (2.2)
Family household size at age 40, mean (SD)	3.3 (1.5)	3.3 (1.5)	2.9 (1.6)	< .005	3.2 (1.6)
Number of dependents at age 40, mean (SD)	1.5 (1.3)	1.5 (1.2)	1.3 (1.3)	< .005	1.3 (1.3)
Married at age 40, %	67.4	70.1	53.4	< .005	32.0
Lived in an urban area at age 40, %	68.1	68.1	68.1	1.00	68.8
Lived in the South ^d at age 40, %	34.0	33.6	36.1	.24	40.2

Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.

^a National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort (19).

^b Calculated by t test or χ^2 test.

^c Range in sample size for the percentages calculated here, from the smallest amount of missingness for a variable, 2,117, to the largest, 8,269.

^d Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, or West Virginia.

^e Wealth = assets - debts.

Table 2. Depression at Age 40 by Educational Attainment, Aspirations, and Expectations at Age 25, National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort^a

Variable	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value
Educational attainment, unadjusted	· · · · · ·	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.61 (0.48-0.77)	
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.34 (0.26-0.45)	<.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.57 (0.47-0.68)	
Educational attainment adjusted for sex only, Wald test value for sex, P < .005		
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.62 (0.49-0.78)	
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.34 (0.26-0.45)	<.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.56 (0.46-0.67)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child covariates ^b ; Wald test value for child covariates, <i>P</i> < .005		
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.62 (0.48-0.81)	
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.39 (0.28-0.52)	<.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.62 (0.51-0.75)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child and adolescent covariates ^c ; Wald test value for adolescent	covariates, P < .56	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.62 (0.48-0.81)	
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.39 (0.29–0.53)	<.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.62 (0.51-0.75)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child, adolescent, and adult covariates ^d ; Wald test value for adu	lt covariates, <i>P</i> < .005	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.73 (0.56-0.96)	<.05
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.55 (0.40-0.75)	<.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.75 (0.62-0.91)	<.01
Educational aspirations adjusted for child, adolescent, and adult covariates		
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.93 (0.79-1.10)	
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.71 (0.42-1.19)	>.05
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.76 (0.46-1.27)	
Educational expectations adjusted for child, adolescent, and adult covariates		
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.82 (0.68-0.98)	<.05
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.59 (0.44-0.79)	.001
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.72 (0.56-0.93)	<.05
Educational attainment adjusted for child, adolescent, and adult covariates, plus educational aspirat	ions and educational expectations	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.77 (0.58-1.02)	>.05
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.62 (0.44-0.88)	.01
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.78 (0.58-1.04)	>.05

^a National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (19). All adjusted models are adjusted for sex and race (except for sex-only models).

^b Age in 1979, father's educational attainment, mother's educational attainment, highest educational attainment of either parent, speaking a foreign language as a child, being born outside of the United States, living in the South (Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, or West Virginia) as a child, and living in an urban setting as a child. ^c Region of residence in the United States as an adolescent and living in an urban setting as an adolescent.

^d Wealth (wealth = assets – debts) as an adult, income as an adult, total family income as an adult, family size as an adult, number of dependents as an adult, marital status as an adult, living in the South as an adult, and living in an urban setting as an adult.

Table 3. Depression at Age 40, by Educational Attainment, Aspirations, and Expectations at Age 25 and Race/Ethnicity in the Multiply Imputed Dataset, National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort^a

Variable	Risk Ratio (95% Cl)	<i>P</i> Value
Educational attainment, unadjusted	I	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.59 (0.49-0.71)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.34 (0.28-0.42)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.58 (0.51-0.66)	
Educational attainment adjusted for sex only; Wald test value for sex, $P < .005$		•
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.59 (0.49-0.71)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.34 (0.27-0.41)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.57 (0.50-0.65)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child covariates ^b ; Wald test value for child covariates, P <	.005	·
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.61 (0.50-0.74)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.37 (0.30-0.47)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.61 (0.54-0.70)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child ^b and adolescent covariates ^c ; Wald test value for ado	lescent covariates, P < .56	
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.61 (0.50-0.75)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.38 (0.30-0.47)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.61 (0.54-0.70)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child ^b , adolescent ^c , and adult covariates ^d ; Wald test value	for adult covariates, $P < .005$	•
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.70 (0.57-0.85)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.51 (0.40-0.64)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.72 (0.63-0.83)	
Educational aspirations adjusted for child ^b , adolescent ^c , and adult ^d covariates		·
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.83 (0.74-0.94)	>.05
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.63 (0.45-0.90)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.76 (0.54-1.07)	
Educational expectations adjusted for child ^b , adolescent ^c , and adult ^d covariates		
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.76 (0.66-0.87)	<.001
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.50 (0.41-0.62)	
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.66 (0.56-0.79)	
Educational attainment adjusted for child ^b , adolescent ^c , and adult ^d covariates, plus education	al aspirations and educational expectat	ions
College graduate versus high school graduate	0.83 (0.71-0.97)	<.05
College graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.63 (0.48-0.82)	<.01
High school graduate versus less than high school graduate	0.76 (0.62-0.95)	<.05

^a National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (19). All adjusted models are adjusted for sex and race (except for sex-only models).

^b Child covariates are age in 1979, father's educational attainment, mother's educational attainment, highest educational attainment of either parent, speaking a foreign language as a child, being born outside of the United States, living in the South (Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, or West Virginia) as a child, and living in an urban setting as a child.

^c Adolescent covariates are region of residence in the United States as an adolescent and living in an urban setting as an adolescent.

^d Adult covariates are individual and total family wealth (wealth = assets – debts), income, family size, number of dependents, marital status, living in the South as an adult, and living in an urban area as an adult, all as measured at age 40.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY PUBLIC JULY 2020

Volume 17. E51

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Comorbid Depression and Obesity: Correlates and Synergistic Association With Noncommunicable Diseases Among Australian Men

Tilahun Nigatu Haregu, PhD¹; John Tayu Lee, PhD¹; Brian Oldenburg, PhD¹; Gregory Armstrong, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/19 0420.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Haregu TN, Lee JT, Oldenburg B, Armstrong G. Comorbid Depression and Obesity: Correlates and Synergistic Association With Noncommunicable Diseases Among Australian Men. Prev Chronic Dis 2020; 17:190420. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.190420.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Depression and obesity are strongly related to each other.

What is added by this report?

A complex set of individual and area-level factors is associated with comorbid depression and obesity among men in Australia.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Evidence of correlates and synergistic association would be useful in designing integrated and focused health promotion interventions for Australian men.

Abstract

Introduction

Obesity and depression are among the leading causes of disease worldwide. Their bidirectional relationship often results in comorbid depression and obesity, which further increases the risk of adverse health outcomes. Further evidence is needed on the correlates and synergistic association with other noncommunicable diseases. The objective of our study was to examine the correlates and synergistic association of comorbid depression and obesity with other noncommunicable diseases in a large sample of Australian men.

Methods

Our cross-sectional study used data on 13,763 men aged 18 to 55 from the first wave (2013-2014) of the Australian Ten to Men study. Body mass index was calculated from self-reported weight and height. The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 was used to assess depression. We calculated the weighted prevalence of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity and examined correlates of comorbid depression and obesity by using logistic regression. We used the synergy index to measure the synergistic association of depression and obesity with other noncommunicable diseases.

Results

The weighted prevalence of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity among Australian men were 12.5%, 22.2%, and 3.7%, respectively. Age, marital status, area-level socioeconomic index, educational attainment, household income, employment status, and physical activity were significantly associated with comorbid depression and obesity. Men with comorbid depression and obesity, compared with men without comorbid depression and obesity, had 7.6 times the risk of diabetes and 6.7 times the risk of hypertension.

Conclusion

Co-occurrence of depression and obesity among Australian men is associated with a set of individual- and area-level correlates and a higher risk of noncommunicable diseases. The correlates identified in our study are useful in planning interventions and screening in primary care settings.

Introduction

The increasing burden of mental health disorders and obesity is a significant public health concern globally, including in Australia (1,2). An estimated 45% of Australians experience a mental health condition in their lifetime (3). In any single year, about 1 million Australians have depression and about 2 million have anxiety (4).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

> 1 www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/19_0420.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

In 2017–2018, one in 5 Australians (20.1%) had a mental or behavioral condition; approximately two-thirds (67.0%) of Australian adults were either overweight or obese, and slightly less than one-third (31.3%) were obese (3).

Depression and obesity often co-occur. A meta-analysis of 19 studies showed a bidirectional relationship between depression and obesity (5). In that study people who were depressed had a 37% increased risk of being obese, and people who were obese had an 18% increased risk of being depressed. Only 1 study from Australia, which examined the association between body mass index (BMI) and depression among young women, was included in this meta-analysis (6). A study of the prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity in Australian general practice reported a *U*-shape relationship between BMI and depression, with a higher prevalence of depression among underweight (23%) and obese (24%) adults (7).

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) account for 89% of premature deaths in Australia and are major contributors to socioeconomic inequality in health (8). NCDs, especially cardiovascular disease (CVD), share many common risk factors, including modifiable lifestyle factors such as unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, harmful use of alcohol, and tobacco use. Biomedical risk factors, such as high blood pressure, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and obesity, also contribute to the development and progression of CVD. About 38% of the prevalence of CVD in Australia is attributable to overweight and obesity (9).

About 38% of the total prevalence of illness in Australia is attributable to CVD risk factors, including overweight and obesity, which account for 8.4% of the total prevalence (10). Mental health disorders, such as depression and anxiety, also have a significant association with CVD (11,12). As a result of interplay among these factors, at least 25% of Australians adults with mental health problems have chronic disease comorbidities (13).

Although the relationship between depression and obesity is considered bidirectional, the strength of the association is stronger from obesity to depression than from depression to obesity (14). In addition, sex and age moderate the relationship between depression and obesity. In a study conducted in Australia, the association was stronger among women than among men and among older people (15). The prevalence of comorbid depression was 24% among obese women and 21% among obese men. On the other hand, physical ill health is thought to mediate the relationship between obesity and depression (15).

The bidirectional relationship between depression and obesity is a public health concern because each disease alone and both diseases acting together have a strong negative effect on health and quality of life (16). Comorbid depression and obesity was shown to have a larger negative effect on quality of life than the sum of the independent effects of depression and obesity (17). The management of depression can affect obesity and vice versa. Controlled studies demonstrated that treatment of depression strongly affects body weight, although these findings are heterogeneous; the effect of treatment depends on type of antidepressant used and dose and duration of use (18).

Although the association between obesity and depression has been explored, evidence gaps still exist. First, most of the available evidence is based on studies conducted in clinical settings. As a result, limited evidence exists at community and general population levels, especially among adult men. This lack of data is important, because although the prevalence of depression is lower among men than among women in Australia, the prevalence of obesity is higher among men, and the effect of the interaction of these conditions on the risk of other NCDs has not been investigated (3).

Second, the combined effect of individual- and area-level correlates of comorbid depression and obesity have not been systematically investigated in Australia by using large population-based data sets. Third, the synergistic effects of depression and obesity on the risk of other NCDs have not been examined. Although depression and obesity are known risk factors for NCDs, we know little about their possible synergistic effect. Evidence is needed to inform prevention and treatment interventions.

Therefore, understanding the socioeconomic, behavioral, and environmental correlates of comorbid depression and obesity is essential to further understanding their complex relationship. The objective of our study was to describe individual- and area-level correlates of comorbid depression and obesity and examine their synergistic association with risk of other NCDs in a large sample of Australian men.

Methods

Data source

We used data from the first wave of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (the Ten to Men study). This ongoing longitudinal study, which uses a mailed survey, enables understanding of how changing life stages and circumstances affect the health and well-being of men and boys. Wave 1 recruitment occurred from October 2013 through July 2014; 15,988 males aged 10 to 55 years returned completed questionnaires. Our study group consisted of the 13,763 men among these who were aged 18 to 55. Wave 1 of the Ten to Men study received ethical clearance from

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

the University of Melbourne Human Sciences Human Ethics Sub-Committee. Participants aged 18 to 55 provided written consent. Wave 2 data were collected in 2015-2016.

A description of the cohort, methods, and sampling design in the Ten to Men study is available elsewhere (19–21). The study has a stratified, multistage, cluster sampling design and oversamples in rural and regional areas. Wave 1 included 432 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. The study questionnaire included variables on sociodemographic characteristics, geographic location, physical and emotional health, use of health care services, health behaviors, risk and protective factors, personal and family situation, life stages and life events, and social and environmental factors.

Variables and measurement

The questionnaire for the first wave of the Ten to Men study is available online (https://tentomen.org.au/sites/default/files/adult survey final with variable names.pdf). The key variables of interest in our study were obesity and depression. We used BMI (body weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared [kg/m²]), calculated from self-reported body weight and standing height, to measure obesity. We classified men with a BMI of 30 kg/m^2 or more as obese. For depression, the Ten to Men study used the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), which assesses depression on the basis of 9 symptoms (22). The questionnaire scores each of the 9 symptoms on a frequency scale from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day), and the sum of the scores determines the presence and the degree of depression. We considered a PHQ-9 score of 10 or more to indicate moderate-to-severe depression. Other variables included in our analysis were sociodemographic factors (age, marital status, educational attainment, employment status, and combined annual household income), area-level factors (using the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas [SEIFA] [23] to measure socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage), behavioral factors (current smoking, alcohol misuse [using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (24)]), physical activity (using Australia's Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior Guidelines for Adults [25]), number of fruit and vegetable servings per day, and the presence of NCDs other than obesity and depression: CVD (hypertension, myocardial infarction, heart failure, stroke, angina), diabetes, cancer, chronic respiratory diseases (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic bronchitis, asthma), cataracts, high cholesterol, and arthritis. The Ten to Men study assessed the presence of NCDs by using 2 questions: "Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you had this condition?" and "Have you been treated for or had any symptoms of this condition in the past 12 months?" We used data from the second question in our

study. We measured all variables at the individual and household level, except for SEIFA and annual household income, which we measured at the area and household level, respectively.

Data analysis

We summarized the weighted prevalence of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity by sociodemographic characteristics. We used sampling weights, computed by the Ten to Men study, according to the inverse probability of selection (26). We examined correlates of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity by using multiple logistic regression models. We tabulated adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for correlates of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity. To assess the effect of SEIFA (in percentiles) on the correlates of comorbid depression and obesity, we conducted stratified analysis by SEIFA quartiles (first quartile, 1-28; second quartile, 29-51, third quartile, 52-69, fourth quartile, 70-100). In this index, the higher the score, the greater the socioeconomic advantage. We used the synergy index (17) to assess the synergistic effect of depression and obesity on the risk of other NCDs. We calculated the synergy index as the ratio of the combined effects of comorbid depression and obesity to the sum of the individual effects of depression and obesity (27). We calculated 95% CIs for the synergy index by using the delta method. This method used a standard error of the synergy index that was derived from the regression coefficients and covariance of the effects of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity on each of the NCDs. We tested for multicollinearity of all covariates; the variance inflation factors were all less than 5, indicating that the assumption of reasonable independence among predictor variables was met. We analyzed all data in Stata version 15.0 (StataCorp LLC).

Results

About half (51.8%) of 13,763 men in our study were younger than 40 (Table 1). Almost two-thirds (65.3%) were married. Onequarter (24.9%) had less than a high school diploma, and 15.7% were unemployed at the time of the survey. One in 5 (19.2%) men were current smokers, 2 in 5 (38.4%) misused alcohol, and 2 in 3 (66.8%) had inadequate consumption of fruit and vegetables.

One in 8 (12.5%) men had depression. About 1 in 5 (22.2%) were obese. Nearly one-third (31.2%) of men with depression were obese, and 16.8% of men who were obese had depression. The weighted prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity was 3.7%.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Correlates of comorbid depression and obesity

The risk of depression decreased with age, whereas the risk of obesity increased with age. Higher educational attainment was associated with a lower risk of depression. Unemployment was associated with higher risk of depression. The prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity was significantly higher among men aged 30 to 39, 40 to 49, and 50 to 55 than among men aged 18 to 29. Being single or never married, being in the first SEIFA quartile, and being sedentary were significantly associated with higher risk of comorbid depression and obesity (Table 2).

The stratified analyses across SEIFA quartiles showed that age, employment status, and physical activity were consistently and significantly associated with comorbid depression and obesity across all quartiles. Married men had reduced risk of comorbid depression and obesity compared with never-married men in lower SEIFA quartiles. Higher educational attainment was significantly associated with reduced risk of comorbidity in the first and third SEIFA quartiles. Similarly, higher income was also associated with reduced risk of comorbidity in the third and fourth SEIFA quartiles (Table 3).

Synergistic association of depression and obesity with other NCDs

We found a strong positive association between comorbid depression and obesity and the risk of other NCDs. Men with comorbid depression and obesity had 7.6 times the risk of diabetes, 6.7 times the risk of hypertension, and 4.3 times the risk of high cholesterol, compared with men without comorbid depression and obesity. The analysis of synergistic effects showed a 68% excess risk of diabetes, 57% excess risk of hypertension, and more than twice the excess risk of arthritis and high cholesterol among men with comorbid depression and obesity, compared with the sum of the independent risks from depression and obesity (Table 4).

The predicted prevalence of NCDs was higher among men with comorbid depression and obesity than among men that had neither condition, men who had depression only, and men who had obesity only (Figure). The prevalence of hypertension, high cholesterol, asthma, and arthritis was higher than the prevalence of other chronic conditions included in our analysis. Stratification of these effects by SEIFA quartiles showed that the effects were higher in low SEIFA quartiles, especially for stroke, hypertension, arthritis, and high cholesterol.



Figure. Predicted prevalence of noncommunicable diseases by neither condition (N), depression only (D), obesity only (O), and depression and obesity (D + 0) among men aged 18–55 participating in wave 1 of the Ten to Men study on male health in Australia, 2013–2014. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Discussion

We found a 3.7% overall prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity among Australian men aged 18 to 55 years. However, we observed a higher prevalence (31.2%) of obesity among men with depression than among men in the entire study population (18.5%). We also found a set of factors associated with comorbid depression and obesity. Age, employment status, and physical activity were consistently associated with comorbid depression and obesity across all levels of socioeconomic status categories. Moreover, we demonstrated a significant association between comorbid depression and obesity and excess risk of other NCDs.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 9 studies reported that people with obesity were 32% (36% among women and 8% among men) more likely than people with normal BMI to have depression (28). Our study found a 62% increased risk of depression among men who were obese. The difference in findings between the systematic review and our study could be due to several factors. The 9 studies in the systematic review were from the United States, Canada, and Norway. They included both men and women and used different scales to assess depression. Our study was limited to Australian men and used the PHQ-9 to assess depression. One study in the systematic review used the PHQ-9 to assess depression in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey and estimated a 2.5 times higher risk among adults with obesity (29), higher than our estimate of risk. The difference between estimates could be due to differences in population characteristics.

The prevalence of depression among obese patients was reported to be 23% in a study of general practice clinics in Australia (7). Our study found a 17% prevalence of depression among obese men. Although the study populations differed, both studies used the PHQ-9 to assess depression, and the prevalence in the study of obese patients in general practice is not too far off the prevalence found in our study. In Mexico, a study that used the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale to assess depression in patients with type 2 diabetes reported a nearly 50% prevalence among obese patients (30). This higher prevalence could be due to the effect of type 2 diabetes on depression.

Our study found that older age and unemployment were associated with a higher risk of comorbid depression and obesity. We also showed a decline in the risk of depression but an increase in the risk of obesity as age increased. This finding is consistent with the findings reported by other studies (31,32). The higher risk of comorbid depression and obesity among unemployed men than among employed men in this study could have been due to the stronger effect of unemployment on the risk of depression among men with obesity than among men without obesity.

On the other hand, our study showed that higher educational attainment was associated with lower risk of obesity and comorbid depression and obesity. However, some studies indicated that high educational attainment was associated with greater risk of comorbid depression and obesity, with prominent effects among women (33). This difference could be related to the stronger relationship between depression and obesity among women than among men. Higher household income was negatively associated with depression and comorbid depression and obesity. Similar studies reported higher levels of mental health disorders among people with low educational attainment and low household income (34).

In our study, physical activity was associated with a lower risk of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity. This finding is consistent with findings from other studies that show the negative effects of depression on physical activity, which in turn increases the risk of obesity (35,36). However, we did not find any significant associations between smoking, alcohol use, or consumption of fruit and vegetables and comorbid depression and obesity.

In addition to the individual-level correlates, the area-level factor, SEIFA, was significantly associated with the risk of obesity and comorbid depression and obesity. Men in the lower SEIFA quartiles had a higher prevalence of depression, obesity, and comorbid depression and obesity. Similar studies in Australia reported a higher risk of obesity among socially disadvantaged people (37). The effect of SEIFA on risk of comorbid depression and obesity

needs to be further explored, because other factors may explain this association.

In this study, we found a significant association between comorbid depression and obesity and excess risk of other NCDs, such as diabetes, hypertension, and high cholesterol. This association was moderated by socioeconomic status. The excess risk of other NCDs among men with comorbid depression and obesity has implications for public health: prevention, early detection, and management of NCDs are needed for men with this comorbidity. Evidence of correlates and synergistic association would be useful in designing integrated and focused health promotion interventions However, further research, preferably longitudinal research, is needed to investigate the synergistic effect of depression and obesity on the risk of other NCDs.

Our study had several limitations. First, because the study design was cross-sectional, we could not establish a sequence of events for the onset of depression, obesity, and other NCDs. Establishing this sequence would affect the direction of the association between depression and obesity. Second, the Ten to Men study was not designed to study comorbid depression and obesity or its effects on the risk of other NCDs. Consequently, the number of men with other NCDs was small, and this small number affected the power of the study, especially for determining the significance of the synergy index. Third, self-reported weight and height were used to calculate BMI, which is less accurate than height and weight measured by health care professionals. Similarly, depression was assessed by using the PHQ-9, which is based on self-report. Although this scale is well validated, the possibility of social desirability bias cannot be ruled out. Finally, this study focused on men, and the findings cannot be generalized to the overall population or women.

Our study found that the overall prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity among Australian men was 3.7%. Comorbid depression and obesity among Australian men was associated with a set of individual-level sociodemographic factors, including age, marital status, educational attainment, household income, and employment status. Among the behavioral factors studied, physical activity was significantly associated with comorbid depression and obesity. We also found an inverse association between SEIFA, an area-level factor, and comorbid depression and obesity. Comorbid depression and obesity was associated with excess risk of other NCDs. Moreover, we showed that comorbid depression and obesity was associated with a risk of NCDs that was higher than the risk found by summing the independent effects of depression and obesity. The correlates identified in our study are useful in planning interventions and screening in primary care settings. Further research is needed to explain the mechanisms that underpin these relationships.

Acknowledgments

Survey data for this article were collected by The University of Melbourne as part of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health, funded by the Australian Government Department of Health. We are grateful to the boys and men who provided these survey data. No copyrighted materials were used in the conduct of this research or the writing of this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Tilahun Nigatu Haregu, PhD, Nossal Institute for Global Health, Level 5, 333 Exhibition St, Melbourne, Victoria 3000. Email: haregu.t@unimelb.edu.au.

Author Affiliations: ¹Nossal Institute for Global Health, School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia.

References

- 1. Rehm J, Shield KDJ. Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2019; 21(2):10.
- 2. Reilly JJ, El-Hamdouchi A, Diouf A, Monyeki A, Somda SA. Determining the worldwide prevalence of obesity. Lancet 2018;391(10132):1773–4.
- 3. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey: first results, 2017–18. Canberra (AU): Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2018. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/ 4364.0.55.001. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 4. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey, first results, —Australia 2014–15. Canberra (AU): Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2015. https://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ a u s s t a t s / s u b s c r i b e r . n s f / 0 / CDA852A349B4CEE6CA257F150009FC53/\$File/ national%20health%20survey%20first%20results,%202014-15.pdf. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 5. Mannan M, Mamun A, Doi S, Clavarino A. Is there a bidirectional relationship between depression and obesity among adult men and women? Systematic review and bias-adjusted meta analysis. Asian J Psychiatr 2016;21:51–66.
- 6. Ball K, Burton NW, Brown WJ. A prospective study of overweight, physical activity, and depressive symptoms in young women. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009;17(1):66–71.
- 7. Carey M, Small H, Yoong SL, Boyes A, Bisquera A, Sanson-Fisher R. Prevalence of comorbid depression and obesity in general practice: a cross-sectional survey. Br J Gen Pract 2014; 64(620):e122–7.

- 8. World Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases (NCD) country profiles. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2018.
- 9. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Impact of overweight and obesity as a risk factor for chronic conditions: Australian Burden of Disease Study. Canberra (AU): Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2017.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease Study: impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015 — summary report. Canberra (AU): Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2019.
- Cohen BE, Edmondson D, Kronish IM. State of the art review: depression, stress, anxiety, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Hypertens 2015;28(11):1295–302.
- Batelaan NM, Seldenrijk A, Bot M, van Balkom AJ, Penninx BW. Anxiety and new onset of cardiovascular disease: critical review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2016; 208(3):223-31.
- 13. Caughey GE, Vitry AI, Gilbert AL, Roughead EE. Prevalence of comorbidity of chronic diseases in Australia. BMC Public Health 2008;8(1):221.
- 14. Faith MS, Butryn M, Wadden TA, Fabricatore A, Nguyen AM, Heymsfield SB. Evidence for prospective associations among depression and obesity in population-based studies. Obes Rev 2011;12(5):e438–53.
- 15. Jorm AF, Korten AE, Christensen H, Jacomb PA, Rodgers B, Parslow RA. Association of obesity with anxiety, depression and emotional well-being: a community survey. Aust N Z J Public Health 2003;27(4):434–40.
- 16. Mendlewicz J. The broad spectrum of comorbid depression: implications for treatment. Eur Psychiatry 1998;13(1):1–8.
- 17. Nigatu YT, Reijneveld SA, de Jonge P, van Rossum E, Bültmann U. The combined effects of obesity, abdominal obesity and major depression/anxiety on health-related quality of life: the LifeLines Cohort Study. PLoS One 2016; 11(2):e0148871.
- Sevilla-González MDR, Quintana-Mendoza BM, Aguilar-Salinas CA. Interaction between depression, obesity, and type 2 diabetes: a complex picture. Arch Med Res 2017; 48(7):582–91.
- Pirkis J, Currier D, Carlin J, Degenhardt L, Dharmage SC, Giles-Corti B, et al. Cohort profile: Ten to Men (the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health). Int J Epidemiol 2017; 46(3):793–794i.
- 20. Currier D, Pirkis J, Carlin J, Degenhardt L, Dharmage SC, Giles-Corti B, et al. The Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health — methods. BMC Public Health 2016;16(Suppl 3):1030.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 21. Pirkis J, Macdonald J, English DR. Introducing Ten to Men, the Australian longitudinal study on male health. BMC Public Health 2016;16(Suppl 3):1044.
- 22. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001; 16(9):606–13.
- 23. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas: introduction, use and future directions. ABS Catalogue no. 1351.0.55.015. Canberra (AU): Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2006.
- 24. Fawcett JE, Shakeshaft AP, Harris MF, Wodak A, Mattick RP, Richmond RL. Using AUDIT to classify patients into Australian Alcohol Guideline categories. Med J Aust 2004; 180(11):598.
- 25. Government of Australia, The Department of Health. Australia's physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines and the Australian 24-hour movement guidelines. https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/ Content/health-publith-strateg-phys-act-guidelines#npa1864. Accessed February 18, 2020.
- 26. Spittal MJ, Carlin JB, Currier D, Downes M, English DR, Gordon I, et al. The Australian longitudinal study on male health sampling design and survey weighting: implications for analysis and interpretation of clustered data. BMC Public Health 2016;16(Suppl 3):1062.
- 27. Knol MJ, VanderWeele TJ, Groenwold RHH, Klungel OH, Rovers MM, Grobbee DE. Estimating measures of interaction on an additive scale for preventive exposures. Eur J Epidemiol 2011;26(6):433–8.
- 28. Pereira-Miranda E, Costa PRF, Queiroz VAO, Pereira-Santos M, Santana MLP. Overweight and obesity associated with higher depression prevalence in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Nutr 2017;36(3):223–33.
- 29. Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C, Tsai J, Dhingra S, Balluz LS. Waist circumference, abdominal obesity, and depression among overweight and obese U.S. adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2005–2006. BMC Psychiatry 2011;11(1):130.
- 30. Martínez Hernández F, Tovilla Zárate CA, López Narváez L, Juárez Rojop IE, Jiménez Santos MA, González Gutiérrez CP, et al. [Prevalence and gravity of depression and anxiety in patients with obesity and type 2 diabetes: a study in the population of Tabasco, Mexico]. Gac Med Mex 2014; 150(Suppl 1):101–6.
- 31. Wild B, Herzog W, Schellberg D, Lechner S, Niehoff D, Brenner H, et al. Association between the prevalence of depression and age in a large representative German sample of people aged 53 to 80 years. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2012; 27(4):375–81.

- 32. Jura M, Kozak LP. Obesity and related consequences to ageing. Age (Dordr) 2016;38(1):23.
- 33. Preiss K, Brennan L, Clarke D. A systematic review of variables associated with the relationship between obesity and depression. Obes Rev 2013;14(11):906–18.
- 34. Sareen J, Afifi TO, McMillan KA, Asmundson GJG. Relationship between household income and mental disorders: findings from a population-based longitudinal study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011;68(4):419–27.
- 35. Chekroud SR, Gueorguieva R, Zheutlin AB, Paulus M, Krumholz HM, Krystal JH, et al. Association between physical exercise and mental health in 1.2 million individuals in the USA between 2011 and 2015: a cross-sectional study. Lancet Psychiatry 2018;5(9):739–46.
- 36. Bauman AE, Grunseit AC, Rangul V, Heitmann BL. Physical activity, obesity and mortality: does pattern of physical activity have stronger epidemiological associations? BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):788.
- 37. Ghosh A, Charlton KE, Batterham MJ. Socioeconomic disadvantage and its implications for population health planning of obesity and overweight, using cross-sectional data from general practices from a regional catchment in Australia. BMJ Open 2016;6(5):e010405.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Self-Reported Characteristics of Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^a

Characteristic/Factor	Depression Only	Obesity Only	Comorbid Depression and Obesity	Total (95% CI)	
No. (% of study population)	982 (8.2)	2,461 (18.5)	510 (3.7)	_	
	Sociodemograph	c Characteristics	·		
Age, y					
18-29	11.0 (9.6-12.5)	11.1 (9.7-12.6)	2.5 (1.9-3.3)	25.1 (24.1-26.1)	
30-39	8.3 (6.9-9.8)	16.0 (14.5-17.6)	3.8 (3.0-4.7)	26.7 (25.7-27.7)	
40-49	6.4 (5.5-7.5)	23.5 (21.7-25.3)	4.1 (3.4-4.9)	30.6 (29.5-31.7)	
50-55	7.8 (6.3-9.6)	23.1 (20.9-25.6)	4.7 (3.7-5.8)	17.6 (16.8-18.5)	
Marital status					
Never married	12.5 (11.0-14.2)	13.2 (11.7-14.9)	4.6 (3.7-5.6)	28.0 (27.0-29.1)	
Divorced/widowed/separated	14.3 (11.5-17.7)	20.7 (17.3-24.7)	7.1 (5.3-9.6)	6.6 (6.1-7.2)	
Currently married	6.0 (5.3-6.7)	20.4 (19.3-21.5)	3.1 (2.6-3.5)	65.3 (64.2-66.5)	
Educational attainment					
≤High school	11.5 (10.0-13.3)	20.2 (18.3-22.2)	5.9 (4.9-7.1)	24.9 (23.9-25.9)	
Diploma or certificate	8.4 (7.4-9.5)	21.6 (20.2-23.1)	4.0 (3.4-4.8)	43.2 (42.0-44.4)	
Bachelor's degree or above	5.5 (4.5-6.7)	12.8 (11.5-14.4)	1.8 (1.4-2.5)	30.1 (29.0-31.2)	
Other	11.5 (7.0-18.2)	19.6 (11.9-30.5)	5.5 (3.0-9.7)	1.9 (1.6-2.2)	
Combined annual household income, A\$					
<40,000	21.1 (17.5-25.2)	17.2 (14.3-20.5)	7.9 (6.1-10.1)	11.4 (10.6-12.2)	
40,000-79,999	9.1 (7.8-10.6)	18.9 (17.1-20.9)	5.4 (4.5-6.6)	26.7 (25.6-27.8)	
≥80,000	5.2 (4.6-6.0)	19.2 (18.0-20.4)	2.5 (2.1-3.0)	61.9 (60.7-63.1)	
Employment status					
Employed	6.4 (5.8-7.0)	18.7 (17.8–19.7)	2.8 (2.5-3.3)	84.3 (83.4-85.2)	
Unemployed	19.3 (16.5-22.4)	16.9 (14.5-19.6)	9.3 (7.7-11.1)	15.7 (14.8-16.6)	
Lifestyle and Behavioral Factors					
Current smoking					
No	6.5 (5.9-7.2)	18.7 (17.7–19.7)	3.3 (2.9–3.8)	80.8 (79.9-81.7)	
Yes	16.0 (13.9-18.3)	17.3 (15.4–19.4)	5.6 (4.6-6.8)	19.2 (18.3-20.1)	
Alcohol misuse					
No	6.9 (6.1-7.9)	19.3 (18.1-20.6)	3.3 (2.8–3.8)	61.6 (60.4-62.7)	
Yes	9.6 (8.6-10.7)	18.0 (16.5-19.6)	4.2 (3.5-5.0)	38.4 (37.3-39.6)	
Fruit and vegetable intake, servings per day					

^a Values are weighted % (95% CI) unless otherwise noted.

^b Survey participants answered the following yes-no question: "Have you been treated for or had any symptoms of this condition in the past 12 months?" ^c The study used the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) to assess depression on the basis of 9 symptoms (22). The questionnaire scores each of the 9 symptoms on a frequency scale from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day), and the sum of the scores determines the presence and the degree of depression. We considered a PHQ-9 score of 10 or more to indicate moderate-to-severe depression.

^d We used BMI, calculated from self-reported body weight and standing height (body weight in kg divided by height in meters squared [kg/m²]), to measure obesity. (continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Self-Reported Characteristics of Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^a

Characteristic/Factor	Depression Only	Obesity Only	Comorbid Depression and Obesity	Total (95% CI)
Adequate (≥5)	9.0 (8.2-10.0)	18.8 (17.8-20.0)	4.0 (3.6-4.6)	33.2 (32.2-34.3)
Inadequate (<5)	6.7 (5.8-7.8)	17.7 (16.2-19.3)	3.1 (2.5-3.9)	66.8 (65.7-67.8)
Physical activity, per week	· · ·			
Sedentary (0 min and 0 sessions)	10.2 (8.3-12.4)	25.7 (22.9-28.7)	8.2 (6.6-10.3)	13.6 (12.8-14.4)
Insufficiently active (<150 min or <5 sessions)	9.3 (7.9-10.9)	20.0 (18.2-21.8)	4.9 (4.1-5.9)	29.1 (28.0-30.2)
Sufficiently active (>150 min in >5 sessions)	7.0 (6.3-7.9)	16.7 (15.5-18.0)	2.4 (2.0-2.9)	57.4 (56.2-58.6)
Chronic conditions ^b	·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Depression (PHQ-9 ≥10) ^c	_	31.2 (28.2-34.2)	_	12.5 (11.8-13.3)
Obesity (BMI ≥30 kg/m ²) ^d	16.8 (15.2-18.6)	_	_	22.2 (21.3-23.2)
Cardiovascular disease or stroke	2.7 (1.8-4.1)	2.4 (1.7-3.4)	5.6 (3.4-9.0)	1.7 (1.4-2.1)
Diabetes	3.8 (2.7-5.2)	6.6 (5.4-8.1)	14.4 (10.9-18.7)	3.2 (2.8-3.6)
Hypertension	11.7 (9.3-14.5)	20.5 (18.4-22.7)	32.7 (27.7-38.2)	9.9 (9.3-10.6)
Asthma	14.8 (12.2-18.0)	9.6 (8.2-11.1)	20.3 (15.9-25.6)	9.1 (8.5-9.8)
Arthritis	10.9 (8.5-13.9)	9.5 (8.0-11.3)	19.4 (15.2-24.4)	6.9 (6.4-7.6)
High cholesterol	9.4 (7.6-11.6)	13.8 (12.0-15.8)	26.1 (21.3-31.5)	8.8 (8.1-9.5)

^a Values are weighted % (95% CI) unless otherwise noted.

^b Survey participants answered the following yes-no question: "Have you been treated for or had any symptoms of this condition in the past 12 months?"

^c The study used the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) to assess depression on the basis of 9 symptoms (22). The questionnaire scores each of the 9 symptoms on a frequency scale from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day), and the sum of the scores determines the presence and the degree of depression. We considered a PHQ-9 score of 10 or more to indicate moderate-to-severe depression.

^d We used BMI, calculated from self-reported body weight and standing height (body weight in kg divided by height in meters squared [kg/m²]), to measure obesity.

Table 2. Prevalence and Correlates of Depression, Obesity, and Comorbid Depression and Obesity Among Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^a

Characteristic/Factor	Depression Only	Obesity Only	Comorbid Depression and Obesity	
	Sociodemographic Characteris	stics		
Age, y				
18-29	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
30-39	0.86 (0.64-1.16) [.32]	1.47 (1.14-1.91) [.004]	4.46 (2.60-7.66) [<.001]	
40-49	0.68 (0.50-0.91) [.01]	2.34 (1.82-3.01) [<.001]	4.58 (2.59-8.09) [<.001]	
50-55	0.61 (0.43-0.86) [.005]	2.22 (1.7-2.91) [<.001]	4.53 (2.50-8.21) [<.001]	
Marital status				
Never married	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Divorced/widowed/separated	1.36 (0.93-1.98) [.11]	0.90 (0.63-1.30) [.59]	0.71 (0.40-1.25) [.23]	
Currently married	0.78 (0.60-1.02) [.07]	1.04 (0.82-1.31) [.78]	0.48 (0.31-0.75) [.001]	
Educational attainment				
≤High school	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Diploma or certificate	0.92 (0.72-1.16) [.48]	0.91 (0.76-1.10) [.35]	0.72 (0.51-1.01) [.06]	
Bachelor's degree or above	0.75 (0.55-1.05) [.09]	0.60 (0.48-0.75) [<.001]	0.42 (0.27-0.67) [<.001]	
Other	1.18 (0.71-1.98) [.52]	0.96 (0.42-2.18) [.92]	1.06 (0.46-2.45) [.89]	
Combined annual household income, A\$				
<40,000	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
40,000-79,999	0.69 (0.50-0.94) [.02]	1.15 (0.82-1.61) [.42]	0.82 (0.49-1.38) [.46]	
≥80,000	0.48 (0.34-0.66) [<.001]	1.22 (0.88-1.68) [.24]	0.54 (0.32-0.93) [.03]	
Employment status				
Employed	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Unemployed	2.87 (2.17-3.78) [<.001]	1.09 (0.82-1.45) [.56]	3.33 (2.25-4.93) [<.001]	
SEIFA quartiles ^b				
First	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Second	1.03 (0.78-1.35) [.85]	0.81 (0.66-1.00) [.048]	0.95 (0.64-1.40) [.80]	
Third	0.84 (0.62-1.12) [.23]	0.75 (0.61-0.93) [.007]	0.85 (0.58-1.27) [.43]	
Fourth	0.96 (0.72-1.27) [.76]	0.54 (0.44-0.68) [<.001]	0.36 (0.23-0.56) [<.001]	
Lifestyle and Behavioral Factors				
Current smoking				
No	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Yes	1.68 (1.33-2.12) [<.001]	0.85 (0.69-1.04) [.12]	0.81 (0.55-1.17) [.26]	
Alcohol misuse				
No	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	
Yes	1.43 (1.16-1.76) [.001]	0.94 (0.80-1.10) [.44]	1.26 (0.92-1.73) [.15]	

^a All values are odds ratio (95% confidence interval) [*P* value]. All odds ratios were adjusted for other characteristics included in this table. Except for SEIFA quartiles, all data were self-reported.

^b We used the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) to measure socioeconomic status (23). Data were stratified by SEIFA quartiles (first quartile, 1–28; second quartile, 29–51, third quartile, 52–69, fourth quartile, 70–100). In this index, the higher the score (and quartile), the greater the socioeconomic advantage.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 2. Prevalence and Correlates of Depression, Obesity, and Comorbid Depression and Obesity Among Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^a

Characteristic/Factor	Depression Only	Obesity Only	Comorbid Depression and Obesity
Fruit and vegetable intake, servings per day			
Adequate (≥5)	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]
Inadequate (<5)	1.13 (0.90-1.42) [.30]	1.04 (0.89-1.22) [.59]	1.10 (0.79–1.53) [.57]
Physical activity, per week			
Sedentary (0 min and 0 sessions)	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]
Insufficiently active (<150 min or <5 sessions)	0.87 (0.65-1.16) [.34]	0.78 (0.62-0.98) [.04]	0.59 (0.40-0.87) [.008]
Sufficiently active (>150 min in >5 sessions)	0.63 (0.47-0.84) [.001]	0.68 (0.55-0.84) [<.001]	0.27 (0.17-0.41) [<.001]

^a All values are odds ratio (95% confidence interval) [*P* value]. All odds ratios were adjusted for other characteristics included in this table. Except for SEIFA quartiles, all data were self-reported.

^b We used the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) to measure socioeconomic status (23). Data were stratified by SEIFA quartiles (first quartile, 1–28; second quartile, 29–51, third quartile, 52–69, fourth quartile, 70–100). In this index, the higher the score (and quartile), the greater the socioeconomic advantage.

Table 3. Correlates of Comorbid Depression and Obesity, by SEIFA Quartiles,^a Among Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^b

Characteristic/Factor	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile		
Age, y						
18-29	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
30-39	4.32 (1.84-10.16) [.001]	3.54 (1.12-11.21) [.03]	5.30 (1.62-17.32) [.006]	5.69 (1.20-27.02) [.03]		
40-49	2.61 (1.06-6.40) [.04]	6.36 (1.98-20.39) [.002]	5.69 (1.57-20.60) [.008]	7.69 (1.58-37.29) [.01]		
50-55	4.33 (1.74-10.76) [.002]	5.67 (1.73-18.59) [.004]	3.56 (0.94-13.50) [.06]	5.28 (0.98-28.56) [.05]		
Marital status						
Never married	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Previously married	0.67 (0.30-1.52) [.34]	0.51 (0.16-1.61) [.25]	0.89 (0.26-3.06) [.86]	1.81 (0.39-8.36) [.44]		
Currently married	0.51 (0.27-0.97 [.04]	0.40 (0.17-0.96) [.04]	0.51 (0.18-1.46) [.21]	0.42 (0.13-1.31) [.13]		
Educational attainment						
≤High school	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Diploma or certificate	0.75 (0.42-1.33) [.32]	0.97 (0.53-1.80) [.93]	0.61 (0.31-1.19) [.15]	0.45 (0.15-1.30) [.14]		
Bachelor's degree or above	0.32 (0.12-0.84) [.02]	0.73 (0.33-1.61) [.43]	0.31 (0.13-0.77) [.01]	0.41(0.14-1.16) [.09]		
Other	0.77 (0.13-4.48) [.77]	1.05 (0.25-4.49) [.94]	4.08 (1.01-16.41) [.048]	_c		
Combined annual household income, A\$						
<40,000	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
40,000-79,999	1.04 (0.48-2.23) [.92]	1.25 (0.49-3.15) [.64]	0.51 (0.17-1.54) [.23]	0.20 (0.05-0.91) [.04]		
≥80,000	0.55 (0.23-1.30) [.17]	0.80 (0.32-1.97) [.62]	0.32 (0.10-1.01) [.05]	0.59 (0.18-1.95) [.39]		
Employment status						
Employed	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Unemployed	3.06 (1.64-5.71) [<.001]	3.70 (1.76-7.78) [.001]	3.42 (1.47-7.92) [.004]	4.71 (1.68-13.21) [.003]		
Current smoking						
No	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Yes	0.89 (0.53-1.50) [.66]	0.70 (0.36-1.38) [.30]	1.06 (0.43-2.60) [.90]	0.58 (0.20-1.69) [.32]		
Alcohol misuse						
No	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Yes	1.05 (0.61-1.81) [.86]	1.07 (0.56-2.05) [.84]	1.58 (0.80-3.09) [.18]	1.73 (0.82-3.63) [.15]		
Fruit and vegetable intake, servings per day						
≥5	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
<5	0.79 (0.45-1.40) [.43]	1.20 (0.60-2.41) [.60]	1.67 (0.87-3.17) [.12]	1.47 (0.68-3.16) [.32]		
Physical activity						
Sedentary (0 min and 0 sessions)	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]		
Insufficiently active (<150 min or <5 sessions)	0.62 (0.32-1.23) [.17]	0.36 (0.18-0.73) [.004]	0.58 (0.28-1.20) [.14]	0.84 (0.30-2.35) [.74]		
Sufficiently active (>150 min in >5 sessions)	0.26 (0.12-0.56) [.001]	0.28 (0.14-0.60) [.001]	0.27 (0.12-0.58) [.001]	0.17 (0.05-0.55) [.003]		

^a We used the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) to measure socioeconomic status (23). Data were stratified by SEIFA quartiles (first quartile, 1–28; second quartile, 29–51, third quartile, 52–69, fourth quartile, 70–100). In this index, the higher the score (and quartile), the greater the socioeconomic advantage. ^b All values are odds ratio (95% confidence interval) [*P* value].

^c Numbers too small to make calculation.

Table 4. Association Between Comorbid Depression and Obesity and Other Noncommunicable Diseases Among Men Aged 18 to 55 Participating in Wave 1 of the Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men Study) (N = 13,763), October 2013–July 2014^a

Noncommunicable Disease	Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval) [<i>P</i> Value]	Synergy Index (95% Confidence Interval) ^b
Cardiovascular disease/stroke		
Depressive symptoms only	1.54 (0.75-3.16) [.24]	_
Obesity only	1.25 (0.71-2.20) [.45]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	1.86 (0.70-5.00) [.22]	1.10 (0.11-11.31)
Diabetes		
Depressive symptoms only	2.26 (1.19-4.28) [.01]	_
Obesity only	3.67 (2.44-5.53) [<.001]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	7.62 (4.51-12.87) [<.001]	1.68 (0.92-3.08)
Hypertension		
Depressive symptoms only	2.29 (1.61-3.26) [<.001]	_
Obesity only	3.36 (2.69-4.19) [<.001]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	6.74 (4.73-9.60) [<.001]	1.57 (1.02–2.44)
Asthma		
Depressive symptoms only	1.81 (1.29–2.52) [.001]	-
Obesity only	1.36 (1.08–1.72) [.01]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	2.69 (1.81-4.00) [<.001]	1.45 (0.66-3.19)
Arthritis		
Depressive symptoms only	1.42 (0.94-2.13) [.09]	_
Obesity only	1.35 (1.03–1.77) [.03]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	3.02 (2.07-4.40) [<.001]	2.62 (0.98-7.01)
High cholesterol		
Depressive symptoms only	1.72 (1.18-2.51) [.004]	_
Obesity only	1.90 (1.48-2.43) [<.001]	_
Depressive symptoms and obesity	4.31 (2.93-6.34) [<.001]	2.04 (1.11-3.75)

^a Outcome variables were each of the noncommunicable diseases. Main predictor was combination of depression and obesity. All models were adjusted for the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (23), age, income, marital status, educational attainment, smoking, alcohol, physical activity, and employment.

^b The synergy index shows the excess risk from comorbid depression and obesity when compared with the sum of independent risks from depression and obesity. For example, a synergy index of 2 means the risk of high cholesterol among men with comorbid depression and obesity is 2 times the sum of independent risks from depression and obesity.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 17, E29

APRIL 2020

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Trouble Sleeping and Depression Among US Women Aged 20 to 30 Years

Rifath Ara Alam Barsha, MBBS, MPH¹; Mian B. Hossain, PhD, MHS, MS¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/19 0262.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Barsha RAA, Hossain MB. Trouble Sleeping and Depression Among US Women Aged 20 to 30 Years. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:190262. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.5888/pcd17.190262.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Sleep problems are associated with depression; however, little is known about this association among young women in the United States.

What is added by this report?

Women aged 20 to 30 who reported having trouble sleeping were 4.1 times significantly more likely to have experienced depression in the previous 2 weeks after accounting for several covariates.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Regular screening and treatment of sleep disturbances are needed among US women aged 20 to 30 to reduce the prevalence of depression among this population.

Abstract

Introduction

Depression in women is common, and 1 woman in 4 is likely to have an episode of major depression at some point in her life. Sleep disturbances, which are significantly associated with depression, are increasingly recognized as a determinant of women's health and well-being. Although studies have examined the association between depression and sleep disorders, little research has explored this association among young women. Our study investigated the relationship between sleep problems and depression among women aged 20 to 30.

Methods

We used data on 1,747 women from the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2009–2016. In addition to univariate and bivariate analysis, we used unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression models to estimate depression in the previous 2 weeks among women who reported ever having trouble sleeping.

Results

Of 1,747 study participants, 19.6% reported trouble sleeping and 9.3% reported symptoms of depression. Weighted logistic regression results showed that women who had trouble sleeping were more than 4 times (odds ratio, 4.36; 95% confidence interval, 3.06-6.21; P < .001) more likely than women who did not have trouble sleeping to have had depression in the previous 2 weeks. The results were similar (adjusted odds ratio, 4.11; 95% confidence interval, 2.78–6.06; P < .001) after adjusting for other covariates.

Conclusion

We found a significant relationship between trouble sleeping and depression among US women aged 20 to 30. Findings suggest the need for regular screening and treatment of sleep disturbances among young women, which may improve their psychological health and reduce depression.

Introduction

Depression is one of the most common psychiatric disorders. In the United States, depressive disorders were the second leading cause of years lived with disability in 2010 (1). Women are more likely to have depression than men. During 2013–2016, 10.4% of US women aged 20 or older had depression in a given 2-week period and were almost twice as likely as men (5.5%) to have had depression (2). Although this sex difference persists throughout the female lifespan, it seems to vary according to reproductive stage (puberty, the week or so before menstruation, after pregnancy, and perimenopause) (3). Female hormonal fluctuation may be a trigger for depression (3). Depression is associated with decreased physical, cognitive, and social function; it is often chronic and impairs quality of life (4). Depression is predicted to be the leading cause of disease burden by 2030, and it is already the leading cause of disease burden in young adult women worldwide (3).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/19_0262.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Therefore, treatment and prevention of depression have become an important topic in the field of public health.

Sleep is an important determinant of a person's overall health and well-being. Sleep, as a critical health-related factor, plays a role in the development of many diseases and even all-cause mortality (5). Sleep disturbance is one of the most common health complaints among young adults (6,7). Although 7 to 9 hours of sleep per night on weeknights is recommended for young and midlife adults (8), 40% of US adults have reported fewer than 7 hours of sleep per night (9). Of young adults aged 19 to 29, 67% reported not getting enough sleep to function properly (10). Many psychosocial, biological, and environmental factors contribute to insufficient sleep and sleep disturbance among young adults. The high prevalence of sleep-related disturbances may be partially due to increased academic, social, and work demands (11). Female sex is also a risk factor for sleep problems. Several studies showed that young adult women are twice as likely as young men to have poor sleep (12,13). Thus, young women appear to be a particularly vulnerable population to both sleep problems and depression.

Previous studies suggested an association between depression and sleep disturbances in older people (14,15) and an association between sleep disturbances and poor quality of life among women (16). Less research has been conducted among young adults, who are at particular risk of sleep problems and alterations in circadian timing as a result of developmental and social influences. This age group is at an important stage of life, when early interventions or treatment of sleep problems may have clinical implications. Little research has explored the relationship between sleep and depression among young women, even though the correlates of depression may differ between young women and older women. Understanding the relationships between sleep and depression and correlates among young women may increase the potential to intervene and improve mental health outcomes before they become clinically concerning. The objective of our study was to assess the relationship between trouble sleeping and depression among US women aged 20 to 30 and to determine whether trouble sleeping increased the odds of depression in this population. We hypothesized that ever having trouble sleeping would be associated with depression among women in this age group.

Methods

We used data from the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) for 2009–2016. NHANES is a cross-sectional survey representing the noninstitutionalized civilian resident population of the United States (17). Each year, about 5,000 people are interviewed in their homes and complete the health examination components of the survey, which include medical, dental, and physiological measurements and laboratory test evaluations, usually administered in specially designed and equipped mobile examination centers located throughout the country. Interview teams consist of physicians, medical and health technicians, and trained dietary and health interviewers. The survey excludes all persons living on military bases and in institutional settings and all US citizens residing outside the 50 states and District of Columbia (17). Our analytic sample consisted of 1,747 women aged 20 to 30 who participated in NHANES at 4 sampling time points (2009-2010, 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016). We excluded pregnant women because pregnancy can be psychologically stressful and affect normal sleep. NHANES received approval from the National Center for Health Statistics Research Ethics Review Board, and all participants provided informed consent. Because NHANES is a public-use data set, this study was exempt from full institutional review board review. A detailed description of the data and the analytical guidelines are available elsewhere (17).

Assessments

The sleep disorders questionnaire was administered in the home by computer-assisted personal interview during the initial survey participant interview. Participants were asked the following question about trouble sleeping: "Have you ever told a doctor or other health professional that you have trouble sleeping?" If the participant's response to this question was yes, she was considered to have trouble sleeping.

Depressive symptoms were assessed via the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), a self-administered questionnaire that assesses depressive symptoms according to the guidelines of the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) (18). Each question is scored according to the frequency of the symptom during the previous 2 weeks, and responses are made on the following scale: not at all (0), several days (1), more than half the days (2), and nearly every day (3). The PHQ-9 is considered an effective tool for assessing depressive symptoms and a reliable tool for determining instances of both subthreshold and major depression among population samples (19). A total PHQ-9 score greater than 9 (of a possible 27) indicates the presence of depression in single-screening assessments (20), and we used this cutoff. Depression was treated as the dependent variable in our analysis.

Descriptive variables

Descriptive variables were age group (20–25 and 26–30), race/ethnicity (Hispanic, non-Hispanic white, non-Hispanic black, and other), education level (<high school graduate, high school graduate, some college, and college graduate or above), marital status

(married/living together, widowed/divorced/separated, and never married), family size (1 or 2, 3 or 4, \geq 5), poverty level (below 100% federal poverty level [FPL], 100%–199% FPL, 200%–299% FPL, and \geq 300% FPL), health insurance (yes, has insurance vs no, does not have insurance), diabetes (yes, has diabetes vs no, does not have diabetes), and ever use of marijuana (yes vs no). The information was collected via home interview at the time of the assessments.

Statistical analysis

NHANES uses a stratified, multistage complex survey design to enhance the representativeness of the US population. We followed the analytical guidelines suggested by NHANES. Weighting was applied to account for the sampling strata and the primary sampling unit and to adjust for oversampling and survey nonresponse. Because of the complex survey design of NHANES, we used the svy command in Stata version 14 (StataCorp LLP) to obtain correct variance estimation. We conducted descriptive analysis (means and proportions) of our study population. We used χ^2 analysis to conduct bivariate analysis between all independent variables and the dependent variable (depression). Because depression is a dichotomous variable, we estimated several unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression models. We tabulated results of logistic regression models as odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for all independent variables for both unadjusted and adjusted models. All percentages were reported as weighted percentages. Significance level was set at $P \leq .05$.

Results

Approximately 9.3% of our sample of 1,747 women reported having depression in the previous 2 weeks (Table 1). The prevalence of having trouble sleeping was 19.6%. Among women who reported trouble sleeping, 22.3% reported having depression in the previous 2 weeks. Most (55.9%) of the women in our sample were aged 20 to 25. Most were non-Hispanic white (59.4%), followed by Hispanic (17.7%), non-Hispanic black (13.5%), and other races (9.4%). About two-fifths (41.9%) had some college. Most women (48.1%) were married or living together, and about 25.4% were living below 100% of the FPL. Most respondents had health insurance coverage (75.6%). More than half (57.9%) reported ever using marijuana, and marijuana use was more common among women who reported having a sleep problem (70.3%).

Depression was significantly more prevalent among women who reported ever having trouble sleeping (22.6%) than among women reporting no trouble (6.5%) and significantly more prevalent among women aged 20 to 25 (10.7%) than among women aged 26 to 30 (8.1%) (Table 2). The prevalence of depression was higher among women who did not complete high school (12.9%) than

among women with a high school degree (11.3%), some college (10.7%), or a college degree or above (4.1%). Similarly, the prevalence of depression was also significantly higher among women living below 100% of the FPL (12.9%) than among women in other categories of income, among women without health insurance than among women with health insurance (12.8% vs 8.3%), among women with diabetes than among women without diabetes (24.0% vs 9.3%), and among women who ever used marijuana than among women who never used it (12.9% vs 5.4%).

Trouble sleeping was significantly associated with depression among women aged 20 to 30 (Table 3). In the unadjusted model, women who reported trouble sleeping were more than 4 times more likely than women who did not report trouble sleeping to have had depression in the previous 2 weeks (OR, 4.36; 95% CI, 3.06-6.21; P < .001). The odds of depression remained high and significant (AOR, 4.11; 95% CI, 2.78–6.06; P < .001) among women who reported having trouble sleeping after controlling for the effect of the covariates in the model. Age was not significantly associated with depression. Education had an inverse relationship with depression: the higher the level of education, the lower the odds of depression.

In the adjusted model, compared with women who had at least a college degree, women with some college were about 2 times more likely (AOR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.01–3.45; P = .046) to have depression in the previous 2 weeks. Women who were widowed, divorced, or separated (AOR, 2.46; 95% CI, 1.08–5.62; P = .03) or never married (AOR, 1.74, 95% CI, 1.03-2.94; P = .04) were more likely to have depression than women who were married or living together. Family size was not significantly associated with depression; however, FPL was. Women living below 100% of the FPL were 86% more likely to have depression (AOR, 1.86; 95% CI, 1.02–3.38; P = .04) than women living at or above 300% FPL. Additionally, women with health insurance were 35% (AOR, 0.65; 95% CI, 0.42–0.98; P = .04) less likely to have depression than women who did not have health insurance. Having diabetes increased the odds of having depression (AOR, 3.99; 95% CI, 1.06-15.13; P = .04). Furthermore, ever marijuana use among women was significantly associated with depression. Women who ever used marijuana were 1.84 times (AOR, 1.84; 95% CI, 1.09–3.12; P = .02) more likely to have depression than women who did not use marijuana.

Discussion

Our study demonstrated a strong and significant association between trouble sleeping and depression in a nationally representative sample of US women aged 20 to 30. Young women who reported trouble sleeping were significantly more likely to have de-

pression than those who had no sleep problems. After adjusting for several socioeconomic, demographic, and health-related factors (ie, race/ethnicity, age, education, marital status, family size, poverty status, health insurance status, diabetes, and marijuana use), the association remained significant.

Although previous research is scant in similar populations, our findings on sleep problems among young women are consistent with those in a previous study of young women in Australia, which showed an increased risk of depression among women who reported sleep difficulties (21). Another important finding of our study is that women with lower educational attainment were more likely to report depression than those with more education; for example, women with only some college were significantly more likely than women with a college degree or more to report depression. An association between lower educational attainment and higher risk for depressive disorders was shown in previous studies. A meta-analysis found a 3% decrease in the log odds ratio for depression for each additional year of education (22). Several studies also documented the relationship between educational attainment and sleep problems: higher levels of education were associated with fewer sleep complaints (23,24). Our finding on the relationship between education and depression may be important because it strengthens evidence for the idea that obtaining higher levels of education may protect against depression among young women. Considering the possible protective role of education against depression, we further analyzed the interaction between education and sleep. However, the interaction model was not significant; hence, we did not present these findings here.

We also found a higher prevalence of depression among women living below the FPL. This finding is also congruent with previous research findings. One study reported a higher prevalence of depression in people of low socioeconomic status (25). In that study, women had a 40% greater risk of past-month depression than men, and women with income levels below the FPL had twice the risk of depression of men (25). Therefore, interventions aimed at reducing the burden of depression may need to target vulnerable populations of young women who have limited financial resources.

We found that depression was significantly associated with health insurance status and was less common among women with health insurance than among those without. This finding may be particularly important because previous research showed that uninsured people with depression and other mental illnesses were less likely than insured people to receive appropriate care (26). Furthermore, our study found that women with diabetes were significantly more likely to have depression. The prevalence of depression is higher among people with diabetes than among the general population (27). Therefore, health care providers should be aware of mental as well as physical health when treating patients with diabetes. This finding implies that health care professionals may have an important role in moderating the psychological burden of a diabetes diagnosis by addressing the patient's psychosocial support.

Comorbidity of depression and marijuana use has been studied extensively, with evidence showing a high prevalence of depression among marijuana users (28). Our study found a higher prevalence of depression among young women who ever used marijuana than among women who had never used it, which is consistent with previous research (28). However, we could not differentiate between recreational and medical marijuana use. Given the changing political landscape of marijuana use, further studies focused on the potential effects and differences between recreational and medical marijuana use on depression among young women will be needed to shape prevention and treatment strategies.

Although our χ^2 test found that women aged 20 to 25 were significantly more likely than women aged 26 to 30 to report depression, this relationship between age and depression was not significant after we adjusted for other covariates. That this relationship became nonsignificant may have been due to the small sample size or the effects of other factors contributing to the relationship. However, one previous study documented that the prevalence of major depression decreased with age (29). Therefore, younger age may be significantly associated with depression, and future research should further investigate the relationship between age and depression.

Our study has several strengths. Our research included a large, population-based, representative sample of young women in the assessment of the association between sleep disturbances and depression, allowing broad generalization of the results. Additionally, the NHANES data set provides information on a large sample of the general population, rather than on a specific patient group, and thereby provides information on the degree of disease burden at this level. Moreover, we made statistical adjustments for differences in a number of health and lifestyle covariates. Such an approach provided a more detailed assessment of the strength of the association.

Our study has several limitations. Although some people may have sleep disturbances before developing depressive symptoms, some may have a depression disorder before the onset of sleep disturbances. The cross-sectional design of our analysis did not allow for interpretation of the direction of the relationship, and a causal relationship cannot be inferred. Moreover, the cross-sectional design and use of secondary data limited the scope of the variable of interest. Additionally, our study estimated the prevalence of trouble sleeping among young women who ever reported having sleep disturbances to a doctor or a health professional.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Therefore, we could not differentiate between women with recent sleep disturbances and women with former sleep disturbances. Another limitation of the study was that most of the information collected was self-reported. However, despite these limitations, we believe this nationally representative sample provides some insight into associations between sleep disturbance and depression among young women in the United States.

Women aged 20 to 30 with sleep disturbances should have access to screening and treatment from health professionals, and appropriate interventions should be directed to reduce depression in this vulnerable population. The association between trouble sleeping and depression has public health implications: young women seeking treatment for sleep problems may need to be screened for depression. Interventions that are designed to help such women may result in a decreased prevalence of depression in this population. Sleep is essential, and healthy sleep should be as important as healthy nutrition and physical activity in promoting overall health.

Acknowledgments

We thank the National Center for Health Statistics of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention for conducting the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey and for making the data available for the study. No conflicts of interest were reported by the authors, and this research did not receive any funding from agencies in the public, commercial, or nonprofit sectors. No copyrighted materials were used in the conduct of this research or in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Mian B. Hossain, PhD, MHS, MS, Professor of Biostatistics, School of Community Health and Policy, Morgan State University, Portage Bldg, Rm 219, 1700 E Cold Spring Ln, Baltimore, MD 21251. Telephone: 443-885-4132. Email: mian.hossain@morgan.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹School of Community Health and Policy, Morgan State University, Baltimore, Maryland.

References

1. Murray CJL, Atkinson C, Bhalla K, Birbeck G, Burstein R, Chou D, et al. The state of US health, 1990–2010: burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. JAMA 2013; 310(6):591–608.

- 2. Brody DJ, Pratt LA, Hughes JP. Prevalence of depression among adults aged 20 and over: United States, 2013–2016. NCHS Data Brief 2018;(303):1–8.
- 3. Albert PR. Why is depression more prevalent in women? J Psychiatry Neurosci 2015;40(4):219–21.
- 4. Daly EJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Gaynes BN, Warden D, et al. Health-related quality of life in depression: a STAR*D report. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2010; 22(1):43–55.
- 5. Li Y, Wu Y, Zhai L, Wang T, Sun Y, Zhang D. Longitudinal association of sleep duration with depressive symptoms among middle-aged and older Chinese. Sci Rep 2017;7(1):11794.
- 6. Hicks RA, Mistry R, Lucero K, Lee L, Pellegrini R. The sleep duration and sleep satisfaction of college students: striking changes over the last decade (1978–1988). Percept Mot Skills 1989;68(3 Pt 1):806.
- 7. Ford DE, Kamerow DB. Epidemiologic study of sleep disturbances and psychiatric disorders. An opportunity for prevention? JAMA 1989;262(11):1479–84.
- Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, Alessi C, Bruni O, DonCarlos L, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. Sleep Health 2015;1(1):40–3.
- 9. Levenson JC, Shensa A, Sidani JE, Colditz JB, Primack BA. The association between social media use and sleep disturbance among young adults. Prev Med 2016;85:36–41.
- 10. Gradisar M, Wolfson AR, Harvey AG, Hale L, Rosenberg R, Czeisler CA. The sleep and technology use of Americans: findings from the National Sleep Foundation's 2011 Sleep in America poll. J Clin Sleep Med 2013;9(12):1291–9.
- Yang C-M, Wu C-H, Hsieh M-H, Liu M-H, Lu F-H. Coping with sleep disturbances among young adults: a survey of firstyear college students in Taiwan. Behav Med 2003; 29(3):133-8.
- 12. Hale L, Do DP, Basurto-Davila R, Heron M, Finch BK, Dubowitz T, et al. Does mental health history explain gender disparities in insomnia symptoms among young adults? Sleep Med 2009;10(10):1118–23.
- Leger D, Guilleminault C, Dreyfus JP, Delahaye C, Paillard M. Prevalence of insomnia in a survey of 12,778 adults in France. J Sleep Res 2000;9(1):35–42.
- 14. Yokoyama E, Kaneita Y, Saito Y, Uchiyama M, Matsuzaki Y, Tamaki T, et al. Association between depression and insomnia subtypes: a longitudinal study on the elderly in Japan. Sleep 2010;33(12):1693–702.
- 15. Roberts RE, Shema SJ, Kaplan GA, Strawbridge WJ. Sleep complaints and depression in an aging cohort: a prospective perspective. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157(1):81–8.

- 16. Byles JE, Mishra GD, Harris MA. The experience of insomnia among older women. Sleep 2005;28(8):972–9.
- 17. Johnson CL, Paulose-Ram R, Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kruszon-Moran D, Dohrmann SM, et al. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: analytic guidelines, 1999–2010. Vital Health Stat 2 2013;(161):1–24.
- Hunter JC, DeVellis BM, Jordan JM, Sue Kirkman M, Linnan LA, Rini C, et al. The association of depression and diabetes across methods, measures, and study contexts. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol 2018;4(1):1.
- 19. Hayley AC, Williams LJ, Venugopal K, Kennedy GA, Berk M, Pasco JA. The relationships between insomnia, sleep apnoea and depression: findings from the American National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2005–2008. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2015;49(2):156–70.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: A new depression diagnostic and severity measure. Psychiatr Ann 2002; 32(9):509-15.
- 21. Jackson ML, Sztendur EM, Diamond NT, Byles JE, Bruck D. Sleep difficulties and the development of depression and anxiety: a longitudinal study of young Australian women. Arch Women Ment Health 2014;17(3):189–98.
- Lorant V, Deliège D, Eaton W, Robert A, Philippot P, Ansseau M. Socioeconomic inequalities in depression: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157(2):98–112.
- 23. Grandner MA, Patel NP, Gehrman PR, Xie D, Sha D, Weaver T, et al. Who gets the best sleep? Ethnic and socioeconomic factors related to sleep complaints. Sleep Med 2010; 11(5):470–8.
- 24. Gellis LA, Lichstein KL, Scarinci IC, Durrence HH, Taylor DJ, Bush AJ, et al. Socioeconomic status and insomnia. J Abnorm Psychol 2005;114(1):111–8.
- 25. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Koretz D, Merikangas KR, et al.; National Comorbidity Survey Replication. The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). JAMA 2003;289(23):3095–105.
- 26. McWilliams JM. Health consequences of uninsurance among adults in the United States: recent evidence and implications. Milbank Q 2009;87(2):443–94.
- 27. Bădescu SV, Tătaru C, Kobylinska L, Georgescu EL, Zahiu DM, Zăgrean AM, et al. The association between diabetes mellitus and depression. J Med Life 2016;9(2):120–5.
- 28. Chen C-Y, Wagner FA, Anthony JC. Marijuana use and the risk of major depressive episode. Epidemiological evidence from the United States National Comorbidity Survey. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2002;37(5):199–206.

29. Kessler RC, Birnbaum HG, Shahly V, Bromet E, Hwang I, McLaughlin KA, et al. Age differences in the prevalence and co-morbidity of DSM-IV major depressive episodes: results from the WHO World Mental Health Survey Initiative. Depress Anxiety 2010;27(4):351–64.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of the Study Sample (N = 1,747), Women Aged 20–30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 2009–2016^a

	Trouble S		
Variable	No, n (%)	Yes, n (%)	Total, n (%)
Total	1,420 (80.4)	327 (19.6)	1,747 (100.0)
Depression in previous 2 weeks	· · · · · ·		
No	1,327 (93.8)	253 (77.7)	1,580 (90.7)
Yes	93 (6.2)	74 (22.3)	167 (9.3)
Age, y ^b			
20-25	809 (57.3)	164 (50.1)	973 (55.9)
26-30	611 (42.7)	163 (49.9)	774 (44.1)
Race/ethnicity			
Hispanic	381 (18.7)	66 (13.4)	447 (17.7)
Non-Hispanic white	510 (57.2)	160 (68.3)	670 (59.4)
Non-Hispanic black	317 (14.3)	59 (10.5)	376 (13.5)
Other	212 (9.8)	42 (7.7)	254 (9.4)
Education			
<high graduate<="" school="" td=""><td>195 (10.6)</td><td>46 (12.2)</td><td>241 (11.0)</td></high>	195 (10.6)	46 (12.2)	241 (11.0)
High school graduate	286 (18.9)	67 (21.7)	353 (19.4)
Some college	590 (41.5)	148 (43.3)	738 (41.9)
≥College graduate	349 (28.9)	66 (22.8)	415 (27.7)
Marital status			
Married/living together	643 (47.9)	148 (48.9)	791 (48.1)
Widowed/divorced/separated	51 (3.7)	23 (6.2)	74 (4.2)
Never married	726 (48.4)	156 (44.9)	882 (47.7)
Family size ^c			
1 or 2	535 (43.6)	123 (39.7)	658 (42.8)
3 or 4	522 (37.3)	131 (42.3)	653 (38.3)
≥5	363 (19.1)	73 (18.0)	436 (18.9)
Percentage of federal poverty level			
<100	445 (24.5)	115 (29.1)	560 (25.4)
100-199	373 (22.9)	79 (25.1)	452 (23.3)
200-299	212 (17.4)	39 (13.1)	251 (16.6)
≥300	390 (35.3)	94 (32.7)	484 (34.7)
Has health insurance			
No	427 (25.6)	66 (19.5)	493 (24.4)

Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.

^a Percentages and means were weighted and incorporated NHANES sample weights.

^b Mean (SD) age was 24.9 (3.2) years.

^c Mean (SD) family size was 3.3 (1.8).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of the Study Sample (N = 1,747), Women Aged 20–30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 2009–2016^a

	Trouble S		
Variable	No, n (%)	Yes, n (%)	Total, n (%)
Yes	993 (74.4)	261 (80.5)	1,254 (75.6)
Has diabetes	-		
No	1,402 (99.0)	320 (97.9)	1,722 (98.8)
Yes	18 (1.0)	7 (2.1)	25 (1.2)
Ever used marijuana	-		
No	682 (45.1)	107 (29.7)	789 (42.1)
Yes	738 (54.9)	220 (70.3)	958 (57.9)

Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.

^a Percentages and means were weighted and incorporated NHANES sample weights.

^b Mean (SD) age was 24.9 (3.2) years.

^c Mean (SD) family size was 3.3 (1.8).

Table 2. Bivariate Relationship Between Ever Having Trouble Sleeping and Depression in Previous 2 Weeks Among Women Aged 20-30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009-2016

	Depression in Pre	χ ² Test (<i>P</i> Value ^b)	
Variable	No, n (%) ^a Yes, n (%)		
Total	1,580 (90.7)	167 (9.3)	NA
Ever have trouble sleeping	· · · · ·		
No	1,327 (93.5)	93 (6.5)	166.7 (<.001)
Yes	253 (77.4)	74 (22.6)	
Age, y	·	· · ·	
20-25	869 (89.3)	104 (10.7)	13.9 (.01)
26-30	711 (91.9)	63 (8.1)	
Race/ethnicity	·	· · ·	
Hispanic	412 (92.2)	35 (7.8)	13.6 (.06)
Non-Hispanic white	597 (89.1)	73 (10.9)	
Non-Hispanic black	329 (87.5)	47 (12.5)	
Other	242 (95.3)	12 (4.7)	
Education	· · ·		
<high graduate<="" school="" td=""><td>210 (87.1)</td><td>31 (12.9)</td><td>56.3 (<.001)</td></high>	210 (87.1)	31 (12.9)	56.3 (<.001)
High school graduate	313 (88.7)	40 (11.3)	
Some college	659 (89.3)	79 (10.7)	
≥College graduate	398 (95.9)	17 (4.1)	
Marital status			
Married/living together	733 (92.7)	58 (7.3)	31.6 (.005)
Widowed/divorced/separated	60 (81.1)	14 (18.9)	
Never married	787 (89.2)	95 (10.8)	
Family size	· · ·		
1 or 2	600 (91.2)	58 (8.8)	7.9 (.20)
3 or 4	582 (89.1)	71 (10.9)	
≥5	398 (91.3)	38 (8.7)	
Percentage of federal poverty level	· · · · ·		
<100	488 (87.1)	72 (12.9)	51.3 (<.001)
100-199	401 (88.7)	51 (11.3)	
200-299	233 (92.8)	18 (7.2)	
≥300	458 (94.6)	26 (5.4)	
Has health insurance	· · ·		
No	430 (87.2)	63 (12.8)	21.2 (.001)
Yes	1,150 (91.7)	104 (8.3)	
Has diabetes	· ·		

Abbreviation: NA, not applicable.

^a Percentages are row percentages. ^b P values were determined by χ^2 test on the weighted data.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 2. Bivariate Relationship Between Ever Having Trouble Sleeping and Depression in Previous 2 Weeks Among Women Aged 20–30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2016

	Depression in	Previous 2 Weeks	
Variable	No, n (%) ^a	Yes, n (%)	χ ² Test (<i>P</i> Value ^b)
No	1,561 (90.7)	161 (9.3)	34.3 (.001)
Yes	19 (76.0)	6 (24.0)	
Ever used marijuana			
No	746 (94.6)	43 (5.4)	44.1 (<.001)
Yes	834 (87.1)	124 (12.9)	

Abbreviation: NA, not applicable.

^a Percentages are row percentages.

^b *P* values were determined by χ^2 test on the weighted data.

Table 3. Odds Ratios and Confidence Intervals for the Logistic Regression Estimate for the Relationship Between Ever Trouble Sleeping and Depression in Past 2 Weeks Among Women Aged 20–30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2016

		Depression in Past 2 Weeks			
	Unadjusted Mode	Unadjusted Model		Adjusted Model	
Covariate	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value	AOR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value ^a	
Ever have trouble sleeping		I			
No		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Yes	4.36 (3.06-6.21)	<.001	4.11 (2.78-6.06)	<.001	
Age, y	· · ·	·	·		
20-25	1.57 (1.09-2.26)	.01	1.39 (0.99-1.97)	.06	
26-30		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Race/ethnicity					
Hispanic	0.74 (0.47-1.17)	.19	0.70 (0.43-1.15)	.15	
Non-Hispanic white		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Non-Hispanic black	1.34 (0.91-1.98)	.13	1.08 (0.68-1.71)	.74	
Other race	0.58 (0.28-1.22)	.15	0.69 (0.31-1.59)	.39	
Education					
<high graduate<="" school="" td=""><td>4.14 (1.95-8.78)</td><td><.001</td><td>2.32 (0.94-5.72)</td><td>.07</td></high>	4.14 (1.95-8.78)	<.001	2.32 (0.94-5.72)	.07	
High school graduate	3.97 (1.97-8.00)	<.001	2.00 (0.93-4.29)	.08	
Some college	3.24 (1.75-5.98)	<.001	1.88 (1.01-3.45)	.046	
≥College graduate		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Marital status					
Married/living together		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Widowed/divorced/separated	2.88 (1.37-6.05)	.006	2.46 (1.08-5.62)	.03	
Never married	1.77 (1.15-2.73)	.01	1.74 (1.03-2.94)	.04	
Family size					
1 or 2	0.82 (0.51-1.29)	.38	0.89 (0.53-1.49)	.67	
3 or 4	1.18 (0.75-1.84)	.47	1.17 (0.71-1.95)	.53	
≥5		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Percentage of federal poverty level					
<100	2.89 (1.76-4.75)	<.001	1.86 (1.02-3.38)	.04	
100-199	2.39 (1.37-4.15)	.003	1.67 (0.87-3.19)	.12	
200-299	1.51 (0.76-3.00)	.23	1.30 (0.58-2.92)	.52	
≥300		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Has health insurance					
No		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]	
Yes	0.57 (0.41-0.79)	.001	0.65 (0.42-0.98)	.04	
Has diabetes					

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.

^a *P* values were determined by *t* test.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Odds Ratios and Confidence Intervals for the Logistic Regression Estimate for the Relationship Between Ever Trouble Sleeping and Depression in Past 2 Weeks Among Women Aged 20–30, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2016

	Depression in Past 2 Weeks			
	Unadjusted Model		Adjusted Model	
Covariate	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value	AOR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value ^a
No		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]
Yes	5.62 (1.81-17.4)	.003	3.99 (1.06-15.1)	.04
Ever used marijuana				
No		1 [Reference]		1 [Reference]
Yes	2.38 (1.51-3.77)	<.001	1.84 (1.09-3.12)	.02

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.

^a *P* values were determined by *t* test.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 14, E136

DECEMBER 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Time-Varying Effects of Parental Alcoholism on Depression

Sunita Thapa, MPH¹; Arielle S. Selya, PhD²; Yvonne Jonk, PhD²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/17_0100.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Thapa S, Selya AS, Jonk Y. Time-Varying Effects of Parental Alcoholism on Depression. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:170100. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.170100.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Children of alcoholic parents are at increased risk for lifetime depression. However, little is known about how this risk may change in magnitude across age, especially in mid-adulthood and beyond.

Methods

We used a nationally representative sample (N = 36,057) of US adults from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, wave III. After adjusting for demographic characteristics, we examined the relationship between parental alcoholism and outcomes of 1) major depressive disorder, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5th edition (DSM-5) and 2) DSM-5 persistent depressive disorder. To examine continuous moderation of this relationship across participants' age, we used time-varying effect models.

Results

Parental alcoholism was associated in general with a higher risk for both major depressive disorder (odds ratio [OR], 1.98, 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.85–2.11; P < .001) and persistent depressive disorder (OR, 2.28, 95% CI, 2.04–2.55; P < .001). The association between parental alcoholism and major depressive disorder was stable and positive across age, but the association with persistent depressive disorder significantly declined among older adults; respondents older than 73 years old were not at increased risk for persistent depressive disorder.

Conclusions

Findings from this study show that the risk of parental alcoholism on depression is significant and stable among individuals of a wide age range, with the exception of a decline in persistent depressive risk among older adults. These findings highlight the importance of screening for depression among adults with parental alcoholism.

Introduction

Parental alcoholism has various negative physical, mental, and social consequences. Chief among these is depression; offspring of alcoholics are at heightened risk of depressive mood symptoms (1,2). The evidence for heightened depression among those exposed to parental alcoholism is particularly strong among young, college-aged adults (3,4).

Much of the research on the association between parental alcoholism and depression focuses on the question of resilience among adult children of alcoholics; that is, whether these individuals are ever able to overcome the challenges of parental alcoholism. Although some evidence suggests that older adults (those in their late 20s and early 30s) are more resilient than are young adults (those aged 18 through their early 20s) (5), there is little research on the effects of parental alcoholism among offspring of alcoholics in mid- to late adulthood, making their longer-term resilience unknown. Furthermore, the question of increased resilience at older ages assumes that the magnitude of the effect of parental alcoholism changes with increasing age; however, such age-varying effects have not yet been examined.

This study examined 1) the association between parental alcoholism and lifetime outcomes of both major depressive disorder (MDD) and persistent depressive disorder (PDD) among a full range of adults after controlling for demographic characteristics and 2) the age-varying effects of these associations (ie, how they may change in strength across participants' ages). We used data from wave III of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC-III), a large nationally representative data set.



Methods

NESARC-III was sponsored, designed, and directed by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) and conducted during 2012–2013. NESARC-III is a nationally representative sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population of the United States aged 18 years or older; it had a 61.1% response rate and an original sample size of 36,309. The NIAAA collected information via questionnaires on alcohol and drug use and disorders, related risk factors, and associated physical and mental disabilities on the basis of NIAAA's Alcohol Use Disorder and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule. This study excluded respondents with missing information on parental alcoholism; the final sample size for this study was 36,057. We used existing data from human participants in NESARC, and the study was approved by the University of North Dakota institutional review board. We completed the final analyses in May of 2016.

Measures

Parental alcoholism

Parental alcoholism was based on the self-reported answer to the question "Before you were 18, parent/other adult living in home was a problem drinker/alcoholic?" as a binary response variable (yes or no).

Depression

We analyzed 2 depressive disorders, lifetime MDD and lifetime PDD, as separate outcomes. Each outcome was derived from detailed self-reported responses to questionnaire items on the basis of corresponding criteria from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th edition (DSM-5)(6). Briefly, lifetime MDD is characterized by one or more discrete episodes of at least 2 weeks during which respondents had either a depressed mood or a loss of interest in nearly all activities at some time during their adult lives (6). Lifetime PDD is a milder but more chronic form of depression and can be diagnosed when the mood disturbance continues for at least 2 years at some time during an adult's life (6). Both MDD and PDD exclude mood or anxiety disorders that are either substance-induced or due to a general medical condition.

Demographic characteristics

Age and sex were self-reported. Race/ethnicity was self-reported as white, black, Hispanic, American Indian, or Asian. Full-time employment was self-reported as working 35 or more hours per week or less than 35 hours per week. Marital status was self-reported according to 6 response options, which were re-categorized as currently married (ie, married or living with someone as if married), not currently married (ie, widowed, divorced, or separated), and never married.

Education was self-reported with 14 response levels ranging from "no formal schooling" to "completed Master's degree or higher," and we re-categorized these into 3 levels: less than a high school diploma, high school diploma, and some college or more.

Annual household income was self-reported with 21 response categories ranging from less than \$5,000 to \$200,000 or more. We recoded these into a new numeric variable on the basis of midpoints of each category up to level 20; level 21 (\geq \$200,000) was recoded as \$250,000, which is approximately the median income among households earning \$200,000 or more (7).

Statistical analyses

We conducted weighted regressions using the statistical software R (The R Foundation) and its survey package to examine the association between parental alcoholism and outcomes of MDD and PDD, after adjusting for demographic characteristics.

We used time-varying effect models (TVEMs), an extension of regression modeling that allows coefficients to vary continuously over time (8), to assess how the association between parental alcoholism and depression outcomes varied across age of participants. In other words, TVEMs examine moderation across some continuous measure of time (eg, historical time, age, time from event). TVEMs are spline-based regression models, which estimate a lower-order polynomial trend within equal intervals on the basis of user-specified number of knots, k. On the basis of established standards for this methodology (9), 10 knots were specified, and P-spline estimation, which automatically finds the most parsimonious model ($k \leq 10$), was used. We ran separate logistic TVEM models for outcomes of MDD and PDD after controlling for demographic characteristics. Each model included a time-varying intercept (to adjust for the overall prevalence of depression across age) and the time-varying predictor of age (to examine continuous moderation of the effect of parental alcoholism across ages). We performed TVEM analyses in SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc) using a publicly available SAS macro (9), version 3.1.0. TVEM analyses were interpreted with respect to 1) overall significance of the effect at a given value of age (ie, whether the confidence bands overlap the odds ratio (OR) of 1.0), and 2) the change in the effect across different ages (ie, whether the confidence bands exclude each other at different ages). Although these methods of establishing significance are more conservative than conventional significance tests, we did this because P values were available only for time-invariant covariates.

Results

Approximately 23% of respondents (n = 8,407) reported parental alcoholism. Respondents who reported parental alcoholism were significantly more likely than adults who did not report parental alcoholism to meet DSM-5 criteria for both MDD (29.6% vs 17.7%, P < .001) and PDD (9.3% vs 4.4%, P < .001) (Table). People who reported parental alcoholism were slightly but significantly younger (mean age, 44.8 y vs 45.9 y, P < .001); were more likely to be female (59.4% vs 55.4%, P < .001); had lower annual household incomes (median 32,500 vs 37,500, P < .001); were less likely to be never married (25.8% vs 28.4%, P < .001); were more likely to be not currently married (27.6% vs 25.4%, P <.001); were more likely to be white (57.8% vs 51.4%) or American Indian (2.1% vs 1.2%); and were less likely to be black (18.2% vs 22.3%) or Asian (1.9% vs 5.9%). The 2 groups did not significantly differ by education level (approximately 15% had <high school diploma, 22% high school diploma, and 62% some college or more), or full-time employment status (approximately 43%).

Additionally, compared with respondents who did not report parental alcoholism, those who reported parental alcoholism were slightly but significantly younger when they first had the first episode of MDD (median age, 27.8 y vs 30.5 y, P < .001) and PDD (median age, 27.9 y vs 30.6 y, P < .001) and had a significantly higher number of MDD episodes (median no., 4.6 vs 3.5, P <.001) and a nonsignificantly higher number of PDD episodes (median no., 2.1 vs 1.9). Respondents who reported parental alcoholism also talked to any health professional or therapist significantly more often to help improve their mood caused by MDD (63% vs 58%, P < .001) and nonsignificantly more often to help improve their mood caused by PDD (68% vs 64%) compared with respondents who did not report parental alcoholism. Respondents who reported parental alcoholism were significantly more likely to have symptoms of suicidal ideation (13% vs 8%, P < .001) and also meet DSM-5 criteria for other mental comorbidities such as anxiety (21% vs 11%, P < .001), personality disorders (27% vs 12%, P < .001), eating disorders (3% vs 1.5%, P < .001), substance use disorders (57% vs 37%, P < .001), and posttraumatic stress (12% vs 5%, P < .001).

Weighted regression analyses showed that parental alcoholism was associated with an approximately twofold increase in the odds of both MDD (OR, 1.84; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.72–1.96; P < .001) and PDD (OR, 2.11; 95% CI, 1.88–2.37; P < .001), after controlling for demographics.

Parental alcoholism had a positive and stable effect on MDD across individuals throughout most of the age range of respondents aged 18 to 85 years (Figure 1). Participants between these ages were approximately 2 times as likely to have MDD as were participants who reported no parental alcoholism. Because of the small sample size of participants older than 85 years and the resulting widening of the confidence band (ie, the lower limit of the confidence band is less than the OR of 1), the relationship was no longer significant among these individuals, even though the point estimate remained stable.



Figure 1. Age-varying effects of parental alcoholism on lifetime major depressive disorder for respondents aged 18–90 years, National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, Wave III, 2012–2013. Age-varying effects are presented as odds ratios (ORs) across ages; the solid line represents the OR point estimates, and the surrounding shading represents 95% confidence intervals. The horizontal line represents an OR of 1.00.

Similarly, parental alcoholism had a positive effect on PDD across a wide age range (Figure 2). Participants aged 18 to 73 years were approximately 2 times as likely to have PDD as were participants who reported no parental alcoholism. The association was nonsignificant for those aged 74 years and older. Additionally, the effect of parental alcoholism among older individuals (eg, OR of 0.8 for participants aged 80 y) was significantly weaker than the effect among younger individuals (eg, OR of 2.3 for participants aged 60 y).



Figure 2. Age-varying effects of parental alcoholism on lifetime persistent depressive disorder for respondents aged 18–90 years, National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, Wave III, 2012–2013. Age-varying effects are presented as odds ratios (ORs) across ages; the solid line represents the OR point estimates, and the surrounding shading represents 95% confidence intervals. The horizontal line represents an OR of 1.00.

Discussion

This study examined how the relationship between parental alcoholism and depression outcomes may change across individuals of different ages. Respondents who reported being exposed to parental alcoholism as children had approximately twice the risk of meeting criteria for lifetime MDD and PDD. Parental alcoholism had a positive and stable effect on the odds of lifetime MDD throughout most of the age range of the participants, although this association was no longer significant for those aged 85 years old or older. However, although the association with PDD was positive and stable across individuals in early and late adulthood, it significantly decreased in strength for those older than 73, such that parental alcoholism was no longer associated with a heightened risk for PDD.

Results of this study also showed that 23% of adults had a parent with alcohol problems before the age of 18; the 1988 National Health Interview Survey estimated that 18.1% of adults had a parent with alcohol problems before the age of 18 (10). Although there is a large gap in timeline, the prevalence of adults growing up with a parent with alcohol problems seems comparable. Although current data on the prevalence of adults who grew up with a parent with alcohol problems are not available, it is estimated that an annual average of 7.5 million US children (10.5% of all children) live with a parent who had an alcohol use disorder in the past year (11). Although this figure is lower than we report here, it includes only past-year alcohol use disorder, a severe form of problem drinking. Hence, assuming that this prevalence will increase under NESARC's inclusion of other, less severe forms of problem drinking, the current prevalence rates are more consistent with those of previous reports.

Our findings confirm those of previous research that established that parental alcoholism is associated with an increased risk of depression among offspring (2,12,13). This study also extends this research in 2 important ways, given that many previous studies are limited to younger adults (2,3). Here, we examined the effects of parental alcoholism on depression among adults across a wide age range, and we rigorously examined the age-varying effects of parental alcoholism, showing that its effect is largely stable across individuals from early to late adulthood.

This study has limitations. First, the measure of parental alcoholism is limited in several ways. The single question that assessed parental alcoholism was proxy-reported by offspring. As a result, both the timing and the nature of the question may have created recall bias, in which those with depression are more likely to remember the drinking of their parents as problematic than those with no depression. Additionally, the wording of the question included parents as well as non-parental adults living in the household, although most participants reported living only with one or more biological parents. Thus, the wording of this question may have affected the results in unknown ways. Second, this study used cross-sectional data and thus cannot conclude that parental alcoholism causes depression among offspring.

Third, because we used cross-sectional data, the findings do not distinguish between true age and cohort when considering the agevarying effect of parental alcoholism. A true age-varying effect would capture data on the change in the effect of parental alcoholism as an individual ages, but these analyses examined the effect across individuals of different ages. This analysis introduces a cohort effect: the association between parental alcoholism and depression may change across individuals born in different years as a result of differences across time periods in, for example, the prevalence of parental alcoholism, the threshold at which participants consider alcohol consumption "problem drinking," the prevalence of depression, or other associated risk and protective factors. It is likely that both an age effect (5) and a cohort effect (14,15) contribute to our findings, but this study cannot distinguish between them. Thus, the findings should not be interpreted as effects for a given individual across time. Future studies using longitudinal data are needed to separate true age-varying effects from cohort effects.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Strengths of this study include the large, nationally representative sample, the use of rigorous and well-validated DSM-5 measures of MDD and PDD, and the use of TVEMs, an innovative methodology for examining continuous moderation across age.

Parental alcoholism is stably associated with depression outcomes among offspring across a range of ages from early to late adulthood, with a decline in PDD among older adults. This finding implies that the effect of parental alcoholism on PDD may weaken among older adults (aged ≥ 60 y), making them more resilient than middle-aged and younger adults for PDD. Conversely, we found no evidence of resilience to MDD, as shown by a similar effect across ages. Despite this long-term effect of parental alcoholism, many adults with depression do not seek treatment because of a desire for self-reliance and the perceived stigma of mental health difficulties (16). Children of alcoholics often desire secrecy about their parents' alcoholism (17), and this additional stigma may further compound the lack of treatment seeking among adult offspring of alcoholics. Our findings highlight the importance of screening for depression among offspring of alcoholics in health care settings to provide them with services and support to ultimately manage this mental health burden.

Acknowledgments

The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NI-AAA) sponsored the National Epidemiologic Surveys on Alcohol and Related Conditions. We acknowledge the contribution of NI-AAA funding support and support of the intramural program, NI-AAA, National Institutes of Health. The manuscript for this article was prepared using a limited access dataset obtained from NI-AAA and does not reflect the opinions or views of NIAAA or the US government.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Sunita Thapa, MPH, Department of Health Policy, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, 2525 West End Ave, Suite 1200, Nashville, TN 37203. Telephone: 615-343-2934. Email: sunita.thapa@vanderbilt.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Health Policy, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, Tennessee. ²Master of Public Health Program, Department of Population Health, University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, North Dakota.

References

- 1. Christensen HB, Bilenberg N. Behavioural and emotional problems in children of alcoholic mothers and fathers. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2000;9(3):219–26.
- 2. Kelley ML, Braitman A, Henson JM, Schroeder V, Ladage J, Gumienny L. Relationships among depressive mood symptoms and parent and peer relations in collegiate children of alcoholics. Am J Orthopsychiatry 2010;80(2):204–12.
- 3. Chassin L, Pitts SC, DeLucia C, Todd M. A longitudinal study of children of alcoholics: predicting young adult substance use disorders, anxiety, and depression. J Abnorm Psychol 1999; 108(1):106–19.
- 4. Kelley ML, Pearson MR, Trinh S, Klostermann K, Krakowski K. Maternal and paternal alcoholism and depressive mood in college students: parental relationships as mediators of ACOA-depressive mood link. Addict Behav 2011;36(7):700–6.
- Jennison KM, Johnson KA. Parental alcoholism as a risk factor for DSM-IV-defined alcohol abuse and dependence in American women: the protective benefits of dyadic cohesion in marital communication. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2001; 27(2):349–74.
- 6. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5). Arlington (VA): American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 7. US Census Bureau. Current population survey (CPS) annual social and economic (ASEC) supplement table HINC-06: income distribution to \$250,000 or more for households 2014; 2015.
- 8. Tan X, Shiyko MP, Li R, Li Y, Dierker L. A time-varying effect model for intensive longitudinal data. Psychol Methods 2012;17(1):61–77.
- 9. Li R, Dziak JD, Tan X, Huang L, Wagner AT, Yang J. TVEM (time-varying effect modeling) SAS macro users' guide (version 3.1.0). University Park (PA): The Methodology Center, Penn State; updated 2015.
- Schoenborn CA. Exposure to alcoholism in the family: United States, 1988. Adv Data 1991;(205):1–13.
- 11. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Data spotlight: more than 7 million children live with a parent with alcohol problems; 2012.
- Klostermann K, Chen R, Kelley ML, Schroeder VM, Braitman AL, Mignone T. Coping behavior and depressive symptoms in adult children of alcoholics. Subst Use Misuse 2011; 46(9):1162–8.
- Sher KJ. Psychological characteristics of children of alcoholics: overview of research methods and findings. In: M. Galanter, H. Begleiter, R. Deitrich, et al, editors. New York (NY): Plenum Press; 1991. p. 301–36.
- 14. Hasin D, Link B. Age and recognition of depression: implications for a cohort effect in major depression. Psychol Med 1988;18(3):683-8.
- Rice JP, Neuman RJ, Saccone NL, Corbett J, Rochberg N, Hesselbrock V, et al. Age and birth cohort effects on rates of alcohol dependence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2003;27(1):93–9.
- 16. Jennings KS, Cheung JH, Britt TW, Goguen KN, Jeffirs SM, Peasley AL, et al. How are perceived stigma, self-stigma, and self-reliance related to treatment-seeking? A three-path model. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2015;38(2):109–16.
- 17. Haverfield MC, Theiss JA. A theme analysis of experiences reported by adult children of alcoholics in online support forums. J Fam Stud 2014;20(2):166–84.

Table

Table. Descriptive Statistics of Sample (N = 36,057), Study on Effects of Parental Alcoholism on Depression, National Epidemiological Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, Wave III, 2012–2013

	Parental Alcoholism ^a		
Measure	Yes	No	
Major depressive disorder ^b	29.6	17.7	
Persistent depressive disorder ^b	9.3	4.4	
Median (IQR), age, y ^c	44.0 (32-56)	44.0 (30-59)	
Sex ^b			
Female	59.4	55.4	
Male	40.6	44.6	
Education			
<high diploma<="" school="" td=""><td>15.7</td><td>14.8</td></high>	15.7	14.8	
High school diploma	22.4	22.7	
Some college or more	61.9	62.4	
Median (IQR) annual household income, \$ ^c	32,500 (17,500-65,000)	37,500 (17,500-65,000)	
Full-time employment (≥35 h/wk)	43.2	44.2	
Marital status			
Currently married	46.6	46.2	
Not currently married ^b	27.6	25.4	
Never married ^b	25.8	28.4	
Race/ethnicity			
White ^b	57.8	51.4	
Black ^b	18.2	22.3	
American Indian ^b	2.1	1.2	
Asian ^b	1.9	5.9	
Hispanic	19.9	19.2	

Abbreviation: IQR, interquartile range.

^a Numeric variables presented as median (IQR), and categorical variables presented as percentages.

^b χ^2 significant in parental alcoholism status at *P* < .05. MDD is characterized by discrete episodes of at least 2 weeks during which respondents experienced either depressed mood or a loss of interest in nearly all activities in adults at some time in their lives. Lifetime PDD is a milder but more chronic form of depression and can be diagnosed when the mood disturbance continues for at least 2 years in adults at some time in their lives (6).

^c Analysis of variance significant in parental alcoholism status at P < .05.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy

Volume 14, E117

NOVEMBER 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Differences by Sex in Association of Mental Health With Video Gaming or Other Nonacademic Computer Use Among US Adolescents

Hogan H. Lee¹; Jung Hye Sung, Sc.D.²; Ji-Young Lee, MSPH³; Jae Eun Lee, DPH²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/17_0151.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Lee HH, Sung JH, Lee JY, Lee JE. Differences by Sex in Association of Mental Health With Video Gaming or Other Nonacademic Computer Use Among US Adolescents. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:170151. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.170151.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Although numerous studies have examined the association between playing video games and cognitive skills, aggression, and depression, few studies have examined how these associations differ by sex. The objective of our study was to determine differences by sex in association between video gaming or other nonacademic computer use and depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied among adolescents in the United States.

Methods

We used data from the 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey on 15,624 US high school students. Rao–Scott χ^2 tests, which were adjusted for the complex sampling design, were conducted to assess differences by sex in the association of mental health with video gaming or other nonacademic computer use.

Results

Approximately one-fifth (19.4%) of adolescents spent 5 or more hours daily on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use, and 17.9% did not spend any time in those activities. A greater percentage of female adolescents than male adolescents reported spending no time (22.1% and 14.0%, respectively) or 5 hours or more (21.3% and 17.5%, respectively) in gaming and other nonacademic computer use (P < .001). The association between mental problems and video gaming or other nonacademic computer use differed by sex. Among female adolescents, prevalence of mental problems increased steadily in association with increased time spent, whereas the pattern for male adolescents followed a Jshaped curve, decreasing initially, increasing slowly, and then increasing rapidly beginning at 4 hours or more.

Conclusion

Female adolescents were more likely to have all 3 mental health problems than male adolescents were. Spending no time or 5 hours or more daily on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use was associated with increased mental problems among both sexes. As suggested by the J-shaped relationship, 1 hour or less spent on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use may reduce depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied compared with no use or excessive use.

Introduction

According to the Entertainment Software Association, in 2016, 63% of American households had at least one person who played video games regularly for 3 or more hours per week, and 27% of players were aged 18 years or younger (1). The average number of hours spent playing games continues to increase. According to Nielsen, time spent playing video games increased from 5.1 hours per week per person in 2011 to 6.3 hours in 2013 (2).

Internet use among adolescents has increased exponentially in the last decade (3). According to Common Sense Media, in 2015, American teenagers aged 13 to 18 spent an average of 3.5 hours per day on the Internet playing mobile games, watching online videos, using social network sites, chatting, and browsing websites. Moreover, 67% of teenagers owned a smartphone in 2015 (4). Growing ownership of smartphones has influenced the increase in Internet use over time.



Many studies showed that playing video or computer games and using the Internet for nonacademic purposes are associated with social behavior and have examined related health implications for adolescents; however, study results were contradictory. Some studies found that playing games was helpful in improving personality and networks of academic friendships, improving mood, and decreasing stress (5–11). Meta-analytic reviews found that playing violent video games was linked to aggressive behavior and decreased empathy (12–14). Playing violent video games was significantly associated with numerous symptoms of depression among pre-adolescents (15,16). Internet addiction among adolescents, including addiction to social network sites, was also related to sadness, suicide, distress, functional impairment, and cyberbullying (3,17–19).

Researchers and health professionals are concerned about depression, suicide and suicidal behavior, and bullying among children and adolescents (20–22). Being bullied is related to depression, mental illness, violent and aggressive behavior, and suicidal ideation (23–25). Adolescent depression and other mental disorders are chronic health conditions that can continue into adulthood (26). Depression is associated with suicide, and suicide among people aged 15 to 24 years was the third leading cause of death in United States in 2015 at a rate of 12.5 per 100,000 (27).

Although numerous studies have assessed the association between playing video games or other nonacademic computer use and aggression and depression, few studies have examined differences by sex in the relationship between playing video games or other nonacademic computer use and mental health among children and adolescents. Thus, the purpose of this study was to determine how the association between playing video or computer games or other nonacademic computer use (watching online videos, using social network sites, chatting, and browsing websites) and mental health (depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, being bullied at school or cyberbullied) differs by sex among US adolescents.

Methods

We used data on 15,624 adolescents from the 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS), administered by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. YRBS, which has been conducted biennially since 1991, uses a 3-stage cluster-sampling design to monitor priority health-risk behaviors among nationally representative samples of private school and public school students in grades 9 through 12 in the United States. In 2015, the sample size was 15,624, the school response rate was 69%, the student response rate was 81%, and the overall response rate was 60%. Depressive symptoms were defined as the presence of feelings of sadness or hopelessness in response to the question, "During the past 12 months, did you ever feel so sad or hopeless almost every day for two weeks or more in a row that you stopped doing some usual activities?"

Students were questioned on 2 types of bullying: school bullying and cyberbullying. The school bullying question was "During the past 12 months, have you ever been bullied on school property?" with a yes/no answer option. The cyberbullying question was "During the past 12 months, have you ever been electronically bullied? (Include being bullied through e-mail, chat rooms, instant messaging, Web sites, or texting)," also with a yes/no answer option. Being bullied was defined as either being bullied at school or being cyberbullied.

Students were also asked 3 questions related to suicide: had they considered suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide. The question about considering suicide was "During the past 12 months, did you ever seriously consider attempting suicide?" with a yes/no answer option. The question about making a suicide plan was "During the past 12 months, did you make a plan about how you would attempt suicide?" also with a yes/no answer option. The question about attempting suicide was "During the past 12 months, how many times did you actually attempt suicide?" with response category options of 0 times, 1 time, 2 or 3 times, 4 or 5 times, or 6 or more times. Suicidal behavior was defined as answering yes to the questions about considering suicide or making a suicide plan or if the respondent reported having attempted suicide at least once in the past 12 months.

Engaging in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use was assessed with the question, "On an average school day, how many hours do you play video or computer games or use a computer for something that is not school work? (Count time spent on things such as Xbox, PlayStation, an iPod, an iPad or other tablet, a smartphone, YouTube, Facebook or other social networking tools, and the Internet)." Response options were none, 1 hour or less, 1 hour, 2 hours, 3 hours, 4 hours, and 5 or more hours.

Adjusted and weighted prevalence rates were measured by using a weighting factor in the YRBS to provide nationally representative estimates and by using PROC SURVEYFREQ in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc) to account for the complex 3-stage cluster sampling design. A weighting factor in YRBS data adjusted for school and student nonresponse, sex, grade, and race/ethnicity. Rao–Scott χ^2 tests, which were adjusted for the complex sampling design by using PROC SURVERYFREQ, were conducted to assess any differences by sex in time spent on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use, depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied and any differences by sex in the associ-

ation between time spent on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use with depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied. A 2-sided P value of <.05 was considered significant.

Results

Among the sample of 15,624 adolescents, 51.3% were male and 48.7% were female. One in 5 adolescents spent 5 hours or more per day playing video or computer games or used a computer for something unrelated to school work. Almost one-fifth (17.9%) did not engage in playing videos or computer games or other nonacademic computer use. A greater percentage of female adolescents than male adolescents reported no time or 5 hours or more spent in gaming or other nonacademic computer use (P < .001) (Table 1).

A significantly higher prevalence of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied was observed among female adolescents than male adolescents (Table 1). Approximately 1 in 3 adolescents had depressive symptoms; 1 in 5 had considered suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide; and 1 in 4 had been bullied at school or had been cyberbullied. The prevalence of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied differed significantly by sex (P < .001 for each mental health problem). Female adolescents were nearly twice as likely to have depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and to have been bullied than male adolescents.

A pattern of change in the prevalence of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied in relation to time spent on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use had a J-shaped curve (Figure). Prevalence decreased initially, then increased slowly, and then increased rapidly from 4 hours or more. Those spending 5 or more hours per day on video games or other nonacademic computer use had the highest prevalence of depressive symptoms (43.1%), suicidal behavior (32.4%), and being bullied (31.5%). The lowest prevalence of depressive symptoms (22.8%) and being bullied (21.9%) was among those spending less than 1 hour, and the lowest prevalence of suicidal behavior was among those spending 1 hour (15.7%).



Figure. Prevalence of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied in relation to time spent on video gaming or other nonacademic computer use among male and female adolescents, Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 2015.

The relationship between mental health and hours spent in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use varied by sex and type of mental health problems (Table 2). The percentage of female adolescents experiencing depressive symptoms with no time spent in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use was 32.7%, rose to 33.3% for less than 1 hour spent, fell to 32.7% for 1 hour spent, and then rose steadily to a peak of 53.8% at 5 or more hours spent (P < .001). Prevalence among male adolescents was 19.0% for no time spent in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use, fell to 16.1% for less than 1 hour, than rose to 30.3% for 5 hours or more (P < .001). For suicidal behavior among female adolescents, prevalence was 22.5% at no hours spent and rose to 37.8% at 5 or more hours spent. For male adolescents, prevalence was 14.9% for no hours spent and rose to 25.1% for 5 or more hours spent. Female adolescents who spent no time in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use had a prevalence of 27.3% of being bullied and 36.8% at 5 or more hours spent. For male adolescents, the prevalence of being bullied was 19.0% at no time spent, fell to 15.3% for less than 1 hour spent, and then rose to 25.5% for 5 or more hours spent. For all mental health problems and both sexes, prevalence fluctuated up and down between less than 1 hour and 5 or more hours and generally increased beginning at 4 hours.

Discussion

Our study examined differences between male and female adolescents in time spent video gaming or other nonacademic computer use, depressive symptoms, being bullied, and suicidal behavior

and any differences by sex in the association of time spent in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use with depressive symptoms, being bullied, and suicidal behavior. Our study provided evidence of the J-shaped relationship between video gaming or other nonacademic computer use and depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied among US adolescents. Adolescents who spent 5 hours or more in video gaming or other nonacademic computer use had the highest rates of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied. The lowest rates were among adolescents spending less than 1 hour or 1 hour. Adolescents who did not play video or computer games or use the computer for nonacademic reasons had higher rates than those who spent 1 hour or less per day. However, female adolescents were almost twice as likely to experience depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, or being bullied in relation to time spent playing video games or in other nonacademic computer use than male adolescents.

One study found similar results about the relationship between video gaming or other nonacademic computer use and suicide by using the 2007 and 2009 YRBS (19). That study found that 5 hours or more of daily video gaming or other nonacademic computer use was associated with higher risk of sadness, suicidal ideation, and suicidal planning than no time spent. The same study also found that 1 hour or less of daily video gaming had potentially protected against 2-week sadness compared with no video gaming. However, that study did not investigate differences by sex in the associations. It also did not investigate the association between being bullied and daily video gaming or other nonacademic computer use. Because Internet technologies have developed rapidly, adolescents are able to easily acquire information, and they have many ways, such as social network sites, to communicate with others online, which may suggest that adolescents are more likely to be at risk of being bullied, especially of being cyberbullied. Our study consistently showed that adolescents who spent 4 hours or more daily on video games or other nonacademic computer use were 1.5 times more likely to be bullied than those who spent 3 hours or less.

Two studies, Belanger et al and Kim, found a U-shaped association between Internet use for nonacademic purposes and mental health among Swiss and Korean adolescents, respectively (28,29). Both studies suggested that health professionals should be alert to heavy Internet use (≥ 2 h/d) and to no use as indicators of high risk for mental disorders. However, both studies defined heavy use as spending 2 hours or more daily on the Internet. Because Belanger et al used data from 2002 and Kim used data from 2009, their categories for intensity of Internet use are not relevant to recent trends, which were reported in 2015 at 3.5 hours per day on average for US adolescents, including playing mobile games, watching online videos, using social network sites, chatting, and browsing websites (4).

Although YRBS data have the advantage of being a nationally representative sample of adolescents, our study has several limitations. First, because YRBS consists of cross-sectional data, assessing the cause-effect relationship between video gaming or other nonacademic computer use and mental problems was not possible. Second, investigating the association of mental problems with video gaming or other nonacademic computer use separately was not possible. Although video gaming and other nonacademic computer use are different measures, YRBS uses a single variable for the 2 activities. However, studies have demonstrated differences between the 2 measures. For example, in one study, 62% of male adolescents enjoyed playing video games, compared with 20% of female adolescents, and 44% of female adolescents enjoyed using social media, compared with 29% of male adolescents (4). Moreover, on average, female adolescents spent about 40 minutes more on social network sites than male adolescents (4). Further research is warranted for establishing a separate measure each for video gaming and other nonacademic computer use to determine their relation to mental health.

Our study found that video gaming or other nonacademic computer use among US adolescents for 5 hours or more daily was significantly associated with increases in depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied. The prevalence of each of the 3 mental health problems was higher among female adolescents than among male adolescents. As suggested by the J-shaped relationship, 1 hour or less of playing video games or other nonacademic computer use may reduce the prevalence of these mental health problems whereas nonuse or excessive use may increase them. Therefore, sex-specific intervention programs should be developed. Furthermore, because our data show that some video gaming and other nonacademic computer use may reduce the prevalence of depressive symptoms, suicidal behavior, and being bullied, public health professionals may want to shift mindfulness intervention programs toward eHealth or mHealth technologies rather than completely dismissing the activities. Use of technology for health promotion and disease prevention has advanced rapidly through the emergence of eHealth and mHealth technologies. Both technologies offer several advantages over traditional, in-person methods of health promotion and disease prevention interventions. Both are cost efficient and interactive and can automate delivery of interventions, thereby enabling real-time assessments, personalizing and tailoring content, and reaching larger

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

populations and hard-to-reach subgroups than conventional methods (30). Sex-specific mindfulness intervention programs that use these technologies in conjunction with video games and other nonacademic computer use may be well received by adolescents as well as by their parents and teachers.

Acknowledgments

Dr Jae Eun Lee is supported by the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities, National Institutes of Health, through grant number U54MD008149.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Hogan H. Lee, 651 Highleadon Pl, Madison, MS 39110. Telephone: 601-421-3245. Email: hojinlee2k@gmail.com.

Author Affiliations: ¹Madison Central High School, Madison, Mississippi. ²Jackson State University, Jackson, Mississippi. ³University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, Florida.

References

- 1. Essential facts about the computer and video game industry. Washington (DC): Entertainment Software Association; 2016. http://www.theesa.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/ESA-Essential-Facts-2015.pdf. Accessed February 20, 2017
- 2. Multi-platform gaming: for the win! New York (NY): Nielsen; 2014: http://www.nielsen.com/us/en/insights/news/2014/multi-platform-gaming-for-the-win.html. Accessed February 20, 2017.
- 3. Gross EF. Adolescent Internet use: what we expect, what teens report. J Appl Dev Psychol 2004;25(6):633–49.
- 4. The common sense census: media use by tweens and teens. San Francisco (CA): 2015. https:// www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/ research/census_researchreport.pdf. Accessed February 20, 2017.
- 5. Skoric MM, Teo LL, Neo RL. Children and video games: addiction, engagement, and scholastic achievement. Cyberpsychol Behav 2009;12(5):567–72.
- 6. Ventura M, Shute V, Kim YJ. Video gameplay, personality and academic performance. Comput Educ 2012;58(4):1260–6.
- 7. Durkin K, Barber B. Not so doomed: computer game play and positive adolescent development. Appl Dev Psychol 2002; 23(4):373–92.
- 8. Boot WR, Kramer AF, Simons DJ, Fabiani M, Gratton G. The effects of video game playing on attention, memory, and executive control. Acta Psychol (Amst) 2008;129(3):387–98.

- 9. Jackson LA, Witt EA. Information technology use and creativity: findings from the Children and Technology Project. Comput Human Behav 2012;28(2):370–6.
- 10. Green CS, Bavelier D. Action-video-game experience alters the spatial resolution of vision. Psychol Sci 2007;18(1):88–94.
- Russoniello CV, O'Brien K, Parks JM. The effectiveness of casual video games in improving mood and decreasing stress. J Cyber Ther Rehabil 2009;2(1):53–66.
- Anderson CA, Bushman BJ. Effects of violent video games on aggressive behavior, aggressive cognition, aggressive affect, physiological arousal, and prosocial behavior: a meta-analytic review of the scientific literature. Psychol Sci 2001; 12(5):353–9.
- Carnagey NL, Anderson CA. Violent video game exposure and aggression. A literature review. Minerva Psichiatr 2004; 45(1):1–18.
- 14. Anderson CA, Shibuya A, Ihori N, Swing EL, Bushman BJ, Sakamoto A, et al. Violent video game effects on aggression, empathy, and prosocial behavior in eastern and western countries: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2010; 136(2):151–73.
- 15. Tortolero SR, Peskin MF, Baumler ER, Cuccaro PM, Elliott MN, Davies SL, et al. Daily violent video game playing and depression in preadolescent youth. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014;17(9):609–15.
- 16. Jackson LA, Von Eye A, Fitzgerald HE, Witt EA, Zhao Y. Internet use, videogame playing and cell phone use as predictors of children's body mass index (BMI), body weight, academic performance, and social and overall self-esteem. Comput Human Behav 2011;27(1):599–604.
- Gámez-Guadix M, Borrajo E, Almendros C. Risky online behaviors among adolescents: longitudinal relations among problematic Internet use, cyberbullying perpetration, and meeting strangers online. J Behav Addict 2016;5(1):100–7.
- Shapira NA, Goldsmith TD, Keck PE Jr, Khosla UM, McElroy SL. Psychiatric features of individuals with problematic internet use. J Affect Disord 2000;57(1-3):267–72.
- Messias E, Castro J, Saini A, Usman M, Peeples D. Sadness, suicide, and their association with video game and internet overuse among teens: results from the Youth Risk Behavior Survey 2007 and 2009. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2011; 41(3):307–15.
- 20. Hertz MF, Everett Jones S, Barrios L, David-Ferdon C, Holt M. Association between bullying victimization and health risk behaviors among high school students in the United States. J Sch Health 2015;85(12):833–42.
- 21. Holt MK, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Polanin JR, Holland KM, DeGue S, Matjasko JL, et al. Bullying and suicidal ideation and behaviors: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2015; 135(2):e496-509.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 22. Messias E, Kindrick K, Castro J. School bullying, cyberbullying, or both: correlates of teen suicidality in the 2011 CDC Youth Risk Behavior Survey. Compr Psychiatry 2014;55(5):1063–8.
- 23. Klomek AB, Marrocco F, Kleinman M, Schonfeld IS, Gould MS. Peer victimization, depression, and suicidiality in adolescents. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2008;38(2):166–80.
- 24. Kim YS, Koh YJ, Leventhal B. School bullying and suicidal risk in Korean middle school students. Pediatrics 2005; 115(2):357–63.
- 25. Nansel TR, Overpeck MD, Haynie DL, Ruan WJ, Scheidt PC. Relationships between bullying and violence among US youth. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2003;157(4):348–53.
- 26. Children's mental health report. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/features/childrensmentalhealth/.Accessed February 20, 2017.
- Suicide statistics. New York (NY): American Foundation for Suicide Prevention; 2016. https://afsp.org/about-suicide/ suicide-statistics/. Accessed February 20, 2017.
- 28. Bélanger RE, Akre C, Berchtold A, Michaud PA. A U-shaped association between intensity of Internet use and adolescent health. Pediatrics 2011;127(2):e330–5.
- 29. Kim JY. The nonlinear association between Internet using time for non-educational purposes and adolescent health. J Prev Med Public Health 2012;45(1):37–46.
- 30. Meier CA, Fitzgerald MC, Smith JM. eHealth: extending, enhancing, and evolving health care. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2013;15(1):359–82.

Tables

Table 1. Prevalence of Time Spent in Video Gaming and Other Nonacademic Computer Use^a and Mental Problems Among Students (N = 15,624), by Sex, 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey

Variable ^b	Total, %	Female, %	Male, %	<i>P</i> Value ^c	
Time spent, h					
None	17.9	22.1	14.0	<.001	
<1	13.8	10.9	16.5		
1	10.8	10.4	11.2		
2	15.8	13.8	17.7		
3	13.4	12.8	14.0		
4	8.9	8.7	9.1		
≥5	19.4	21.3	17.5		
Mental problems					
Depressive symptoms	29.9	39.8	20.3	<.001	
Suicidal behavior	21.7	27.3	16.1	<.001	
Being bullied	25.7	32.2	19.6	<.001	

^a Nonacademic computer use includes playing mobile games, watching online videos, using social network sites, chatting, and browsing websites.

^b Values are adjusted and percentages are weighted unless otherwise noted. ^c Calculated by using the Rao–Scott χ^2 test.

Table 2. Prevalence of Mental Problems by Time Spent in Video Gaming and Other Nonacademic Computer Use^a Among Students (N = 15,624), by Sex, 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey

	No. of Hours Spent, % ^b							
Variable	None	<1	1	2	3	4	≥5	<i>P</i> Value ^c
Depressive symptoms						*		
Female	32.7	33.3	32.7	36.1	38.4	45.9	53.8	<.001
Male	19.0	16.1	18.1	18.9	17.3	20.6	30.3	
Suicidal behavior								
Female	22.5	25.9	19.5	26.1	25.4	28.5	37.8	<.001
Male	14.9	14.3	12.5	15.3	13.5	13.7	25.1	
Being bullied								
Female	27.3	32.2	30.4	33.0	29.3	37.4	36.8	<.001
Male	19.0	15.3	17.3	17.7	19.6	22.3	25.5	

^a Nonacademic computer use includes playing mobile games, watching online videos, using social network sites, chatting, and browsing websites.

^b Values are adjusted and percentages are weighted unless otherwise noted. ^c Calculated by using the Rao–Scott χ^2 test.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E149

DECEMBER 2018

RESEARCH BRIEF

Correlation Between Personal Health History and Depression Self-Care Practices and Depression Screening Among African Americans With Chronic Conditions

Priscilla A. Barnes, MPH, PhD¹; Tilicia L. Mayo-Gamble, PhD, MA, MPH²; Doshia Harris, MBA³; David Townsend, MSW³

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/17_0581.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Barnes PA, Mayo-Gamble TL, Harris D, Townsend D. Correlation Between Personal Health History and Depression Self-Care Practices and Depression Screening Among African Americans With Chronic Conditions. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:170581. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/ pcd15.170581.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Little is known about the influence of personal health history and depression self-care practices on screening for depression by health care providers among African Americans with chronic conditions. African Americans (N = 203) aged 18 years or older and living with at least one chronic health condition in a metropolitan city completed a 45-item community perceptions survey. The number of depression symptoms experienced per month was positively associated with screening for depression symptoms was inversely associated with screening by a health care provider; perceived ability to identify depression symptoms was inversely associated with screening by a health care provider. Understanding patients' health history and self-care practices can initiate provision of information or support services to improve patient–provider communication about depression.

Objective

Forty-eight percent of adults in the United States living with one or more chronic conditions (eg, heart disease, cancer, diabetes, mood disorders) are African American (1,2). An area of concern is the co-existence of depression with a physical condition (3), but symptoms of depression often go unrecognized (4,5). Moreover, African Americans may be reluctant to discuss symptoms with health care providers for fear of being stigmatized (5–8).

We examined whether personal health history and depression selfcare practices were associated with depression screening by health care providers among African Americans with chronic conditions. An analysis of community perceptions can inform development of culturally tailored messages encouraging patient-provider dialogue during medical appointments.

Methods

A convenience sample of 203 African Americans completed a cross-sectional survey about mental health services that was administered from January through April 2014. Inclusion criteria were being aged 18 years or older, having one or more physical chronic conditions, and living in Indianapolis at the time of survey distribution. Institutional review board approval (protocol no. 1312966930) was granted from Indiana University.

The survey consisted of 45 questions that measured indicators related to physical and mental health. Individuals' personal experiences accessing mental health services were also assessed. A panel of experts working in a primary care office, at a hospital mental health department, and at the state National Black Nurses Association reviewed the survey before distribution. Eligible participants at community centers, places of worship, barber shops, and community events completed the survey in approximately 10 minutes and received an incentive.

Of the 45 questions, 18 focused on depression screening, personal health history, and depression self-care practices. The outcome variable was having ever been screened for depression by a health care provider. Personal history with depression included number of poor mental health days and number of depression symptoms



per month. Perceptions toward depression self-care were assessed by 1) being able to make an appointment, 2) knowing who to call for personal or emotional problems, 3) being able to identify symptoms of depression, 4) being able to take an antidepressant medicine, 5) being able to make oneself feel better, and 6) being able to avoid difficult situations that can trigger depression. Perceptions were measured on a 5-point Likert scale of agreement (from 1 being strongly disagree to 5 being strongly agree). Participants provided demographic information, including sex, annual household income, education level, employment status, marital status, age, general health status, health insurance status, and number of chronic health conditions.

We calculated descriptive statistics on all variables. Pearson correlation analysis determined which demographic characteristics to include in the logistic regression analysis. Binary adjusted logistic regression determined factors associated with depression screening. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 23 (IBM Corporation). Significance was set at P < .05.

Results

Complete questionnaires were returned by 138 (68%) women and 65 (32%) men (Table 1). Approximately 37% (n = 75) of participants earned less than \$10,000 per year, 58% (n = 118) had a high school diploma/general educational development certificate or some college, and 87% (n = 176) were insured. The mean age of participants was 53.9 years. Fifty eight percent (n = 118) reported never having been screened for depression. On average, participants had 2 chronic conditions and 2 symptoms of depression per month.

Demographic characteristics (income, employment, and number of chronic conditions) were not statistically associated with depression screening. Income and employment were negatively correlated with depression screening (r = -0.15, P = .04 and r = -0.24, P = .001). Participants who reported having one or more chronic conditions or self-identified symptoms of depression were more likely to be screened by a health care provider (Table 2). Number of chronic conditions was positively correlated with depression screening (r = .31, P < .001). For personal history with depression, results indicated that for one unit increase in the number of depression symptoms per month, participants were more likely to be screened for depression (odds ratio [OR] [95% confidence interval (CI)] = 1.71 [1.10-2.66]). Number of mental health days per month was not associated with depression screening. Among perceptions toward depression self-care measures, ability to identify symptoms of depression was associated with depression screening.

For each increase on the perceived ability to identify symptoms of depression (ie, ability to identify symptoms of depression) participants were less likely to be screened for depression (OR [95% CI] = 0.27 [0.89–4.83]).

Discussion

This formative research offers new perspectives to explore helpseeking behaviors among African Americans with pre-existing chronic conditions. Mental health days per month is a vague concept that may be perceived as involving extreme fatigue (eg, "I need a mental health day."). Conversely, number of depression symptoms focuses on a specific condition and may prompt the patient or provider to inquire whether chronic condition(s) or depression are affecting daily activities. More research should be conducted on the meaning of these concepts from the perspective of the African American community. Culturally relevant messages can be developed to promote "check-ins" that prompt discussion as opposed to reprimand for noncompliant behavior.

Participants in this study, on average, visited a medical provider 5 times per month, which may place this sample at a higher probability of being screened. This factor is important given that depression screening is dependent on seeing a health care provider. Despite this finding, increased confidence to self-identify symptoms of depression equated to decreased likelihood that participants would talk to their medical provider. Studies demonstrate that African American patients do not initiate discussion because of perceptions that disclosure within primary care is not appropriate, fear of not having a choice in treatment decisions, and the emotional cost of talking about symptoms (9–11). Clinical–community partnerships involving African American churches can focus on creating culturally relevant spaces to conduct depression screenings.

Our study has limitations. First, the sample size was small, so findings cannot be generalized to the broader community. Second, we used self-reported data, which may be inaccurate because of recall bias or respondent bias. Third, data are were cross sectional, so causality could not be inferred. These limitations, however, do not outweigh the contribution of the study. This exploratory study underscores the necessity of exploring sociological factors that affect the initiation of preventive screenings in health care settings.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Indiana Minority Health Coalition's (IMHC's) State Master Research Plan. IMHC contracts with the Indiana State Department of Health to conduct activities under its

Minority Epidemiology Agreement. We thank Tanisha Howard and Olga Munteanu for their assistance with data analysis and review of literature. Copyrighted material was not used. Copyrighted surveys, instruments, and tools were not used.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Priscilla A. Barnes, MPH, PhD, Associate Professor, Indiana University School of Public Health-Bloomington, 809 E. 9th St, Room 202, Bloomington IN 47405. Telephone: 812-855-4789. Email: prbarnes@indiana.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Indiana University School of Public Health-Bloomington, Bloomington, Indiana. ²Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, Georgia. ³Af-Am Consulting, Indianapolis, Indiana.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. African American Health. https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/aahealth/index.html. Accessed July 29, 2017.
- 2. Trust for America's Health. Improving the health of lowincome and minority communities. http:// healthyamericans.org/assets/files/10ThingsMinorities.pdf. Accessed November 4, 2017.
- 3. Chapman DP, Perry GS, Strine TW. The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. Prev Chronic Dis 2005;2(1):A14.
- 4. Bazargan M, Hamm-Baugh VP. The relationship between chronic illness and depression in a community of urban black elderly persons. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 1995; 50(2):S119–27.
- 5. Dunlop DD, Song J, Lyons JS, Manheim LM, Chang RW. Racial/ethnic differences in rates of depression among preretirement adults. Am J Public Health 2003; 93(11):1945-52.
- 6. Gitlin LN, Chernett NL, Dennis MP, Hauck WW. Identification of and beliefs about depressive symptoms and preferred treatment approaches among community-living older African Americans. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2012; 20(11):973–84.
- 7. Green KM, Fothergill KE, Robertson JA, Zebrak KA, Banda DR, Ensminger ME. Early life predictors of adult depression in a community cohort of urban African Americans. J Urban Health 2013;90(1):101–15.
- 8. Sellers SL, Bonham V, Neighbors HW, Amell JW. Effects of racial discrimination and health behaviors on mental and physical health of middle-class African American men. Health Educ Behav 2009;36(1):31–44.

- 9. Williams DR, Yan Yu, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial differences in physical and mental health socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. J Health Psychol 1997; 2(3):335–51.
- Keller AO, Valdez CR, Schwei RJ, Jacobs EA. Disclosure of depression symptoms in primary care: a qualitative study of women's perceptions. Womens Health Issues 2016; 26(5):529–36.
- Bailey RK, Patel M, Barker NC, Ali S, Jabeen S. Major depressive disorder in the African American population. J Natl Med Assoc 2011;103(7):548–59.

Tables

Table 1. Demographic and Health Outcome Data of Study Population (N = 203)^a, Study on Correlation Between Personal Health and Depression Self-Care Practices and Being Screened for Depression Among African Americans, Community Perceptions Survey, Indianapolis, Indiana, 2014

Characteristic/Outcome	Value
Sex	
Female	138 (68.0)
Male	65 (32.0)
Mean age, y (SD)	53.9 (14.79)
Income, \$	
<10,000	75 (36.9)
10,000-19,999	41 (20.2)
20,000-29,999	24 (11.8)
30,000-39,999	21 (10.3)
40,000-49,999	15 (7.4)
≥50,000	16 (7.9)
Education	
Less than high school	44 (21.7)
High school diploma/general educational development certificate	57 (28.1)
Some college	61 (30.0)
Technical school/college graduate	35 (17.2)
Employment	
Does not work	78 (38.4)
Employed	76 (37.4)
Student	8 (3.9)
Retired	41 (20.2)
Marital status	
Married	40 (19.7)
Divorced or separated	67 (33.0)
Widowed	24 (11.8)
Single	69 (34.0)
General health status	
Very good	29 (14.3)
Good	80 (39.4)
Fair	77 (37.9)
Poor	17 (8.4)
Health insurance status	
Insured	176 (86.7)
Not insured	27 (13.3)

Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.

^a Values are no. (%) unless otherwise indicated.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Demographic and Health Outcome Data of Study Population (N = 203)^a, Study on Correlation Between Personal Health and Depression Self-Care Practices and Being Screened for Depression Among African Americans, Community Perceptions Survey, Indianapolis, Indiana, 2014

Characteristic/Outcome	Value
Screened for depression	
Yes	82 (40.4)
No	118 (58.1)
Health outcome, mean (SD)	
No. of chronic conditions	2.05 (1.32)
No. of times visited a doctor per month	5.07 (7.07)
No. poor mental health days per month	5.91 (8.94)
No. of depressive symptoms per month	2.04 (1.89)
Abbreviation: SD, standard deviation.	

Table 2. Logistic Regression of Socio-Demographic Factors Associated with Depression Screening, Study on Correlation Between Personal Health and Depression Self-Care Practices and Being Screened for Depression, Community Perceptions Survey, Indianapolis, Indiana, 2014

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)	Standard Error	<i>P</i> Value		
Income, \$					
<10,000			1 [Reference]		
10,000-19,999	0.78 (0.13-4.64)	0.71	.79		
20,000-29,999	0.74 (0.07-8.06)	0.90	.81		
30,000-39,999	1.55 (0.12-2.90)	2.06	.74		
40,000-49,9999	0.44 (0.04-4.61)	0.52	.49		
≥50,000	2.19 (0.21-2.04)	2.63	.51		
Employment					
Unemployed	1 [Reference				
Employed	0.38 (0.08-1.98)	0.32	.25		
Student	0.60 (0.03-1.92)	0.89	.73		
Retired	0.76 (0.09-6.75)	0.85	.81		
Number of chronic conditions	1.30 (0.76-2.23)	0.36	.33		
Personal history with depression					
Number of mental health days	0.999 (0.91-1.09)	0.04	.99		
Number of symptoms per month	1.71 (1.10-2.66)	0.38	.02		
Perceptions toward depression self-care					
How to make an appointment get help	1.19 (0.35-1.98)	0.58	.72		
Know who to call to get help right away	0.83 (0.07-0.99)	0.37	.68		
Can you identify symptoms of depression	0.27 (0.89-4.83)	0.18	.049		
How to take antidepressant medication or get counseling	2.08 (0.52-4.58)	0.89	.09		
Make myself feel better by doing more pleasurable activities	1.55 (0.51-3.08)	0.86	.43		
Can avoid difficult situations that can trigger depression	1.26 (0.05-2.58)	0.58	.62		

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 16, E28

MARCH 2019

RESEARCH BRIEF

Using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System to Assess Mental Health, Travis County, Texas, 2011–2016

Haruna Miyakado-Steger, MS¹; Sarah Seidel, DrPH¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2019/18_0449.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Miyakado-Steger H, Seidel S. Using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System to Assess Mental Health, Travis County, Texas, 2011–2016. Prev Chronic Dis 2019;16:180449. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd16.180449.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Mood disorders, of which the most common is depression, are prevalent among US adults and can exacerbate many chronic health conditions.

What is added by this report?

We explored Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data as a tool for assessing mental health in a community. By assessing poor mental health in addition to diagnosed depression, we identified at-risk and potentially undiagnosed populations.

What are the implications for public health practice?

The finding that individuals reporting chronic conditions had a higher odds of reporting depression and poor mental health indicates that interventions must address chronic disease and poor mental health or diagnosed mental health conditions such as depression in tandem.

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to explore using BRFSS data to assess mental health in a community. We describe and compare adults reporting diagnosed depression and adults reporting poor mental health and the associations of chronic diseases with each condition in Travis County, Texas. Significant associations between each mental health condition and chronic diseases existed; however, demographics, risk behaviors, and health care access differed between those reporting depression and those reporting poor mental health. Assessing poor mental health in addition to diagnosed depression can identify at-risk and potentially undiagnosed populations.

Objective

An estimated 1 in 10 adults have some type of mood disorder, the most common being depression (1). Additionally, both mood disorder and depression can exacerbate many chronic health conditions (1–5). Therefore, identifying populations at risk for mental health conditions is important for prevention and management of chronic diseases. The objective of this study was to explore using Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data as a tool for assessing mental health in a community. We describe and compare adults who reported diagnosed depression and adults reporting poor mental health and the associations of chronic diseases with each condition in Travis County, Texas.

Methods

BRFSS is a federally supported landline and cellular telephone survey (6) and its data are often the only ones available to measure prevalence of chronic conditions and risk factors at a local population level. We used BRFSS data for Travis County residents from 2011 through 2016 to assess mental health status. BRFSS has 2 questions to assess mental health. Depression is measured by a yes/no response to the question "Has a doctor, nurse, or other health professional ever told you that you have a depressive disorder including depression, major depression, dysthymia, or minor depression?" Poor mental health is measured by a "none to less than 14 days" or "14 or more days" response to the question, "Now thinking about your mental health, which includes stress, depression, and problems with emotions, for how many days during the past 30 days was your mental health not good?" Demographic characteristics included race/ethnicity, sex, age, education, and income. Health care access was measured by whether respondents had a personal doctor. Self-reported risk factors included heavy drinking and smoking status.

Five chronic diseases were individually assessed for their association with each mental health condition. Cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease



(COPD) were measured by individuals reporting that they had been told by a health care professional they have the disease. Asthma was defined as having been told by a health care professional that they had asthma and reporting that they currently have asthma.

We stratified prevalence of depression and poor mental health by demographic characteristics, health care access, risk behaviors, and chronic disease. We used logistic regression models to determine associations between each chronic disease and depression or poor mental health, respectively, and adjusted for demographics (sex, age group, and race/ethnicity), having a personal doctor, smoking status, and heavy drinking. Significance for bivariate analysis was set at P < .05, and significance for multivariate analysis was set at P < .01.

Results

More adults reported diagnosed depression (16%) than poor mental health (10%) (Table 1). White respondents had the highest prevalence of diagnosed depression, and black respondents had the highest prevalence of poor mental health. Adults aged 45 to 64 reported the highest prevalence of diagnosed depression, and adults aged 18–44 reported the highest prevalence of poor mental health.

Respondents with a personal doctor had a higher prevalence of diagnosed depression than those without a personal doctor, and respondents without a personal doctor had a higher prevalence of poor mental health than respondents with one. In some cases, the population that reported depression and the population that reported poor mental health were similar (Table 1). Female respondents had a prevalence of diagnosed depression almost twice as high as male respondents and a prevalence of poor mental health that was nearly 1.5 times that of male respondents. Respondents with an annual income of less than \$25,000 reported the highest prevalence of both depression and poor mental health compared with other income groups. Respondents who reported heavy drinking and current smoking had the highest prevalence of both diagnosed depression and poor mental health. Prevalence of depression and poor mental health were significantly higher among respondents with chronic health conditions than among individuals without these conditions (Table 1).

After controlling for demographic characteristics, risk behaviors, and having a personal doctor, the odds of reporting depression or the odds of reporting poor mental health were significantly higher for individuals reporting cardiovascular disease, diabetes, COPD, and asthma (Table 2).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first to describe using BRFSS data on diagnosed depression and poor mental health for a more complete assessment of mental health in a population. Although the terms are often used interchangeably, poor mental health and mental illness are not the same thing (1). However, poor mental health is a risk factor for undiagnosed mental health conditions, including depression, which is the most commonly diagnosed mental health condition. Temporary feelings of sadness and other symptoms that last longer than 2 weeks may be diagnosed as depression (7); therefore, more than 14 days of poor mental health in the past 30 days could indicate an undiagnosed mental health condition. Assessing poor mental health in addition to diagnosed depression can assist public health practitioners in determining populations who may be at risk for undiagnosed, untreated, or unmanaged mental health conditions.

Our study has limitations. Findings cannot be generalized to other locations; however, our methods offer practitioners a useful tool for assessing mental health and its associations with chronic disease in their areas. BRFSS data are self-reported and do not represent individuals without a telephone or mailing address; they are also subject to social desirability bias, especially as it relates to stigmatized conditions. Therefore, poor mental health and diagnosed depression may be underreported.

Our findings suggest that programs focusing on mental health in Travis County should ensure that they include black adults, younger adults, adults with lower education levels, and adults without a personal doctor. Access to care should be considered in assessing mental health in a population, because individuals without a personal doctor may not receive diagnosis or subsequent treatment. Additionally, the finding that individuals reporting chronic conditions had higher odds of reporting depression and poor mental health even after controlling for covariates emphasizes that interventions must address chronic disease and poor mental health or diagnosed mental health conditions such as depression in tandem.

Acknowledgments

No financial support was received and no copyrighted materials, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this study. The authors thank the BRFSS coordinators from Texas Department of State Health Services for their participation in data collection.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Haruna Miyakado-Steger, MS, Austin Public Health, 15 Waller St, Austin, TX 78702. Telephone: 512-972-5481. Email: miyakadoharuna@gmail.com.

Author Affiliations: ¹Austin Public Health, Austin, Texas.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Learn about mental health. 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/learn/ index.htm. Accessed January 31, 2019.
- 2. Chapman DP, Perry GS, Strine TW. The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. Prev Chronic Dis 2005;2(1):A14.
- 3. Chang CK, Hayes RD, Broadbent M, Fernandes AC, Lee W, Hotopf M, et al. All-cause mortality among people with serious mental illness (SMI), substance use disorders, and depressive disorders in southeast London: a cohort study. BMC Psychiatry 2010;10(1):77.
- 4. Stein MB, Cox BJ, Afifi TO, Belik SL, Sareen J. Does comorbid depressive illness magnify the impact of chronic physical illness? A population-based perspective. Psychol Med 2006;36(5):587–96.
- 5. Katon WJ. Epidemiology and treatment of depression in patients with chronic medical illness. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2011;13(1):7–23.
- 6. Texas Department of State Health Services. Texas Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. https://www.dshs.texas.gov/ chs/brfss/default.shtm. Accessed January 31, 2019.
- National Institute of Mental Health. Chronic illness & mental health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/chronicillness-mental-health/index.shtml. Accessed January 31, 2019.

Tables

Table 1. Prevalence of Depression and Poor Mental Health by Demographic Characteristics, Health Care Access, Risk Behaviors, and Chronic Health Conditions, Adults in Travis, County, Texas, BRFSS 2011–2016

	Depression (N = 131,540)	Poor Mental Health (N = 79,652)	
Category	% (95% Confidence Interval)		
Total population	16.4 (15.0-17.8)	10.0 (8.7-11.3)	
	Demographic Characteristics		
Race/ethnicity			
White	20.4 ^a (18.4-22.4)	9.1 (7.7-10.4)	
Black	16.0 (11.5-20.5)	15.5 (9.8-21.3)	
Hispanic	9.8 ^a (7.5-12.0)	8.8 (6.3-11.3)	
Sex			
Female	20.7 ^a (18.5-22.9)	11.8 (9.9-13.8)	
Male	12.1 ^a (10.2–13.9)	8.2 (6.6-9.9)	
Age, y			
18-44	15.9 (13.6-18.1)	11.1 ^a (9.1–13.1)	
45-64	18.7 ^a (16.5-20.8)	9.1 (7.5-10.8)	
≥65	13.3 ^a (11.3-15.4)	6.9 ^a (5.0-8.8)	
Education			
Less than high school graduate	12.6 (9.0-16.3)	10.9 (6.7-15.0)	
High school graduate	16.3 (12.6-19.9)	14.1 ^a (10.4–17.9)	
Some college	17.2 (14.2-20.2)	11.3 (8.7-13.9)	
College graduate	17.1 (15.2-19.0)	6.4 ^a (5.2-7.7)	
Annual income, \$			
<25,000	21.0 ^a (17.6-24.5)	16.3 ^a (12.8–19.8)	
25,000 to <75,000	16.8 (14.2-19.4)	9.5 ^a (7.5–11.5)	
≥75,000	14.3 ^a (12.0-16.5)	5.8 ^a (4.3-7.4)	
	Health Care Access		
Having a personal doctor			
Yes	17.1 (15.5-22.3)	9.2 (7.7-10.6)	
No	14.7 (11.9-17.5)	11.7 (9.1-14.4)	
	Risk Behavior		
Heavy drinking ^c			
Yes	25.4 ^a (19.0-31.9)	13.0 (7.6-18.3)	
No	16.0 ^a (14.4–17.5)	9.3 (8.0-10.7)	

Abbreviations: BRFSS, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

^{a,b} Nonoverlapping 95% confidence intervals were considered significant between groups within each category.

^c Heavy drinking defined \geq 15 drinks per week for men or \geq 8 drinks per week for women.

^d Cardiovascular disease includes coronary heart disease, angina, congestive heart failure, high blood pressure, and stroke; COPD includes chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, emphysema, or chronic bronchitis.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Prevalence of Depression and Poor Mental Health by Demographic Characteristics, Health Care Access, Risk Behaviors, and Chronic Health Conditions, Adults in Travis, County, Texas, BRFSS 2011–2016

	Depression (N = 131,540)	Poor Mental Health (N = 79,652)		
Category	% (95% Confidence Interval)			
Smoking status	•			
Current	27.6 ^a (22.4-32.8)	19.4 ^{a,b} (14.8-24.0)		
Former	21.9 (18.7-25.1)	8.8 ^a (6.6-11.0)		
Never	12.3 ^a (10.7-14.0)	8.6 ^b (7.0-10.2)		
	Chronic Health Conditions ^d			
Cardiovascular disease				
Yes	29.5 ^a (23.3-35.8)	19.2 ^a (12.3-26.1)		
No	15.6 ^a (14.1-17.1)	9.5 ^a (8.2-10.8)		
Diabetes				
Yes	24.3 ^a (19.3–29.3)	13.1 (9.1-17.1)		
No	15.7 ^a (14.2-17.2)	9.8 (8.4-11.2)		
Obesity				
Yes	19.4 (16.5-22.3)	13.2 ^a (10.5–16.0)		
No	16.0 (14.2-17.7)	8.7 ^a (7.2-10.1)		
COPD				
Yes	41.5 ^a (32.1-50.9)	31.4 ^a (21.1-41.7)		
No	15.7 ^a (14.1-17.3)	8.7 ^a (7.3-10.0)		
Asthma				
Yes	27.0 ^a (20.3-33.8)	21.0 ^a (14.0-28.1)		
No	15.4 ^a (14.0-16.8)	9.0 ^a (7.8-10.3)		

Abbreviations: BRFSS, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

^{a,b} Nonoverlapping 95% confidence intervals were considered significant between groups within each category.

^c Heavy drinking defined \geq 15 drinks per week for men or \geq 8 drinks per week for women.

^d Cardiovascular disease includes coronary heart disease, angina, congestive heart failure, high blood pressure, and stroke; COPD includes chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, emphysema, or chronic bronchitis.

Table 2. Adjusted Odds of Reporting Depression and Poor Mental Health Among Adults With Each Chronic Condition, Travis County, Texas, BRFSS 2011-2016

	Depression		Poor Mental Health	
Chronic Condition	Adjusted OR ^a (95% CI)	P Value	Adjusted OR ^a (95% CI)	P Value
Cardiovascular disease ^b				
Yes	2.3 (1.6-3.4)	< 001	2.9 (1.6-5.1)	<.001
No	1 [Reference]	<.001	1 [Reference]	
Diabetes				
Yes	2.1 (1.6-3.0)	< 001	1.8 (1.2-2.7)	003
No	1 [Reference]	<.001	1 [Reference]	.003
Obesity				
Yes	1.3 (1.0-1.7)	02	1.7 (1.2-2.4)	< 001
No	1 [Reference]	.02	1 [Reference]	<.001
COPD ^b				
Yes	2.7 (1.7-4.2)	< 001	4.0 (2.3 -7.1)	< 0.01
No	1 [Reference]	<.001	1 [Reference]	<.001
Asthma				
Yes	1.7 (1.1-2.6)	045	2.4 (1.5-4.0)	< 0.01
No	1 [Reference]	.015	1 [Reference]	<.001

Abbreviations: BRFSS, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; CI, confidence interval; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; OR, odds ratio.

^a ORs adjusted for demographics (sex, age group, race/ethnicity), having a personal doctor, smoking status, and heavy drinking. Significance set at P < .01.

^b Cardiovascular disease includes coronary heart disease, angina, congestive heart failure, high blood pressure, and stroke; COPD includes chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, emphysema, or chronic bronchitis.

